CHAPTER 1

THE CHICAGO RIOT
_ JuLy 27-Avcusr 2, 1919 .
/

/ Thirty-eight persons killed, g 37 injured, and about 1,000 rendered homeless
and destitute was the casualty list of the race riot which broke out in Chicago
on July 27, 1919, and swept uncontrolled through parts of the city for four
days. By August 2 it had yielded to the forces of law and order, and on
August 8 the state militia withdrew.

~7 A clash between whites and Negroes on the shore of Lake Michigan at
Twenty-ninth Street, which involved much stone-throwing and resulted in
the drowning of a Negro boy, was the beginning of the riot. A policeman’s
refusal to arrest a white man accused by Negroes of stoning the N egro boy was
an important factor in starting mob action. Within two hours the riot was
in full sway, had scored its second fatality, and was spreading throughout
the south and southwest parts of the city. Before the end came it reached
out to a section of the West Side and even invaded the “Loop,” the heart of
Chicago’s downtown business district. Of the thirty-eight killed, fifteen
were whites and twenty-three Negroes; of 537 injured, 178 ‘were whites, 342
were Negroes, and the race of seventeen was not recorded.,

In contrast with many other outbreaks of violence over racial friction
the Chicago riot was not preceded by excitement over reports of attacks on
women or of any other crimes alleged to have been committed by Negroes.

- Itis interesting to note that not one of the thirt -eight deaths was of 2 woman
or girl, and that only ten of the 537 persons injured were women or girls. .
In further contrast with other outbreaks of racial violence, the Chicago riot
was marked by no hangings or burnings,

The rioting was characterized by much activity on the part of gangs of
hoodlums, and the clashes developed from sudden and spontaneous assaults
into organized raids against life and property.

In handling the emergency and restoring order, the police were effectively
reinforced by the state militia. Help was also rendered by deputy sheriffs,
and by ex-soldiers who volunteered.

In nine of the thirty-eight cases of death, indictments for murder were
voted by the grand jury, and in the ensuing trials there were four convictions,
In fifteen other cases the coroner’s jury recommended that unknown members
of mobs be apprehended, but none of these was ever found.

The conditions underlying the Chicago riot are discussed in detajl in other
sections of this report, especially in those which deal with housing, industry,
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and racial contacts. The Commission’s inquiry concerning the facts of the
riot included a critical analysis of the 5,584 pages of the‘testimony taken by
the coroner’s jury; a study of the records of the office of the state’s attorney;
studies of the records of the Police Department, hospitals, and other institutions
with reference to injuries, and of the records of the Fire Department with -
reference to incendiary fires; and interviews with many public officials and
citizens having special knowledge of various phases of the riot. Much informa-
tion was also gained by the Commission in a series of four conferences to which
it invited the foreman of the riot grand jury, the chief and other commanding
officers of the Police Department, the state’s attorney and some of his assistants,
and officers in command of the state militia during the riot.

Background of the riot.—The Chicago riot was not the only serious outbreak
of interracial violence in the year following the war. The same summer
witnessed the riot in Washington, about a week earlier; the riot in Omaha,
about a month later; and then the week of armed conflict in a rural district
of Arkansas due to exploitation of Negro cotton producers.

Nor was the Chicago riot the first violent manifestation of race antagonism
in linois. In 1908 Springfield had been the scene of an outbreak that brought
shame to the community which boasted of having been Lincoln’s home. In
1917 East St. Louis was torn by a bitter and destructive riot which raged
for nearly a week, and was the subject of a Congressional investigation that
disclosed appalling underlying conditions.

This Commission, while making a thorough study of the Chicago riot,
has reviewed briefly, for comparative pur;.:.:, the essential facts of the
Springfield and East St. Louis riots, and of minor clashes in Chicago occurring
both before and after the riot of 1919.

™" Chicago was one of the northern cities most largely affected by the migra-

tion of Negroes from the South during the war. The Negro population

increased from 44,103 in 1910 t0 109,504 in 1920, an increase of 148 per cent.
Most of this increase came in the years 1916-19. It was principally caused
by the widening of industrial opportunities due to the entrance of northern
workers into the army and to the demand for war workers at much higher
wages than Negroes had been able to earn in the South. An added factor was
the feeling, which spread like a contagion through the South, that the great
opportunity had come to escape from what they felt to be a land of discrimina-
tion and subserviency to places where they could expect fair treatment and

. equal rights. Chicago became to the southern Negro the “top of the world.”

™~ The effect of this influx of Negroes into Chicago industries is reviewed in
another section of this report.” It is necessary to point out here only that fric-
tion in industry was less than might have been expected. There had been a.
few strikes which had given the Negro the name of “strike breaker.” But
the demand for labor was such that there were plenty of jobs to absorb all the

* Pages tnfra.
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white and Negro workers available. This condition continued even after
the end of the war and demobilization.
* In housing, however, there was a different story. Practically no new
building had been done in the city during the war, and it was a physical impos-
sibility for a doubled Negro population to live in the space occupied in 1915,
Negroes spread out of what had been known as the “ Black Belt” into neighbor-
hoods near-by which had been exclusively white. This movement, as described
in another section of this report, developed friction, so much so that in the
“invaded” neighborhoods bombs were thrown at the houses of Negroes who
had moved in, and of real estate men, white and Negro, who sold or rented
property to the newcomers. From July 1, 1917, to July 27, 1919, the day
. the riot began, twenty-four such bombs had been thrown. The police had
E\been entirely unsuccessful in finding those guilty, and were accused of making
little effort to do so.

A third phase of the situation was the increased political strength gained
by Mayor Thompson’s faction in the Republican party. Negro politicians
affiliated with this faction had been able to sway to its support a large propor-
‘tion of the voters in the ward most largely inhabited by Negroes. Negro
aldermen elected from this ward were prominent in the activities of this
faction. The part played by the Negro vote in the hard-fought partisan
struggle is indicated by the fact that in the Republican primary election on
February 25, 1919, Mayor Thompson received in this ward 12,143 votes,
while his two opponents, Olson and Merriam, received only 1,492 and 319
respectively. Mayor Thompson was re-elected on April 1, 1919, by a plurality
of 21,622 in a total vote in the city of 698,920; his vote in this ward was
15,560, to his nearest opponent’s 3,323, and was therefore large enough to control
the election. ﬁMbitterness of this factional struggle aroused resentment
against the race that had so ConSpIcHoUaLy allied 1Sl With the TROMpPEsH-sidel

As part of th& Background of the Chicago ridfjﬁfﬁgifgﬁﬁﬁggwﬁméﬁﬁfﬁ“ﬁ
hoodlums should be cited. There had been friction for years, especially along
the western boundary of the area in which the Negroes mainly live, and
attacks upon Negroes by gangs of young toughs had been particularly frequent
in the spring just Preceding the riot. They reached a climax on the night of
June 21, 1919, five weeks before the riot, when two Negroes were murdered.
Each was alone at the time and was the victim of unprovoked and particularly
brutal attack. Molestation of Negroes by hoodlums had been prevalent in
the vicinity of parks and playgrounds and at bathing-beaches.

On two occasions shortly before the riot the forewarnings of serious
racial trouble had been so pronounced that the chief of police sent several
hundred extra policemen into the territory where trouble seemed imminent.
But serious violence did not break out until Sunday afternoon, July 27, when

the clash on the lake shore at Twenty-ninth Street resulted in the drowning
of a Negro boy.
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The beginning of the riot.—Events followed so fast in the train of the drown-
ing that this tragedy may be considered as marking the beginning of the riot.
It was four o’clock Sunday afternoon, July 27, when Eugene Williams,
seventeen-year-old Negro boy, was swimming offshore at the foot of Twenty-
ninth Street. This beach was not one of those publicly maintained and
supervised for bathing, but it was much used. Although it flanks an area
thickly inhabited by Negroes, it was used by both races, access being had by
crossing the railway tracks which skirt the lake shore. The part near Twenty-
seventh Street had by tacit understanding come to be considered as reserved
for Negroes, while the whites used the part near Twenty-ninth Street. Walking
is not easy along the shore, and each race had kept pretty much to its
own part, observing, moreover, an imaginary boundary extending into the
water. N
: Williams, who had entered the water at the part used by Negroes, swam
and drifted south into the part used by the whites. Immediately before his
appearance there, white men, women, and children had been bathing in the
vicinity and were on the beach in considerable numbers. Four Negroes
walked through the group and into the water. White men summarily ordered
them off. The Negroes left, and the white people resumed their sport. But
it was not long before the Negroes were back, coming from the north with
others of their race. Then began a series of attacks and retreats, counter-
attacks, and stone-throwing. Women and children who could not escape
hid behind débris and rocks. The stone-throwing continued, first one side
gaining the advantage, then the other.

Williams, who had remained in the water during the fracas, found a
railroad tie and clung to it, stones meanwhile frequently striking the water
near him. A white boy of about the same age swam toward him. As the white
boy neared, Williams let go of the tie, took a few strokes, and went down.
The coroner’s jury rendered a verdict that he had drowned because fear of
stone-throwing kept him from shore. His body showed no stone bruises,
but rumor had it that he had actually been hit by one of the stones and
drowned as a result.

On shore guilt was immediately placed upon a certain white man by
several Negro witnesses who demanded that he be arrested by a white policeman
who was on the spot. No arrest was made.

The tragedy was sensed by the battling crowd and, awed by it, they
gathered on the beach. For an hour both whites and Negroes dived for the
boy without results. Awe gave way to excited whispers. ‘“They” said he
was stoned to death. The report circulated through the crowd that the
police officer had refused to arrest the murderer. The Negroes in the crowd
began to mass dangerously. At this crucial point the accused policeman
arrested a Negro on a white man’s complaint. Negroes mobbed the white
officer, and the riot was under way.
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One version of the quarrel which resulted in the drowning of Williams was
given by the stat2’s attorney, who declared that it arose among white and
Negro gamblers over a craps game on the shore, virtually under the protection
of the police officer on the beat.” Eyewitnesses to the stone-throwing clash
appearing before the coroner’s jury saw no gambling, but said it might have
been going on, but if so, was not visible from the water’s edge. The crowd
undoubtedly included, as the grand jury declared, “hoodlums, gamblers, and
thugs,” but it also included law-abiding citizens, white and Negro.

This charge, that the first riot clash started among gamblers who were
under the protection of the police officer, and also the charge that the police-
man refused to arrest the stone-thrower were vigorously denied by the police.
The policeman’s star was taken from him, but after a hearing before the
Civil Service Commission it was returned, thus officially vindicating him,

The two facts, the drowning and the refusal to arrest, or widely circulated
reports of such refusal, must be considered together as marking the inception
of the riot. Testimony of a captain of police shows that first reports from the
lake after the drowning indicated that the situation was calming down. White
men had shown a not altogether hostile feeling for the Negroes by assisting
in diving for the body of the boy. Furthermore a clash started on this isolated
spot could not be augmented by outsiders rushing in. There was every possi-
bility that the clash, without the further stimulus of reports of the policeman’s
conduct, would have quieted down.

Chronological story of the riot—After the drowning of Williams, it was
two hours before any further fatalities occurred. Reports of the drowning
and of the alleged conduct of the policeman spread out into the neighborhood.

The Negro crowd from the beach gathered at the foot of Twenty-ninth Street. -

As it became more and more excited, a group of officers was called by the
policeman who had been at the beach. James Crawford, a Negro, fired into
the group of officers and was himself shot and killed by a Negro policeman
who had been sent to help restore order.

During the remainder of the afternoon of July 27, many distorted rumors
circulated swiftly throughout the South Side. The Negro crowd from Twenty-
ninth Street got into action, and white men who came in contact with it were
beaten. In all, four white men were beaten, five were stabbed, and one was
shot. As the rumors spread, new crowds gathered, mobs sprang into activity
spontaneously, and gangs began to take part in the lawlessness.

Farther to the west, as darkness came on, white gangsters became active.
Negroes in white districts suffered severely at their hands. From g:00 P.M.
until 3:00 AM. twenty-seven Negroes were beaten, seven were stabbed, and
four were shot.

Few clashes occurred on Monday morning. People of both races went
to work as usual and even continued to work side by side, as customary,
without signs of violence. But as the afternoon wore on, white men and
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boys living between the Stock Yards and the “Black, Belt” sought malicious
amusement in directing mob violence against Negro worke:s returning home, '

Street-car routes, especially transfer points, were thvonged with white
people of all ages. Trolleys were pulled from wires ap i the cars brought
under the control of mob leaders. Negro passengers v.ere dragged to the
street, beaten, and kicked. The police were apparently powerless to cope |
with these numerous assaults. Four N egro men and one white assailant
were killed, and thirty Negro men were severely beaten in the street-car
clashes.

The “Black Belt” contributed its share of violence to the record of Monday
afternoon and night. Rumors of white depredations and killings were current
among the Negroes and led to acts of retaliation. An aged Italian peddler,
one Lazzeroni, was set upon by young Negro boys and stabbed to death.
Eugene Temple, white laundryman, was stabbed to death and robbed by three
Negroes. k '

A Negro mob made a demonstration outside Provident Hospital, an institu-
tion conducted by Negroes, because two injured whites who had been shooting
right and left from a hurrying automobile on State Street were taken there.
Other mobs stabbed six ‘white men, shot five others, severely beat nine more,
and killed two in addition to those named above,

Rumor had it that a white occupant of the Angelus apartment house had
shot a Negro boy from a fourth-story window. Negroes besieged the building, ;
The white tenants sought police protection, and about 100 policemen, including -
some mounted men, responded. The mob of about 1,500 Negroes demanded
the “culprit,” but the police failed to find him after a search of the building,

. A flying brick hit a policeman. There was a quick massing of the police, and
4§ a volley was fired into the Negro mob. Four N egroes were killed and many
¢ A | were injured. It is believed that had the Negroes not lost faith in the white
1 police force it is hardly likely that the Angelus riot would have occurred.

"~ At this point, Monday night, both whites and Negroes showed signs of

i

‘panic. Each race grouped by itself. Small mobs began systematically in
various neighborhoods to terrorize and kill. Gangs in the white districts
grew bolder, finally taking the offensive in raids through territory “invaded”
by Negro home seekers. Boys between sixteen and twenty-two banded
together to enjoy the excitement of the chase. A

Automobile raids were added to the rioting Monday night." Cars from
which rifle and revolver shots were fired were driven at great speed through
sections inhabited by Negroes. N egroes defended themselves by “sniping”
and volley-firing from ambush and barricade. So great was the fear of these
raiding parties that the Negroes distrusted all motor vehicles and frequently
opened fire on them without waiting to learn the intent of the occupants.
This type of warfare was kept up spasmodically all Tuesday and was resumed
with vigor Tuesday night.
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At midnight, Monday, street-car clashes ended by reason of a general
strike on the surface and elevated lines. The street-railway tie-up was com-
plete for the remainder of the week. But on Tuesday morning this was a
new source of terror for those who tried to walk to their places of employment.
Men were killed en route to their work through hostile territory. Idle men con-

gregated on the streets, and gang-rioting increased. A white gang of soldiers

and sailors in uniform, augmented by civilians, raided the “Loop,” or down-

town section of Chicago, early Tuesday, killing two Negroes and beating

.3-\/\,

and robbing several others. In the course of these activities they wantonly
destroyed property of white business men.

Gangs sprang up as far south as Sixty-third Street in Englewood and in
the section west of Wentworth Avenue near Forty-seventh Street. Premedi-
tated depredations were the order of the night. Many Negro homes in mixed
districts were attacked, and several of them were burned. Furniture was
stolen or destroyed. When raiders were driven off they would return again
and again until their designs were accomplished.

The contagion of the race war broke over the boundaries of the South
Side and spread to the Italians on the West Side. This community became
excited over a rumor, and an Italian crowd killed a Negro, Joseph Lovings.

Wednesday saw a material lessening of crime and violence. The “Black
Belt” and the district immediately west of it were still storm centers. But
the peak of the rioting had apparently passed, although the danger of fresh
outbreaks of magnitude was still imminent. Although companies of the
militia had been mobilized in nearby armories as early as Monday night,
July 28, it was not until Wednesday evening at 1o:30 that the mayor yielded
to pressure and asked for their help.

Rain on Wednesday night and Thursday drove idle people of both races
into their homes. The temperature fell, and with it the white heat of the
riot. From this time on the violence was sporadic, scattered, and meager.
The riot seemed well under control, if not actually ended.

Friday witnessed only a single reported injury. At 3:35 A.M. Saturday
incendiary fires burned forty-nine houses in the immigrant neighborhood
west of the Stock Yards. Nine hundred and forty-eight people, mostly
Lithuanians, were made homeless, and the property loss was about $250,000.
Responsibility for these fires was never fixed. The riot virtually ceased on
Saturday. For the next few days injured were reported occasionally, and by
August 8 the riot zone had settled down to normal and the militia was with-
drawn. ‘

Growth of the riot.—The riot period was thirteen days in length, from
Sunday, July 27, through Thursday, August 8, the day on which the troops
were withdrawn. Of this time, only the first seven days witnessed active
rioting. The remaining days marked the return toward normal. In the seven
active days, rioting was not continuous but intermittent, being furious for
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hours, then fairly quiescent for hours. The first three days saw the most
acute disturbance, and in this span there were three main periods: 4:00 P.M,
Sunday till 3:00 A.M. Monday; g9:00 A.M. Monday till 9:00 A.M. Tuesday;
noon Tuesday till midnight. This left two long intervals of comparative
quiet, six hours on Monday and three hours on Tuesday. On the fourth day,
Wednesday, there were scattered periods of rioting, each of a few hours’
duration. Thus Monday afternoon to Tuesday morning was the longest
stretch of active rioting in the first four days. ;
For the most part the riot was confined to the South Side of the city. ;
There were two notable exceptions, the district north and west of the south !
branch of the Chicago River and the “Loop” or downtown business district.
A few isolated clashes occurred on the North Side and on the extreme West
Side, but aside from these the area covered was that shown on the accompanying !
outline map. , |
For the purposes of discussion it is convenient to divide the riot area into ;
seven districts. The boundaries in some instances are due to the designation |
of Wentworth Avenue by the police as a boundary west of which no Negroes §
should be allowed, and east of which no whites should be allowed.
I “Black Belt.” From Twenty-second to Thirty-ninth, inclusive; Went- x
worth Avenue to the lake, exclusive of Wentworth; Thirty-ninth to (_f
Fifty-fifth, inclusive; Clark to Michigan, exclusive of Michigan.
II. Area contested by both Negroes and whites. Thirty-ninth to Fifty-fifth, |
inclusive; Michigan to the lake. i
III. Southwest Side, including the Stock Yards district; south of the Chicago:;
River to Fifty-fifth; west of Wentworth, including Wentworth.
IV. Area south of Fifty-fifth and east of Wentworth. |
V. Area south of Fifty-fifth and west of Wentworth.
VI. Area north and west of the Chicago River. 1
VII. “Loop” or business district and vicinity. .
In the district designated as the “Black Belt” about 9o per cent of the .
Negroes live. District II, the “contested area,” is that in which most of the’
bombings have occurred. Negroes are said to be “invading” this district.
Extension here instead of into District ITI, toward the Stock Yards neighbor- |
hood, may be explained partly by the hostility which the Irish and Polish
groups to the west had often shown to Negroes. The white hoodlum element
of the Stock Yards district, designated as ITI, was characterized by the state’s
attorney of Cook County, when he remarked that more bank robbers, pay-roll |
bandits, automobile bandits, highwaymen, and strong-arm crooks come from
this particular district than from any other that has come to his notice during
seven years of service as chief prosecuting official.* :
In District IV and V, south of Fifty-fifth Street, Negroes live in small
communities surrounded by white people or are scattered through white!

* Carl Sandburg, Tke Chicago Race Riots, chap. i, p. 1. Harcourt, Brace & Howe.
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neighborhoods.  District VI has a large Italian population. District VII is
Chicago’s wholesale and retail center.
On only one day of the riot were all these districts involved in the race
warfare. This was Tuesday. On Sunday Districts I, III, and IV suffered
‘ clashes; on Monday all but District VI were involved; on Tuesday the entire
area was affected; on Wednesday District VII was not included, and District
VI witnessed only one clash; on Thursday District IV was again normal, and
Districts IL, V, and VII were comparatively quiet; during the remainder of
the week only the first three districts named were active.
' The worst clashes were in Districts I and ITT, and of those reported injured,
34 per cent received their wounds in the “Black Belt,” District I, and 41
pper cent on the Southwest Side, in the district including the Stock Yards,
District IIL.

Factors contributing to the subsidence of the riot were the natural
reaction from the tension, efforts of police and citizens to curb the rioters, the
* entrance of the militia on Wednesday, and last, but perhaps not least, a heavy
rain.

The longest period of violence without noticeable lull was 0:00 A.M, Monda}?
to 9:00 AM. Tuesday. On Tuesday the feeling was most intense, as shown
by the nature of the clashes. Arson was prevalent on Tuesday for the first '
time, and the property loss was considerable. But judging by the only definite -

e index, the number of dead and injured, Monday exceeded T uesday in violence,

. showing 229 injured and eighteen dead as against 139 injured and eleven

" - dead on the latter day. While it is apparent that no single hour or even day

can be called the peak of the riot, the height of violence clearly falls within
- the two-day period Monday, July 28, and Tuesday, July 29. -
The change in the nature of the clashes day by day showed an increase

+ . In intensity of feeling and greater boldness in action. This development

reached its peak on Tuesday. Later came a decline, sporadic outbursts
succeeding sustained activity. —
Faclors influencing growth of the riot.—After the attacks had stopped,
about 3:00 A.M. Monday, they did not again assume serious proportions until
Monday afternoon, when workers began to return to their homes, and idle
men gathered in the streets in greater numbers than during working hours.
The Stock Yards laborers are dismissed for the day in shifts. Negroes coming
from the Yards at the 3:00 2.M., 4:00 .M, and later shifts were met by white
- gangs armed with bats and clubs. On Tuesday morning men going to work,
both Negro and white, were attacked. N
The main areas of violence were thoroughfares and natural highways
between the job and the home. On the South Side 76 per cent of all the
injuries occurred on such streets. The most turbulent corners were those on
State Street between Thirty-first and Thirty-ninth, on Cottage Grove Avenue
at,Sixty-third Street, on Halsted Street, at Thirty-fifth and Forty-seventh
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streets and on Archer Avenue at Thirty-fifth Street. Injuries at these spots
were distributed as follows:*

State Street—

Injuries Deaths

at Thirty-first. ..........o. i, i

between Thirty-first and Thirty-fifth. .. ........... 2

at Thirty-fifth. ................. ..o aL, 9

between Thirty-fifth and Thirty-ninth............. 19

at Thirty-minth. ................................ 3
Cottage Grove Avenue—

at Sixty-third Street............................. 8
Halsted Street—

at Thirty-fifth. ................................. 8

at Forty-seventh. .............................. 5
Archer Avenue—

at Thirty-fifth Street............................ Vi
Streets which suffered most from rioting were—

State. .t 61

Thirty-ffth. . ......... ... 50 5

Forty-seventh.................................. 32 2

Halsted........ooovi i 32

Thirty-first. ... ..voet i e e 20 1

The street-car situation had an effect upon the riot both before the strike
and after it. Because of a shortage of labor at the time, the surface-street-car
company had put on a number of inexperienced men. This may account
for the inefficiency of some crews in handling attacked cars. :

An example is the case of f Henry Goodman who was killed in an attack on;
a Thirty-ninth Stréet car. The car was stopped at Union Avenue by a trucki
suspiciously stalled across the tracks. White men boarded the car and beat;
and chased six or eight Negro passengers. When asked under oath to whom*
the truck directly in front of him belonged and what color it was, the motorman;
replied, “I couldn’t say.” When asked what time his car left the end of the
line and whether or not he had seen any Negroes hit on the car, he answered,i
“I didn’t pay any attention.” The motorman said he made a report of the
case, but it could not be found by anyone in the street-car company’s office;
The conductor of this car had been given orders to warn Negroes that there
was rioting in the district through which the car ran. He did not do this.
He ignored the truck. No names of witnesses were secured. The motorman
was an extra man and had run on that route only during the day of the attack.:

In the case of John Mills, a Negro who was killed as he fled from a Forty-
seventh Street car, the motorman left the car while Negroes were being beaten

* Thirty-first, Thirty-fifth, and Thirty-ninth streets are chosen for special notice because
these are transfer points for north and south cars to east and west lines. The ﬁgures given

are for the first three days of the riot only. Other days showed too few i injuries to allow
accurate conclusions.
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inside it. Neither motorman nor conductor took names of witnesses or
attempted to fix a description of the assailants in mind. :

When B. F. Ha:dxbgﬁﬂﬁg;o,mas-kiﬂedwanmamsueeua;jt Forty-six
Street and Cottage Grove Avenue, the motorman and conductor offered no
resistance and did not get names or descriptions.

The testimony of the conductor and motorman on a car attacked at
Thirty-eight Street and Ashland Avenue was clear and showed an attempt to
get all information possible. They secured names of witnesses. One member
of the crew had been in the service of the Chicago Surface Lines for ten years,
and the other for twelve years.

The tie-up of the street railways affected the riot situation by forcing
laborers to walk, making them more liable to assault in the hostile districts,
by keeping many workers from jobs, turning out on the streets hundreds of
idle men, and by increasing the use of automobiles. 5

Tuesday morning two white men were killed while walking to work through V¥ ks
the 153&‘9»a}'lfg_,"?f{}q_fﬂqﬂggmﬁgﬂ@mkﬂledwwhile,going,fchl?mu;hfchaWhitc area. {; ‘
Curiosity Ted the idle to the riot zone. One such was asked on the witness| | !
stand why he went. “What was I there for? Because I walked there—my] |
own bad luck. I was curious to see how they did it, that is all.”
Under cover of legitimate use gangs used motor vehicles for raiding. .
Witnesses of rioting near Ogden Park said trucks unloaded passengers on
Racine Avenue, facilitating the formation of a mob. On Halsted Street
crowds of young men rode in trucks shouting they were out to “get the niggers.”
An automobile load of young men headed off Heywood Thomas, Negro, and
shot him, at Taylor and Halsted streets, as he was walking home from work.
Beside daily routine and the street-car situation, the weather undoubtedly
had an influence-inthe Progress of the riot. [July 27 was_hot, g6. degrees, or °
folirteen points --aboj{e_‘por’xilal. It was the culmination of a series of days
with high temperatures around g5 degrees, which meant that nerves were
strained. / The warm weather of Sunday, Monday, and Tuesday also kept .
crowds on the streets and sitting on doorsteps until late at night. Innocent !
people trying to keep cool were injured when automobiles raced through the !,
streets, the occupants firing to right and left. Wednesday night and Thursday

it rained. Cool weather followed for the rest of the week. -

Gangs and “athletic clubs.”’—Gangs and their activities were an important CA
factor throughout the riot. But for them it is doubtful if the riot would have %
gone beyond the first clash. Both organized gangs and those which sprang '
into existence because of the opportunity afforded seized upon the excuse L
of the first conflict to engage in lawless acts. §

It was no new thing for youthful white and Negro groups to come to !
violence. For years, as the sections of this report dealing with antecedent ;
clashes and with recreation show, there had been clashes over baseball grounds,

swimming-pools in the parks, the right to walk on certain streets, etc.

-~
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:
.1 Gangs whose activities figured so prominently in the riot were all Whit(%
féangs, or “athletic clubs.” Negro hoodlums do not appear to form organizeg;

| gangs so readily. Judges of the municipal court said that there are no gang,
-brganizations among Negroes to compare with those found among young whites,
; . The Stock Yards district, just west of the main Negro area, is the hom:‘
! of many of these white gangs and clubs; it is designated as District ITI in the
.,{ ‘discussion of the riot growth. The state’s attorney, as already indicatei%
! i (see p. 8), referred to the many young offenders who come from this particula;fg
‘district. A police detective sergeant who investigated the riot cases in thig
tédistrict said of this section, “It is a pretty tough neighborhood to try to gef
‘any information out there; you can’t do it.” A policeman on the beat in

f‘z
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tthe district said, “There is the Canaryville bunch in there and the Hamburg
bunch. It is a pretty tough hole in there.” E |

There was much evidence and talk of the political “pull” and even leader;;f
ship of these gangs with reference to their activities in the riot. A member
of “Ragen’s Colts” just after the riot passed the word that the “ coppers ’f
from downtown were looking for club members, but that “there need be n
fear of the coppers from the station at the Yards for they were all fixed and told
to lay off on club members.” During the riot he claimed they were well
protected by always having a “cop” ride in one of the automobiles so every:
thing would be “O.K.” in case members of the gang were picked up. Another
member of the club said he had been “tipped off by the police at the Yards
to clean out and keep away from the usual hangouts because investigators
were working out of Hoyne’s and out of Brundage’s offices, and were checkinéf
up on the activities of the ‘Ragen’s’ during the riot.”

The foreman of the August grand jury which investigated the riot cases
said in testifying before the Commission: i

The lead we got to investigate the Forty-seventh Street district was from a'%
anonymous letter stating that Ragen had such influence in the Forty-seventh Street
police station that these individuals were allowed to go without due process of layz§

I didn’t believe that was a fact in this particular instance. We did learn that
Ragen was a great power in that district and at the time of our investigation wf
learned that some of the “Ragen’s Colts” had broken into the police station and!
pried open a door of a closet where they had a good deal of evidence in the nature of
weapons of prisoners concealed, and they got all of this evidence out of there without

“

the police knowing anything about it. }
The station referred to is at Forty-seventh and Halsted streets. Gangg
operated for hours up and down Forty-seventh Street, Wells, Princeton, Shields%
and Wentworth avenues and Federal Street without hindrance from the polict’{:%
A judge of the municipal court said in testimony before the Commission?
““They seemed to think they had a sort of protection which entitled them to
go out and assault anybody. When the race riots occurred it gave them
" something to satiate the desire to inflict their evil propensities on others.”

Sn B
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Besides shouting as they rode down the streets in trucks that they were
out to “get the niggers,” they defied the law in other ways. When the militia
men came on the scene on the fourth day of the riot, they testified to trouble
with these gangsters. One of the colonels testified before the Commission:
#They didn’t like to be controlled. They would load up heavy trucks with
rowdies and try to force through the lines. They’d come tooting their horns
and having back pressure explosions like gatling guns.”

Some of the ‘““athletic club” gangsters had criminal records. L— W—
was accused of being one of the leaders of the gang around Forty-seventh and
Wells streets. He himself said boastfully, “I have been arrested about
fifteen times for ‘disorderly’ and never was arrested with a knife or a gun.”
Several witnesses said they had seen him during the riot one night leading
the mob and brandishing a razor and the next night waving a gun. He was
not arrested. D— H—, seventeen years old, was identified as being active
in the rioting near Forty-seventh Street and Forrestville Avenue. His defense
was that he was not closer to the Negro assaulted than across the street, but
because he was arrested the year before for a “stick-up”’ people looked ““funny”
at him when anything happened. R— C— was accused of having been
implicated in the arson cases on Shields Avenue. When his mother was
interviewed, she said she knew nothing of the rioting, but said her son was at
the time in the county jail, “but not for that.” W— G— was identified
many times as having taken part in the arson on Wentworth Avenue. He was
indicted for both arson and conspiracy to riot. Two years before the riot he
had been arrested for larceny.

L
s

All who discussed gangs before the Commission said that most of the|” g‘;\\
members were boys of seventeen to twenty-two years of age. Witnesses ,)% N
before the coroner’s juries testified to the youth of the participants in mobs. {f 1

it

Many of the active assailants of street cars were boys. In the case of the Negro § it
Hardy who was killed on a street car, it was said that the murderers were i¥
not over twenty years, and many were nearer sixteen. In the raids in the %
Ogden Park district the participants were between the ages of fifteen and
twenty. The raid just west of Wentworth Avenue, where a number of houses
were much damaged, was perpetrated by boys of these ages. The attacking
mob on Forty-third Street near Forrestville Avenue, was led by boys of eighteen
to twenty-one. The only two hoodlums caught participating in the outrages
in the “Loop,” the downtown business district, were seventeen and about
twenty-one. Most of those arrested on suspicion in the arson cases were °
taken before the boys’ court. Negroes involved in many cases as assailants
were also youthful. The young Negro boys who killed Lazzeroni were fourteen
to eighteen; those who killed Pareko and Perel were about sixteen.

Amember of “Ragen’s Colts” is said to have boasted that their territory ex-
tended from Cottage Grove Avenue to Ashland Avenue and from Forty-third
Street to Sixty-third Street. At Sixty-third Street and Cottage Grove Avenue

5
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where there were nine houses occupied by Negroes. At 8:30 Tuesday evenin:
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they were said to have attacked a colored man in a restaurant and thrown
out of the window. It was reported that trucks of a downtown store, eag}
carrying about thirty men, yelling that they were “Ragen’s Colts” and th
“Ragen’s bunch” were going to clean out the community, came to Sixti
Street and Racine Avenue. Some of the boys who took part in the assay]
upon Negroes at Sixtieth and Ada streets were reputed to be members
“Ragen’s Colts.” The club, according to some of its own members, operate]
with automobiles from which they managed to “bump off a number of Nigger
A truck driver said he had driven some “Ragen’s Colts” to Forty-sevent}|
and Halsted streets, where they “‘dropped” four or five people, then he droyg]
them back to the “Ragen’s Colts” clubhouse at Fifty-second and Halst
streets. ““And,” he says, ““ they had plenty of guns and ammunition.”  Stat
Attorney Hoyne, however, said that no evidence could be found that “Ragen
Colts”” had a store of arms. - Members of the Illinois Reserve Militia reported
that they had been threatened by “Ragen’s Colts” that they would be pick
off one by one when they got off duty.

One of the most serious cases of rioting in which members of “Ragenf;
Colts” were reported to be implicated was the raid upon Shields Avenu§%§

200 or 300 gangsters started at one corner and worked through the blo
throwing furniture out of windows and setting fires. A white man who owne
a house on this street which he rented to Negroes says that after the raj
several young men warned him, “If you open your mouth against ‘Ragen’s
we will not only burn your house down but we will ‘do’ you.” ;

The Lorraine Club, according to five witnesses, was also implicated i
arson and raids upon homes of Negroes. Their operations, according to reports.
were on Forty-seventh Street and on Wells Street and Wentworth Avenye
between Forty-seventh and Forty-eighth streets. N egroes were chasec!J
guns were fired, windows broken, front doors smashed in, furniture destroyed
and finally homes were burned. All Negro families were driven out. Thféi;?
attack was planned, and news of its imminence spread abroad in the morning
Rioting started in the afternoon of July 29, and culminated late that nig
There was no interference from the police at any time. It was said that o
of the leaders of the gang who had an express and coal yard carried aw:

Negro woman during the afternoon. They are reported to have attacked
undertaker and friends who came to remove the body of a dead Negro. Thre
of the rioters were arrested upon the identification of several people, but two
were released in the municipal court, and the third had 3 “no bill”’ return
before the grand jury. One was released because no witnesses were prese
to prosecute him. The witnesses said they were not notified.
A member of the Lorraine Club denied that his club had anything

do with this riot, but said it was Our Flag Club that did the “dirty work
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©Our Flag (Club is located farther east on Forty-seventh Street near Union
‘Avenue. ‘W'hen Jobn Mills was dragged from a street car at this point and
killed, a policeman recognized several of the club’s members in the crowd,
put vouchsafed the opinion that they were not part of the aggressive mob,
«for they did not run as did the others when the patrol came down the street.”
Another policeman said he had never had any trouble with the club. l
Eight members of the Sparklers’ Club were seen at the fire at 5919 Went-
worth Avenue, a building in which two Negro families lived. The arson is
reported to have been planned in a neighboring cigar store. One of the boys
ut waste soaked in gasoline under the porch and ran. Two of them threw
oil in the building and two others lit it. It took three attempts to make a
fire at this place. Each time it was started the Fire Department put it out.
Two of the boys are declared to have stolen phonograph records and silverware
from the house. A lad not a member of the club was with them at the fire.
Afterward one of the boys warned him, “Watch your dice and be careful or
you won’t see your home any more.” Six boys were held for arson, in connec-
tion with this affair; one was discharged in the boys’ court, and the cases of
two others were nolle prossed. In connection with their arrest the Chicago
Tribune of August 15, 1919, said: \
Evidence that organized bands of white youths have been making a business o\f\
burning Negro dwellings was said to have been handed to Attorney General Brundage
and Assistant State’s Attorney Irwin Walker, . . . . Chief of Police Garrity, also/

informed of the Fire Marshal’s charges, declared several so-called athletic clubs i
the Stock Yards district may lose their charters as a result.

A report about the Aylward Club was to the effect that as the Negroes
came from the Stock Yards on Monday, a gang of its members armed with
clubs was waiting for them and that each singled out a Negro and beat him,
the police looking on.

The names of a number of gang ringleaders were reported by investigators.!

For illustration, L. Dennis, a Negro of 6o59 Throop Street, was atta,ckedg ;\‘ “;\'4
on the night of Monday, July 28, by a mob led by three roughs whose names;
were learned and whose loafing place was at Sixty-third Street and Racine§
Avenue. A mob of thirty white men who shot Francis Green, Negro, eighteen
years old, at Garfield Boulevard and State Street had a club headquarters in
the vicinity of Fifty-fourth Street and their “hangout” was at the corner of
Garfield Boulevard and State Street.

Other clubs mentioned in riot testimony before the coroner’s jury, but
Dot in connection with riot clashes, are the Pine Club, ithe Hamburgers, the
Emeralds, the White Club, Favis Grey’s, and the Ma?ﬁEwer. The police
closed the clubs for a period of several months after the riot. There were then
in existence a number of Negro gambling clubs, and the state’s attorney
declared that it was the colored gamblers who “started this shooting and

tearing around town,” and that “as soon as they heard the news that the boy

N~
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A saloon-keeper near Wabash Avenue and F ifty-fifth Street, one of :
leaders of these colored gamblers, was identified by a white woman as bé
in an automobile with five other Negroes exhorting colored men to riot af
the drowning of Williams. The next day he was arrested in an automo
with other colored men who were said to be shooting into the homes of wh
people. They were arrested but were discharged by Judge Barasa at 1
Stock Yards court.

Police raids were made on some of the “Black Belt” clubs on August:
At the Ranier Club, 3oro South State Street, two revolvers, one r
one “black-jack,” seven cartridges, one cattle knife, and one ordinary
were found. At the Pioneer Club, 3 512 South State Street, eight guns, fou
packages of cartridges and twenty-four knives were taken. A raid at
South State Street netted four guns, one hunting-knife, and fifty-eight cartrid;
and bullets.

The foreman of the grand jury which investigated the riots discussing
“athletic” and “social” clubs before the Commission, said:

Most of them were closed immediately after the riots. There were “Ragen
Colts,” as they were known, concerning whom the grand jury were particularly anxi
to get something concrete, although no evidence was presented that convictet] af
of the members of that club. There were the Hamburgers, another athletic
the Lotus Club, the Mayflower, and various clubs. These were white clubs.

Asked if they really were athletic clubs, he replied:

I think they are athletic only with their fists and brass knuckles and guns.
had Mr. Ragen before the grand jury, and he told us of the noble work that
were doing in the district, that Father Brian, who had charge of these boys, tat
them to box and how to build themselves up physically, and they were doing a
noble work, and you would think that Ragen was a public benefactor. During
deliberations of this grand jury a number of anonymous letters were written
reference to “Ragen’s Colts,” and most of the explanations of the fact that {]
failed to put their names on these letters were that they were afraid they would’
their lives. ’

The grand jury included in its report this reference to the gang and &
phase of the riot: :

"The authorities employed to enforce the law should thoroughly investigate cf
and other organizations posing as athletic and social clubs which really are org
tions of hoodlums and criminals formed for the purpose of furthering the inter
local politics. In the opinion of this jury many of the crimes committed in 4
“Black Belt” by whites and the fires that were started back of the Yards, whi
however, were credited to the N egroes, were more than likely the work of the ga
operating on the Southwest Side under the guise of these clubs, and the jury beli¢
. that these fires were started for the purpose of Inciting race feeling by blaming sa
on the blacks. These gangs have apparently taken an active part in the race
and no arrests of their members have been made as far as this jury is aware.



SCENES FROM FIRE IN IMMIGRANT NEIGHBORHOOD “BACK OF THE YARDS”




'NEGROES UNDER PROTECTION OF POLICE LEAVING WRECKED HOUSE
IN RIOT ZONE
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The coroner’s jury which conducted inquests into the thirty-eight riot
Jeaths said:

. The suggestion has also been made that race hatred and tendency to race rioting
;]ad its birth and was fostered in the numerous social and athletic clubs made up of
E;young men and scattered throughout the city. We doubt this, but if in part true, it}
izalls for the inspection and control of such clubs. These clubs are here, they a.re‘
jpoplﬂar: they take the place of the disappearing saloon and poolroom. Properlya
lgoverned and controlled, they should be encouraged and fostered and, when necessary,
;’alsclphll@d :
Hoodlums are the nucleus of a mob—the young, idle, vicious, and in many
fnstances degenerate and criminal, impatient of restraint of law, gather together, and
-when fortified by sufficient numnbers, start out on a mission of disorder, law-breaking, :
‘destruction, and murder. Mobs, white or colored, grow about a nucleus of th1s
‘haracter.

" Types of clashes.—Racial outbreaks are often characterized by hangings,
‘purnings, and mutilations, and frequently the cause given for them is a reported
%Negro attack upon a white woman. None of these features appeared in the
{Chicago riot. An attempted hanging was reported by a white detective
‘but was unsubstantiated. A report that Joseph Lovings, one of the Negroes
filled in the riot, was burned, was heralded abroad and even carried to the
Tnited States Senate, but it was false. The coroner’s physicians found no
‘burns on his body.
‘" Reports of assaults upon women were at no time mentioned or even hinted
at as a cause of the Chicago riot, but after the disorder started reports of such
crimes were published in the white and Negro press, but they had no foundation
in fact

~ Of the ten women wounded in the Chicago riot, seven were white, two were
Negroes and the race of one is unknown. All but one of these ten injuries
:appears to have been accidental. The exception was the case of Roxy Pratt,
@ Negro woman who, with her brother, was chased down Wells Street from
Forty-seventh by gangsters and was seriously wounded by a bullet. No cases
of direct attacks upon white women by Negro men were reported.

" The Commission has the record of numerous instances, principally during
the first twenty-four hours, where individuals of opposing races met, knives
‘or guns were drawn, and injury was inflicted without the element of mob
stimulus,

On Monday mobs operated in sudden, excited assaults, and attacks on
street cars provided outstanding cases, five persons being killed and many
injured. Nicholas Kleinmark, a white assailant, was stabbed to death by a
Negro named Scott, acting in self-defense. Negroes killed were Henry Good-
Tan at Thirtieth and Union streets; John Mills, on Forty-seventh Street
‘near Union; Louis Taylor at Root Street and Wentworth Avenue; and B. F.

Hardy at Forty-sixth Street and Cottage Grove Avenue. All died from
‘beatings.
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:ff and were again prevalent that night. In spite of the long period, reports ”’
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Crowds armed themselves with stones, bricks, and baseball bats ang
scanned passing street cars for Negroes. F inding them, trolleys were pulleg
off wires and entrance to the cars forced. Negroes were dragged from unde
car seats and beaten. Once off the car the chase began. If possible, the
vanguard of the mob caught the fleeing Negroes and beat them with clubs, i
the Negro outran the pursuers, stones and bricks brought him down. So%
times the chase led through back yards and over fences, but it was always shor:

Another type of race warfare was the automobile raids carried on by yourg
men crowded in cars, speeding across the dead line at Wentworth Avenyg
and the “Black Belt,” and firing at random. Crowded colored district_gf
with people sitting on front steps and in open windows, were subjected to this
menace. Strangely enough, only one person was killed in these raids, Hemy
Baker, Negro. %

Automobile raids were reported wherever colored people had establishef
themselves, in the “Black Belt,” both on the main business streets and i
the residence sections, and in the small community near Ada and Loom
streets in the vicinity of Ogden Park. ;

These raids began Monday night, continued spasmodically all day Tuesd@jf

motorcycle policemen show no white raiders arrested. One suspected raidig%

it automobile was caught on State Street Tuesday night, after collision Wlth%
: patrol wagon. One of the occupants, a white man, had on his person a=

badge and identification card of a policeman assigned to the Twenty-fou:fjs%
Precinct. No case was worked up against him, and the other men in
machine were not heard of again in connection with the raid. ;’g‘;

Most of the police motorcycle squad was assigned to the Stanton Aveng
station, which was used as police headquarters in the “Black Belt.” Severi

automobile loads of Negroes were arrested, and firearms were found elthgg

upon their persons or in the automobile,

- In only two cases were Negroes aggressively rioting found outside of
“Black Belt.” One of these was the case of the saloon-keeper already m
tioned, and the other was that of a deputy sheriff, who, with a party of othe
men, said they were on the way to the Stack Yards to rescue some beleagueref
members of their race. It is reported that they wounded five white peo
en route. Sheriff Peters said he understood that the deputy sheriff
attacked by white mobs and fired to clear the crowd. He was not convict

“Sniping” was a form of retaliation by Negroes which grew out of th
automobile raids. These raiding automobiles were fired upon from yar
porches, and windows throughout the “Black Belt.” One of the most serious!
cases reported was at Thirty-first and State streets, where Negroes barricaded:
the streets with rubbish boxzes. Motorcycle Policeman Cheney rammed
through and was hit by a bullet. His companion officer following was knockea’

om his machine and the machine punctured with bullets.
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-, After the wounding of Policeman Cheney and Sergeant Murray, of the
éixth Precinct, policemen made a thorough search of all Negro homes near
#he scene of the “sniping.” Thirty-four Negroes were arrested. Of these,
ten were discharged, ten were found not guilty, one was given one day in jail,
-:',dne was given five days in jail, one was fined and put on probation, two were
,\ﬁﬂeﬂfﬁzo and costs, one was fined $25; six were given thirty days each in the
“House of Correction, and one, who admitted firing twice but said he was firing

it one of the automobiles, was sentenced to six months in the House of Correc. ;

‘ion. His case was taken to the appellate court.

Concerted retaliatory race action showed -itself in the Italian district

:ground Taylor and Loomis streets wheif{’rumdi‘ said that a little Italian girl

tad been killed or wounded by a shot ﬁred by 4 Negro. Joseph Lovings, an
innocent Negro, came upon the excited crowd of Italians. There was a short °
chase through back yards. Finally Lovings was dragged from his hiding- :
' in a basement and brutally murdered by the crowd. The coroner .
j;éported fourteen bullet wounds on his body, eight still having bullets in them;
glso various stab wounds, contusions of the head, and fractures of the skull, -
Rumor made the tale more hideous, saying that Lovings was burned after /

gasoline had been poured over the dead body. This was not true.
- This same massing of race against race was shown in a similar clash between
Ttalians and N egroes on the North Side. The results here, however, were not
serious. It was reported in this last case that immediately after the fracas
the Negroes and Italians were again on good terms. « This was not true in
the neighborhood of the Lovings outrage. Miss Jane Addams, of Hull-House,
which is near the scene of Lovings’ death, testified before the Commission
that before the riot the Italians held no particular animosity toward Negroes,
for those in the neighborhood were mostly from South Italy and accustomed
to the dark-skinned races, but that they were developing antipathy. In the
‘September following the riot, she said the neighborhood was still full of wild
stories so stereotyped in character that they appeared to indicate propaganda
spread for a purpose.

- The gang which operated in the “Loop” was composed partly of soldiers

and sailors in uniform; they were boys of from seventeen to twenty-two, ., .

‘out for a “rough” time and using race prejudice as a shield for robbery. At
Aimes this crowd numbered 100. Its depredations began shortly after 2:00 A,
Tuesday The La Salle Street railroad station was entered twice, and Negro

;pen were beaten and robbed. About 3:00 AM. activities were transferred

40 Wabash Avenue. In the hunt for Negroes one restaurant was wrecked
iind the vandalism was continued in another restaurant where two Negroes
were found. One was severely injured and the other was shot down. The
gangsters rolled the body into the gutter and turned the pockets inside out; they
food on the corner of Wabash Avenue and Adams Street and divided the spoils,
nly boasting later of having secured $ 52,a diamond ring,awatch,and a brooch.

-
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Attacks in the “Loop” continued as late as ten o’clock Tuesday mornin “"f‘
Negroes being chased through the streets and beaten. Warned by the Pinke
ton Detective Agency, business men with stores on Wabash Avenue came
protect their property. Therioting was reported to the police by the restaurs,
men. Policemen rescued two Negroes that morning, but so many policem
had been concentrated in and near the “Black Belt” that there were onlj
a few patrolmen in the whole “Loop” district, and these did not active
endeavor to cope with the mob. In the meantime two Negroes were killg
and others injured, while property was seriously damaged.

Tuesday’s raids marked the peak of daring during the riot, and the
subsidence was as gradual as their rise. For the next two days the gan
roamed the streets, intermittently attacking Negro homes. After Tuesday
midnight their operations were not so open or so concerted. The riot gra,duall' |
decreased in feeling and scope till the last event of a serious nature occurred
the incendiary fires back of the Stock Yards.

While there is general agreement that these fires were incendiary, no cl
could be found to the perpetrators. Negroes were suspected, as all the hous;
burned belonged to whites. In spite of this fact, and the testimony of thirtes
people who said they saw Negroes in the vicinity before or during the ﬁres i
a rumor persisted that the fires were set by white people with blackened facwjé
One of the men living in the burned district who testified to seeing a moto“f’é
truck filled with Negroes said, when asked about the color of the men, “Sure,'
I know they were colored. Of course I don’t know whether they we
painted.” An early milk-wagon driver said that he saw Negroes come ofr
of a barn on Forty-third Street and Hermitage Avenue. Immediately aftet
ward the barn burst into flames. He ran to a policeman and reported {
The policeman said he was ““too busy’ and ‘it is all right anyway.” Onet
the colonels commanding a regiment of militia said he thought white peop!
with blackened faces had set fire to the houses; he got this opinion from talking
to the police in charge of that-district.

Miss Mary McDowell, of the University of Chicago Settlement, whic
located back of the Yards, said in testimony before the Commission:

I don’t think the Negroes did burn the houses. I think the white hoodl
burned them. The Negroes weren’t back there, they stayed at home after th
Monday. When we got hold of the firemen confidentially, they said no Negro
set fire to them at all, but the newspapers said so and the people were full of feax
All kinds of mythical stories were afloat for some time.

The general superintendent of Armour & Company was asked, when test}
fying before the Commission, if he knew of any substantial reason Wh
Negroes were accused of setting fires back of the Yards. e answered:

That statement was originated in the minds of a few individuals, radicals. I,
does not exist in the minds of the conservative and thinking people of the commu_mty[,@
even those living in back of the Yards. They know better. I believe it goes vsnthou‘i;
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ying that ‘there isn’t a colored man, regardless of how little brains he’d have, who
;;‘:flould attempt to go over into the Polish district and set fire to anybody’s house
- gver there. He wouldn’t get that far.

The controlling superintendent of Swift & Company said he could not say it

from his own experience, but he understood there was as much friction between

’ﬂ;e/Péles and Lithuanians who worked together in the Yards as between the
Negroes and the whites. The homes burned belonged to Lithuanians. The
grand jury stated in its report: “The jury believes that these fires were started
for the purpose of inciting race feeling by blaming same on the blacks.”

The methods of attack used by Negroes and whites during the riot differed; !
the Negroes usually clung to individual attack and the whites to mob action.
Negroes used chiefly firearms and knives, and the whites used their fists,
bricks, stones, baseball bats, pieces of iron, hammers. Among the white men,
69 per cent were shot or stabbed and 31 per cent were beaten; among the
Negroes almost the reverse was true, 35 per cent being shot and stabbed and
65 per cent beaten. A colonel in charge of a regiment of militia on riot duty
says they found few whites but many Negroes armed.

Arms and ammunition.—The foregoing figures and statements gave some
color to the belief persistent during and after the riot that Negroes had stores
of arms and ammunition. A lieutenant of police testified before the coroner’s
jury that he had known in advance that the riot was coming because “there
were guns in every house out there; I knew they were there for a purpose.”
He said he had heard that Negroes had been advised to arm themselves and
defend their homes, that the Constitution of the United States provided for
that. The state’s attorney said before the Commission that prior to the
riot he had received reports from detectives of private agencies stating the same
thing. He was informed that Negroes readily got firearms from Gary, Indiana,
and that porters on the Pullman trains brought them in from outside places.
He further stated: “I am very definitely assured of the fact that they were
arming and that there were more arms and weapons grouped in that general
district loosely termed the ‘Black Belt’ than any place else, and my informa-
tion is that conditions are that way now.”’

During the riot there were frequent rumors that Negroes had broken into
the Eighth Regiment Armory for guns and ammunition, but all these rumors
were proved false.

Since the riot many tales have been told of stores of arms brought in by
Pullman porters and by white prostitutes. Mexicans were reported to be

 assisting Negroes in the manufacture of bombs and hand grenades. Lists of
addresses where ammunition was being stored have been gathered by detec-
tives, but not verified. .

The same sort of rumors are found circulating among the Negroes in regard
to the arming of whites. It is said that such and such white men have great
boxes of guns and amihunition in the cellars of their homes, and that white
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- Closely aiding and abetting them were 300 or 400 others. After the Negn
" had been forced off the car and were being hunted through the neighborh
‘ a crowd of about 2,000 gathered and followed the vanguard of atta

* laboring-man who left a widow and eight children.

% of all ages; they included tradesmen, craftsmen, salesmen, laborers.
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men are forming shooting clubs for the purpose of attacking Negroes i
event of another riot. 'There are also widely believed stories that a departm;
store sold guns to white people before the riot but refused to sell to Negroe
was said that pawn shops sold to white people without permits from the polj
Crowds and mobs.—It may be observed that a crowd is merely a gathe
of people while a mob is a crowd with its attention so strongly fixed upon s
lawless purpose that other purposes are inhibited and it acts along th
of the one purpose. During the riot many crowds of curiosity seekers
transformed into vicious mobs when exciting rumors circulated and the sy,
tion of vengeance was made by leaders. Such suggestion was frequ
accompanied by some daring act, stimulated by the excitement.
The mob in its entirety usually did not participate actively. It w.
in spirit, but divided in performance into a small active nucleus and a-
proportion of spectators. The nucleus was composed of young men;
sixteen to twenty-one or twenty-two years of age. Sometimes only four
be active while fifty or 150 looked on, but at times the proportion would
great as twenty-five in zoo or fifty in goo. Fifty is the largest number rep
for a mob nucleus. This was in the case of John Mills and five other Ne;
who were beaten, dragged off a Forty-seventh Street car and chased,
being killed. Here there were three degrees of crowd formation. Plrst
‘ the nucleus of fifty active men who did the beating, chasing, and k

and spectators. These were present out of morbid curiosity, but sufficiet
imbued with the spirit of the mob not to interfere with the outrages.
The fact that children were frequently a part of mobs is one of the tho
provoking facts of the Chicago riot. Psychologists say that impressions.
upon the child mind are forces which mold adult character to a great ex
A number of children, some not more than four or five years old, swa
in front of the Forty-seventh Street car in the John Mills case and effec
blocked it while men climbed aboard and sought out the Negroes. Chil
often witnesses of mob brutality, ran to where Negro victims had falle
pointed them out to the policemen who came up after the mobs had disp
There were others, still children in mind, Negro boys of fifteen, ac
of murders. The enormity of their acts faded in the joy of describing
weapons. “Fat had a club; it looked like a police club,” said one, “i
leather on it.” “And the gun had a little picture of an owl on the side ¢
said another describing a patched-up weapon that brought down a

Among the spectators of mob violence were men, women, and ch

% the spectators did not commit the crimes, they must share the moral res 0
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pility. Without the spectators mob violence would probably have stopped
short of murder in many cases. An example of the behavior of the active
pucleus when out of sight of the spectators bears this out. George Carr,
‘Negro, was chased from a street car. e outstripped all but the vanguard
of the mob by climbing fences and hiding in a back yard. This concealed
‘him from the rest of the crowd, who by that time were chasing other Negroes.
The young men who followed Carr left him without striking a blow, upon his
mere request for clemency. In regard to the large non-active elements in

the crowds, the coroner said during the inquest, “It is just the swelling of §
crowds of that kind that urges them on, because they naturally feel that they §
are backed up by the balance of the crowd, which may not be true, but they
feel that way.” Juror Ware said, “If sightseers were lending their aid and 1

assistance—"’ Juror Dillon interrupted and finished, “‘they ought to be
punished.”

Often the “sightseers’”” and even those included in the nucleus did not know
why they had taken part in crimes the viciousness of which was not apparent
to them until afterward. A mere attempt to cover up participation would
have called forth excuses in testimony, but their answers show irritation at
the questioning, an inability to appreciate the situation, or complete bewilder-
ment. These excerpts from the testimony before the coroner’s jury are
examples:

Henry Woodman, in the mob at Sixtieth and Ada streets: “I don’t know.
I didn’t have any grudge against them [the Negroes]. But they [the mob]
seemed to have it in for the colored people. That is all.”

Edward Klose, in the mob in front of 1021 South State Street: “I followed
the crowd, and I was in there because I was in there; they all bunched around
and what could I do?”

One of the boys in the mob at Forty-third Street and Forrestville Avenue:
%1 just wanted to see how things were getting along. We wanted to see
what the riot looked like.”

Another of this same crowd: “I was following the rest. I wanted to see
what they were going to do.”

Another from the same mob: “When they started to grab them [the
Negroes] in the lot, I rushed over directly to the conflict, by the colored men,
thinking I would see more on that side.”

Mobs got under way for the commission of atrocities by having the direct
suggestion put to them by one of the leaders. With minds already prepared
by rumors circulating wherever crowds gathered, it was easy to arouse action.
‘A street car approaching and the cry, “Get the niggers!” was enough.
Prompt action clinched the idea, and the emotion of the attack narrowed the
field of consciousness. War cries aided in keeping emotion at fever heat.
“Get the nigger!” “Kill the black of a ——!"” “Kill him!” These
‘were always an incident of mob action.
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Counter-suggestion was not tolerated when the mob was rampant, A
suggestion of clemency was shouted down with the derisive epithet, “Niggeﬁf
lover!” Silenced objectors made no further effort to thwart mob actio,,gl
There are no records of such persons notifying the police or persisting in theif?
remonstrances. Those whose objections took the form of action againsé%:
the mob met with violence. A white man, an instructor in music at the
University of Chicago, saw several white men attack a Negro who was Waitinté
for a street car at Sixty-third Street and Cottage Grove Avenue. Without
trying verbal remonstrance he struck out at them. His glasses were knocke(ff
off, and he was thrown into the middle of the street and left unconscious,

Not only did action once under way make interference hazardous, but it
brought into the mob circle a greater number of participants and increased
its energy. Five men jerked a trolley from the wires; ten men boarded the
car; twenty-five men chased and beat the routed Negroes. The mob action
grew faster than the increase in’numbers. Ideas suggested by individua}
members were quickly carried out in the action of all. The mob as a wholg
and the individuals in it increased in fury, and a normal street crowd wag
often turned from peaceful assemblage to brutal murder. o

A sharp diversion of attention sometimes caused the dispersal of mobs:
An unexpected revolver shot was the most effective means of such diversion;
Here are some instances: :

When Thomas Joshua, a Negro boy, was shot by Police Lieutenant Day,
a throng of Negroes came on the run from State Street. The officers, terrified;
escaped in a taxi, leaving their own automobile behind. The mob attempted,
to make this car suffer vicariously for the escaped police officers. Other
policemen on the scene had difficulty in holding them back. Two shots were
heard on Federal Street. Immediately the crowd ceased its clamoring, left:
the automobile, and apparently lost all thought of Lieutenant Day and ram
to Federal Street.

In the first mob of the riot, that at Twenty-ninth Street and Cottage
Grove Avenue, Negroes and policemen were struggling in a mass in the middlef

. of the street. A shot was fired by James Crawford, and the mob dispersed:
from that corner. ,

A mob chased a Negro off a street car on Thirty-ninth Street near Wak

{ lace. A policeman with presence of mind followed the group into the alley;
{ fired a few shots in the air, and the crowd ran.
| In no case where an unexpected shot was fired did it fail to scatter the mob;
f but shooting which was part of the mob’s own action did not seem to have

7

The course of one riotous mob can be traced in the activities of a certain
group of five white boys who linked up with the riot excitement. They met:
\ at the corner’of Sixty-third Street and Ingleside Avenue at 8: 30 Monday even-
3 ing. While they were trying to decide which movie to attend, a taxi driver
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srmed them of a riot at Forty-seventh Street. They took the “L”’ to Forty-
enth Street and joined the mob. From then until 2:00 A.M. they were
sve in mobs which assaulted Negroes at several points. Two were beaten
orty-seventh Street and the elevated railway. The mob then proceeded
ifty-first Street, but the police drove it back and it moved on to Indiana
enue and Forty-third Street, where a deputy sheriff held it off. Returning
e later it attacked a street car, beat a Negro, and then moved south on
iana Avenue, jerking trolleys from wires and assaulting passengers. At
orty-fifth Street a shot fired by a police sergeant scattered it toward Forty-
ird Street.

‘There the mob met Lieutenant Washington, a Negro ex-soldier, who, with
¢ Negro companions, was obliged to walk across town because car service
d been discontinued on account of the notmg . Lieutenant Washington,
tifying before the coroner’s jury, gave this account of the affair:

After we crossed Grand Boulevard I heard a yell, “One, two, three, four, five,
” and then they gave a loud cheer and said, “Everybody, let’s get the niggers!
t’s get the niggers,” and we noticed some of them crossed the street and walked
wup even with us. 'The rest of them were about.ten. Qor fifteen feet north . . there
ere about between four and six men . . . . crossed’the street and got in front of

. . . just before we got to Forrestville Avenue, about twenty yards, they swarmed
on us.

After this attack, in which Lieutenant Browning was shot, and Clarence
etz, a white boy, was killed by a stab wound inflicted by Lieutenant Washing-
n in self-defense, the mob moved on to Grand Boulevard, preceded by the
or that it intended to attack the homes of Negroes. A shot from a house
sorazed a white lad, and the crowd went on, leaving the police to come and
rest the Negroes who had fired.

2% Mob action in planned attacks was more daring, but not more dangerous.
obbery was occasionally an accompaniment of spontaneous attack, but arson
ever. Whether or not some of the organized raids could readily have been
opped by the police, and the mobs dispersed, remains unproved. No
tftempt ‘was made either in the “Loop” district, in the Forty-seventh and
ells streets districts or in the Sixty-ninth and Elizabeth streets district to
the depredations.

{ Rumor. —Rumor was often the first step in crowd formatlon and often
ened the way for the sharp transformation of a crowd into a mob. The
Sulation of rumors was partly due to natural repetition, often with increasing
ishment, by one person to another of what he had heard or read. The
 tell a “‘big story” and create a sensation was no doubt an important |
With so much bitter feeling there was also considerable conscious j
ort to provoke vengeful animosity by telling the worst that the teller had
{deard or could imagine about the doings of the opposite race. The latter !
pe of rumor circulation especially fed the riot from the beginning to the i{

!
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final clash. It continues to be a constant menace to the friendly relationg
of the races.
Newspapers were often supplied a source of rumor material through
istake in fundamental facts, due either to misinformation or exaggeration.
; In considering the newspaper handling of riot news, it should be borne j
L ind that the task was most difficult during a period of such excitement
and such crowding of events. Further it must be considered that white
porters might very justifiably avoid the risk of seeking news wher
owds of Negroes had been roused to a high pitch of resentment againg
hites. There were doubtless instances in which news was secured from
ources ordinarily trustworthy, but inaccurate during the riot. On the other'i
1and, it must be recognized that in a time of such excitement the effect of:
éensatlonal news on the popular mind is generally accentuated, and the respongi.
Elhty for careful handling of news is correspondingly greater. Where biss
as pronounced as in a race riot it is of the utmost importance that essentis
€ facts be stated correctly.

TABLE I .

Numser oF INJURED AS
REPORTED BY THE
“TRIBUNE” AND “HERALD-
EXAMINER" DURING THE

Facts as Later OBTAINED PROM
PoLICE, STATE'S ATTORNEY,
Hosprral, REPORTS, AND OLIVET

Date Firsr F(}){‘:gTDAYS oF Bapmist %ﬁg D ASOVMG :

‘White | Negro | Total | White | Negro jUnknown| Total

JUIy 27. oo e i e e T 29 19 48 10 31 5 46
Juy 28. . i 64 6o | 124 71 | 152 6 | 229
July 29 .o 62 72 | 134 55 8o 4 | 139
July 30, e 40 21 61 20 20 2 83
Total. oo e 195 | 172 | 367 | 156 | 283 17 | 436
Percentageof total. . ............. 53 47 | 100 34 62 4 | 100

Reports of numbers of dead and injured tended to produce a feeling that
the score must be evened up on the basis of “an eye for an eye,” a Negr
for a white, or vice versa. A most unfortunate impression may be made upon
an excited public, Negro and white, by such erroneous reporting as the follow-
ing, in which newspapers, although they understated rather than exaggerated
the number of injuries, reported that 6 per cent more whites were injured
than Negroes, when the fact was that 28 per cent more Negroes were injureﬂ"'
than whites. ,

The Tribune of July 29 in a news item said that before 3:00 A.M., July 29,
twenty persons had been killed, of whom thirteen were white and seven colored.
The truth was that of twenty killed, seven were white and thirteen colored.” -

1 Figures compiled from police reports, state’s attomey reports, hospital reports, and
Olivet Baptist Church reports.
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The Daily News of July 29 gave the starting-point of the riot as the Angelus

ash, referring to it as “the center of the trouble.” The same item mentioned
the spread to the Stock Yards district. The fact was that the assault upon
‘street cars in the Stock Vards district Monday afternoon and rumors of
further brutalities there helped to start the Angelus riot Monday evening.
* The Tribune of July 30 stated that “the Black Belt continues to be the
center of conflict.” Up to July 3o the “Black Belt” had witnessed 120
injuries, while the district west of Wentworth Avenue had had 139. For the
entire riot period the “Black Belt” furnished 34 per cent of the total number
of injuries, and the district west of Wentworth Avenue 41 per cent.

Exaggeration in news reports, when popular excitement is at a high pitch,
is peculiarly dangerous. For the very reason that the essential fact seems

_authenticated by the simultaneous appearance of the gist of the report in
several papers, the individual reader is the more inclined to believe such
" exaggerations as may appear in his favorite journal. '

Cases of exaggeration could be adduced from every Chicago newspaper,
‘but a typical one is the report in the Chicago Daily News of July 29 concerning

the killing of Harold Brignadello, white. This item said:
" Four women and nine men are held at the South Clark Street Station after their
. arrest at 1021 South State Street, where they had a formidable arsenal.

Harry Signadell [sic], 35, white, died on the way to St. Luke’s Hospital shortly
pefore noon after his bullet-riddled body had been picked up by the police in front of
1021 South State Street, where a colored woman and 2o other Negroes had barricaded
“themselves and were shooting at all whites who passed the place.

Other persons arrested included Ka,te/El/der, 26 years old, who gave her home as

the State Street address. In all, four women and nine men were made prisoners at
"“the raid on the place which was found ,t"o be an arsenal for the Negro rioters. Two

revolvers, two rifles, an axe, several knives, and several hundred rounds of ammuni-
tion, including 38 and 48 [sic] calibre cartridges, were discovered piled up near the
" window from which the Negroes had been shooting. :

Patrolman John Hayes, of the South Clark Street Station, heard the shots fired
by the Negroes who were firing from the house and saw the spurts of fire from their
rifles and revolvers whenever whites ventured to pass the place. An unknown white
man, a victim of the Negroes’ bullets, was found lying on the sidewalk. He was
rushed to St. Luke’s Hospital where he died.

The facts of this case, as reported by the coroner’s jury are as follows:

. ... Harold Brignadello . . . . came to his death on the 2¢th day of July,
AD. 1919, at St. Luke’s Hospital from shock and hemorrhage due to a bullet wound
in the chest cavity.

[Note.—a bullet wound,” not “bullet-riddled.”]

) We find the deceased while standing at the southwest corner of State and Tay-
lor. ... was shot and wounded by a bullet fired from the revolver held in the hand
of one Emma Jackson who was standing at an open window on the second floor of
the premises at roz1 South State Street.

1 Testimony before the coroner’s jury.
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Testimony shows that just prior to the shooting, said premises had been stoneg
by a mob of white men.

We, the jury, recommend that the said Emma Jackson, said Kate Elder, saiq
John Webb, said Ed. Robinson, and said Clarence Jones be held to the grand jury
upon a charge of murder until discharged by due process of law. :

[Nore—Two women and three men, not “four women and nine men,” nor yet
¢4 colored woman and 2o other Negroes.” They were indicted by the grand jury
but found not guilty.]

We believe from the evidence that the police have sufficient information as to the
identity of some of said white men to warrant arrest, and we recommend such action

be taken.

[Nore.—No arrests of men in the white mob were made.]

The testimony further showed that there were 150 white men in the moh
grouped in front of 1021, and four of the men were stoning the house at the
time Emma Jackson fired into their midst. '

Only one gun was found and no stores of ammunition, instead of “3
formidable arsenal,” or a “barricade” or “an arsenal for Negro rioters,” or
«two revolvers, two rifles, an axe, several knives, and several hundred rounds
of ammunition, including 38 and 48 [sic] calibre cartridges . . . . piled uwp
near the window from which the Negroes had been shooting.” The one gun
was hidden in a niche in the skylight.

Following are examples of rumors current during the riot and disseminated
by the press and by word of mouth, grouped on the basis of the emotions
which they aroused—vengeful animosity, fear, anger, and horror:

Daily News, July 3o. Subheadline: “Alderman Jos. McDonough Tells
| How He Was Shot at on South Side Visit. Says Enough Ammunition in
Section to Last for Years of Guerrilla Warfare”:

[Nore.—The reference in the headline to the large amount of ammunition

is repeated in the text, but not elaborated or explained.]

An alderman in an account of his adventures says the Mayor contemplates open-
ing up 35th and 47th streets in order that colored people might get to their work. He
thinks this would be most unwise for, he states, “They are armed and the white
people are not. We must defend ourselves if the city authorities won’t protect us.”
Continuing his story, he describes bombs going off, “I saw white men and women
running through the streets dragging children by the hands and carrying babies ia
their arms. Frightened white men told me the police captains had just rushed
through the district crying, ‘For God’s sake, arm. They are coming, we cannot
hold them.””

The point here is not whether the alderman was correctly quoted, but the
effect on the public of such statements attributed to him. There is no record
in any of the riot testimony in the coroner’s office or in the state’s attorney’s
office of any bombs exploded during the riot, nor of police captains warning
white people to arm, nor of any fear on the part of whites of a Negro invasion.
In the Berger Odman case before the coroner’s jury there is a statement that
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Jolice sergeant warned the Negroes of Ogden Park to arm and to shoot at

feet of rioters if they attempted to invade the few blocks marked off for

egroes by the police.

. Herald-Examiner, July 28. Subheadline: “Negroes Have Arms”’:

A man whose name is withheld reported to the Herald-Examiner that Negroes

more than 2,000 Springfield rifles and an adequate supply of soft-nosed bullets.
. Jackson, alderman from the second ward, brands the story as untrue.

is statement is not substantiated.

. Herald-Examiner, July 29:

- Several thousand men stoned the old Eighth Regiment Armory in the heart of
#he riot zone, doors were burst in, and hundreds of guns with ammunition taken by
e mob. Police rushed to the scene firing into the mob and finally drove it from the
ory. According to reports more than 5o persons were shot or otherwise injured.

Refutation of this statement is found in the testimony of Police Captain
ullen before the coroner’s jury in the Eugene Williams case:

I received a rumor that the soldiers [referring to Negro soldiers of the Eighth
egiment} had gone over to the armory for the sole purpose of breaking in and getting
es. I dispatched two patrol wagons full of men; after arriving there, we found
t they had been there and broke some windows, but they found out there were
weapons in there. )

Another type of fear-provoking rumor current in street crowds reported the
rce and the aggressive plans of the opposing race. Some of these rumors, cur-
zent among Negro crowds, were to the effect that a white mob was gathering on
Wentworth Avenue ready to break into the “Black Belt”; that a white mob
was waiting to break through at Sixtieth and Ada streets; that a white mob
wa,s ready to advance upon Twenty-seventh and Dearborn streets. The first
if these rumors had its effect upon the inception of the Angelus riot, and the
téecond so aroused the fears of Negroes that when a white mob led by young
{vﬁ:hite boys did step over the “dead-line” boundaries established by the police,
%uns were immediately turned upon them, and one of the invaders was killed.
Rﬂf the third rumor, Police Lieutenant Burns said:

. an old colored man came to me . . . . and said that the colored people on
Pearborn Street in the 2800 block were moving out in fear of a white mob coming
fom across the tracks from across Wentworth Avenue. . . . . On the southwest
immer of Twenty-eighth and Dearborn I found a number of colored men standing in
dront of a building there. They had pieces of brick and stone in their pockets and
ere peering around the corner west on Twenty-eighth Street apparently in great fear.

Among the whites fear was not so prevalent. A fear-producing rumor
Was revealed, however, in the examination of two deputy sheriffs who fired
on a Negro. The deputies had heard that Negroes were going to burn up
or blow up factories in the district which they were patrolling. When a dark
form was seen in an alley, panic seized both deputies, and they emptied their
Tevolvers at an innocent Negro who lived in the adjoining house.
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Chief among the anger-provoking rumors were tales of injury done 4
women of the race circulating the rumor. The similarity of the stories an(f'g
their persistence shows extraordinary credulity on the part of the public. Foi
the most horrible of these rumors, telling of the brutal killing of a woman ang;
baby (sometimes the story is told of a Negro woman, sometimes of a White)
there was no foundation in fact. The story was circulated not only by the
newspapers of both races, but was current always in the crowds on the stree
Here is the story as told in the white press:

Chicago Tribune, July 29:

There is an account of “two desperate revolver battles fought by the police with:
colored men alleged to have killed two white women and a white child.” ;
It is reported that policemen saw two Negroes knock down a woman and child
and kick them. The Negroes ran before the police could reach them. :

Herald-Examiner, July 29:

Two white women, one of them with a baby in her arms, were attacked ang
wounded by Negro mobs firing on street cars. . . . .

A colored woman with a baby in her arms was reported at the Deering Police
Station, according to this item, to have been attacked by a mob of more than 100 whitg.
men. When the mob finally fled before the approach of a squad of police both the,
woman and child were lying in the street beaten to death, ““it is said.”

Daily News, July 29: :
Another man is held at the Stock Vards station charged with the murder of 'é;::
white woman in West 47th Street and Wentworth. . . . .
The Negroes, four in number, were arrested at Fast 3oth and Cottage Grove
Avenue, this afternoon by the detective. They are believed to be the ones who.
seriously wounded Mrs. Margaret Kelley, white woman, at W. 47th and Wentworth,,

She was shot in the back and may die. The names of those under arrest were no!ié
given out.

[NoTE—“Murder” changed to “ seriously injured” in the main story. Mrs
Mary Kelly was shot in the arm according to the police report and not in the back]

The men arrested fof-the shooting were Henry Harris and Scott Brown,
deputy sheriffs, and four others according to the records of the state’s attorney.
Sheriff Peters says of the case, that Harris was charged with shooting someone,
but when the case came up the charge was dropped. Sheriff Peters was cons
vinced that Harris was innocent. Ty

Daily News, July 29. Headline, given place of first importance in the
pink section: “Women Shot as Riots Grow.” Columns 7 and 8 of first-page
white section are headed, “ Attack White Women as Race Riots Grow. Death’
Roster Is 30.” 3

The item reads: “Race rioters began to attack white women this afternoon
according to report received at the Detective Bureau and the Stock Yards
Police Station.” The article continues, that Swift & Company had not
received any such reports of attacks on their women employees. But farther
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& the item gives an account of a Swift & Company truck filled with girl
ployees fired upon by Negroes at Forty-seventh Street and the Panhandle
oad. The driver was reported killed and several of the girls injured.
_The juxtaposition of “Death roster is 307 and “Attack white women”
es a wrong impression. The “geveral girls injured” at Forty-seventh
eet evidently refers to the case of Mrs. Mary Kelly. The records of the
te's attorney’s office also show that Josephine Mansfield was supposed to
fave been wounded by Harris, ef al., but the charge was dropped. She was
ounded in the shoulder, according to the police report.
- Doily News, July 30:
Alderman McDonough described a raid into the white district the night before
a carload of colored men who passed Thirty-fifth Street and Wallace “shouting
d shooting.” The gunmen shot down a woman and a little boy who stood close by.
[Nore.—No record of such a case.]

. Here is the “injury done to women”’ story as it appeared in the Negro press:

Chicago Defender, August 2:

An unidentified young woman and three-months-old baby were found dead on
{he street at the intersection of Forty-seventh and Wentworth. She had attempted
o board a car there when the mob seized her, beat her, slashed her body to ribbons,
“znd beat the baby’s brains out against a telegraph pole. Not satisfied with this one
Hioter severed her breasts and a white youngster bore it aloft on a pole triumphantly
while the crowd hooted gleefully. The whole time this was happening several police-

men were in the crowd but did not make any attempt to make a rescue until too late.

Concerning all of these stories it may be stated that the coroner had no
cases of deaths of women and children brought hefore him. There was nothing
in the police reports or the files of the state’s attorney or hospital reports or
the reports of Olivet Baptist Church, which would give any foundation for
reports of the killing of a woman and child, white or Negro.

" There were other rumors which had the same anger-producing effect as
reports of attacks on women. A notable case of this kind was the fatal clash
at the Angelus, an apartment house for white people at Thirty-fifth Street
.and Wabash Avenue, on Monday, July 28 (see p. 6). The trouble here
grew from four o’clock in the afternoon until it culminated in the shooting
‘at 8:00 p.u.  The excitement was stimulated by the rapid spread of various
qumors. It was said that a white mob was gathering at Thirty-fifth Street
-and Wentworth Avenue, only a few blocks from the colored mob which was
ma.ssed on Thirty-fifth Street from State Street to Wabash Avenue. The
umor was that the white men are armed and prepared to “clean up the
“Black Belt.”” Another rumor had it that a Negro’s sister had been killed
‘while coming home from the Stock Yards where she worked. Finally came
ithe rumor that a white person had fired a shot from the Angelus building,
Wwounding a colored boy. Therumor quickly went through the crowd swarming
-around the building, but no one heard or saw the shooting. A search of the
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building disclosed no firearms. Police Sergeant Middleton, Negro, descrih,
the situation as “everybody trying to tell you something and you coul
get anything.” Another Negro policeman said it was “just a rumor
went around through the crowd and everybody was saying, ‘He shot fy
that window’; I would go to that window and the crowd would say, ‘Thg;
the window over there.””

"The anger-provoking power of rumor was seen in the ensuing clash. Aboyt

1,500 Negroes massed on one corner of Thirty-fifth Street and Wabash Aveuﬁ
and about 1oo policemen grouped themselves at the intersection of the tWo
streets. At the sight of a brick flying from the Negro mob the police fireq a
volley into the midst of the mob. More shots came quickly from both sides,
Four Negroes were killed, and many were injured, among both the Negres
and the police.

The Angelus rumor appeared as follows in a Negro newspaper, the Chzca,go
Defender, August 2: “White occupants of the Angelus apartments began
firing shots and throwing missiles from their windows. One man was shet
through the head but before his name could be secured he was spirited away,”,

In the case of Joseph Lovings, 2 Negro killed by an Italian mob, pres
reports that were entirely false tended strongly to provoke the anger of Negro:
mobs. For example:

Herald-Examiner, July 30: “He had been shot, stabbed and gasoline haf
been thrown on his body which had been set afire. The police extinguished
the fire and took the body to the County Morgue.” :

Tribune, July 30: “This report says that he was stabbed and shot sixteer:
times, then his body saturated with gasoline and set afire.”

The coroner’s jury in commenting on this rumor said: “It gives us sa
faction to say that this rumor, from our investigation, is false and uns
stantiated.” :

Among the horror rumors one finds such examples as the story of the whi
man who stood at the entrance to Exchange Avenue and knocked down h
a dozen Negroes as they came by. This was current in the Stock Yards
was told by one of the workers at the inquest on the body of William Dozi
Negro, killed in the Yards. Another rumor had it that a Negro wo
nicknamed ‘“Heavy” had partly slashed off the head of a white man. Thi
was picked up by a detective circulating among white people living in the;
“Black Belt.”

But chief among horror rumors was the Bubbly Creek rumor, which took
this form in the press: .

Daily News, July 29. Subheadline: “Four Bodies in Bubbly Creek
The article does not give details but says, “Bodies of four colored men w
taken today from Bubbly Creek in the Stock Yards district, it is reported.”

This was one of the most persistent rumors of the riot, and intelligent m
were found repeating it in half-credulous tones. A meat curer, talking in th@%
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. erintendent’s office of Swift & Company, said: “Well, T hear they did
éﬁ}ag two or three out of Bubbly Creek. . . . . Dead bodies, that is the report
that came to the Yards, but personally I never got any positive evidence that
ere was any people who was found there.”

A juror on the coroner’s panel said: “A man told a friend of mine—I can
furnish the name of that man—a man told him that he saw fifty-six bodies
en out of Bubbly Creek. They made a statement they used a net and seine
drag them out.”

Mr. Williams, Negro attorney, said he was told that the bodies of 100
egroes had been found in Bubbly Creek.

In its final report, the coroner’s jury made this conclusive statement
egarding the Bubbly Creek rumor:

Bubbly Creek has been the favorite cemetery for the undiscovered dead, and our
quiry has been partly directed to that stream. In our inquiry we have been assisted
y the Stock Yards officials and workers, by adjacent property owners and residents,
:by private detective bureaus, the Police Department, Department of Health, State’s
ttorney ’s office, by observing and intelligent colored citizens, and by other agencies,
s:and we are firmly of the opinion that these reports, so widely circulated, are erroneous,
misleading, and without foundation in fact, the race riot victims numbering thirty-
f'.;éight, and no more, nor are there any colored citizens reported to us as missing.

Rumor, fermenting in mobs, prepares the mob mind for the direct suggestion
‘impelling otherwise law-abiding citizens to atrocities. Another more insidious
and potentially more dangerous result is the slow accumulation of feeling which

“builds between the white and Negro the strongest barrier of race prejudice.

Police.—There has been much criticism of the manner in which the riot
~was handled by the authorities, but it may be pointed out that the riot was

“not quelled until at least four groups of peace guardians had taken part in
‘handling it. The two most important groups were the police and the militia;
_the others were composed of deputy sheriffs and Negro ex-soldiers.

Testimony before the coroner’s jury and in hearings before this Commission
“throws considerable light on the actions of the Police Department as a whole
~during the riot, its methods in meeting the unusual situation, and on the
~conduct of individual policemen. First-hand information and opinion was
obtained from W and State’s Attorney Hoyne.

- The police had two severe handicaps at the outset of the rioting. The first,
as declared by Chief Garrity, was lack of sufficient numbers adequately to
<ope with the situation. The coroner’s jury found that “the police force
‘should be enlarged. It is too small to cope with the needs of Chicago.” The
‘grand jury added: “The police force is also inadequate in numbers, and
+at least one thousand (z,000) officers should be added to the existing force,”
This number approximates the need urged by Chief Garrity, who, when
‘asked before the Commission as to the sufficiency of his force, answered:
“No. I haven’t sufficient force. I haven’t got a sufficient force now to,
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properly police the city of Chicago by one-third.” Militia officers and-¢
police officials held the same general opinion.

The second handicap, distrust of white policemen by all Negroes,
implied and not admitted by Chief Garrity, was frankly explained by S
Attorney Hoyne. He said before the Commission: “There is no doubt
great many police officers were grossly unfair in making arrests. They
their eyes to offenses committed by white men while they were very vig
in getting all the colored men they could get.”

' Leaders among the Negroes clearly indicate that discrimination in
v’f‘was a principal cause of widespread and long-standing distrust. Whi
. justified or not, this feeling was actual and bitter. This distrust had :
;serlously during the six months preceding the riot because no arrests
i made in bombing cases. State’s Attorney Hoyne said before the commi
“I don’t know of a single case where the police have apprehended
man who has blown up a house.”

Charles S. Duke, a well-educated and fair-minded Negro, gave his re
to the bombings when he said that he did not “believe a Negro would
been allowed to go unpunished five minutes.” Mrs. Clarke, Negro, sa
house was bombed three times, once while a plain-clothes policeman was
waiting for bombers, but no arrests were made. One suspect was put 1

eillance but was not he/l% '

The trial of the three Negro policemen before the Merit Commit
fthe Police Department because they refused to use the “ Jim Crow” sleep:
quarters in a police station doubtless added to race feeling, particular]
view of the publicity it received in the “Black Belt.”

Negro distrust of the police increased among the Negroes durin
period of the riot. With each clash a new cause for suspicion seem

spring up. The most striking instance occurred on the first afternoon
Policeman Callahan refused to arrest the white man whom the Negto-
accused of causing the drowning of Williams, the Negro boy. This ¢
has been called the beginning of the riot because it led to mob violence of
iconsequences. However that may have been, the fact remains tha
refusal was heralded broadcast by the Negroes as the kind of actio
might expect from the police.

Typical of the minor tales which laid the foundation for the N
bitterness toward this white policeman are the following:

1. Kin Lumpkin, Negro, was beaten by a mob on the “L” platfo
Forty-seventh Street, as he was going home from work. The poli
;arrested Lumpkin and had him booked for rioting. No other arrests
made Lumpkin was held from July 28 to August 1.
' 2. Two policemen, one of them Officer McCarty of the Twenty:
Precinct, witnessed the beating of Wellington Dunmore, Negro, o
South Campbell Avenue, but, according to the victim, refused to assis
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s 3. John Slovall and brother, Negroes, were beaten and robbed by w.;vhites
?m sight of a white policeman. No arrests were made. The officer did not
“even call for aid.

. 4. Whilelooking for his mother at Thirty-first and State streets on Tuesday,
f].uly 29, Wm. F. Thornton, Negro, 3207 South Park Avenue, asked a policeman
o take him home. The officer took him to the police station and locked him
up. Another Negro applied for protection, but the police searched him,
clubbed him, and when he ran, the sergeant told another policeman to shoot
him. The policeman obeyed and the man fell under the “L” station. He was
picked up by the same patrol wagon that took Thornton to the Cottage
Grove Police Station. The officer, Bundy, arrested Thornton.

A report on 229 Negroes and whites accused of various criminal activities
disclosed the fact that 154 were Negroes and seventy-five were whites. The
state’s attorney reported eighty-one indictments against Negroes and forty-;
seven against whites after all riot cases were cleared up. These figures showl:
that twice as many Negroes appeared as defendants and twice as many were!
indicted as whites.

At first glance these figures indicate greater riot activity on the part of -
Negroes, and therefore one would expect to find twice as many whites injured
as Negroes. But out of a total of 520 injured persons whose race was definitely
reported, 342 were Negroes and 178 whites. The fact that twice as many
Negroes appeared as defendants and twice as many were injured as whites sug-
gests the conclusion that whites were not apprehended as readily as Negroes.

Herman M. Adler, state criminologist of Illinois, testifying before the
Commission, expressed the belief that the police showed much more readiness
to arrest Negroes than whites because the officers thought they were “taking
fewer chances if they ‘soaked’ a colored man.” -

Negro distrust of police and courts seems to have been confirmed by
the action of the state’s attorney’s office in bringing only Negro riot cases

‘before the grand jury. This body, however, took a stand for fair play and
justice for both sides, and though its action may have been novel, it was effect-
ive. In its final report, the grand jury said:

This jury has no apology to offer for its attitude with reference to requesting the
‘state’s attorney to supply it with information of crimes perpetrated by whites against
‘blacks before considering further evidence against blacks. ‘This attitude gave rise
o the reports in the press that this grand jury “had gone on a strike.” As a matter
of fact, its position was merely a suspension of hearing further cases of crimes com-
mitted by blacks against whites until the state’s attorney submitted evidence con-
‘temning the various crimes committed by whites against blacks. The reason for this
‘attitude arose from a sense of justice on the part of this jury. It is the opinion of
‘this jury that the colored people suffered more at the hands of the white hoodlums
‘than the white people suffered at the hands of the black hoodlums. N otwithstanding

this fact, the cases presented to this jury against the blacks far outnumber those
sagainst the whites,
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!

State’s Attorney Hoyne justified this action by saying that the Police
epartment brought in Negroes only, and until they arrested whites, he wag
limited to proceedings against Negroes.
The coroner’s jury on November 3, 1919, reported as follows:
Our attention was called strikingly to the fact that at the time of race rioting,
the arrests made for rioting by the police of colored rioters were far in excess of the
 arrests made of white rioters. The failure of the police to arrest impartially, at the
{ time of rioting, whether from insufficient effort or otherwise, was a mistake and hag
%.a tendency to further incite and aggravate the colored population.

This seeming discrimination in arrests naturally deepened Negro distrust
and lack of confidence in the police. Testimony was taken by the Commission
on the plans and action of the Police Department during the riot period,
since the Commission felt that the distribution of forces_and the methods
used by the department to meet such an emergency were matters of first
importance. /)

Chief of Police Garrity testified that there were 3,500 pohcemeH i the
department at the time of the riot, and that he had “ practically evéry pﬁhceman
in the city of Chicago down there,” indicating Thirty-fifth Street a0d Rhodes
Avenue as “practically in the heart of the district where the most trouble was,”
The widest distribution from that center, he said, was over an area bounded
by Lake Michigan, Ashland Avenue, Van Buren Street, and Sixty-ninth Street,

The heaviest concentration of police, however, was in the ‘“Black Belt.”
The Stanton Avenue Police Station at Thirty-hfth Street and Rhodes Avenue
is at about the center of the most congested Negro residential area. Asked
how many policemen were assigned to that vicinity (the area from Twenty-
second to Thirty-ninth streets), Chief Garrity said, ‘““We had in the neighbor-
hood of 2,800 men in that territory.” Later the chief said only “ the necessary
sergeants and one or two men at each station were held back for emergency
calls” in all other parts of the city. This means that four-fifths of the total
police force was concentrated there.

Although there is no direct testimony as to the existence of flying squadrons
of police, yet such bodies appear to have been operating. Probably the most
important of these was the patrol under Police Captain Mullen, who said
that his territory extended from Twenty-second to Thirty-ninth streets and
from the lake to the Rock Island tracks, or roughly the ““Black Belt.” Chief
Deputy Alcock® sent eighty-eight policemen into this district on Sunday
afternoon, twenty-five more at midnight, and fifty more on Monday morning.

In describing the disposition of police details, Chief Garrity said: “They
were routed by him [Alcock] according to conditions existing in different dis-
tricts. Some districts might have a hundred men in the block and in the
next block there might be only ten, according to what conditions were.”

1 Chief of Police Garrity was out of the city at the time the riot began on Sunday, but
returned on Monday. :
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Forces were moved from one point of disturbance to another by means of
patrol wagons on request of local commanders.

The 2,800 policemen in the “Black Belt” were under the command of
Chief Deputy Alcock with headquarters in the Stanton Avenue Station. He
«ysed his discretion in the number of men assigned to the different points
and the handling of them in the different territories.” I

Riot orders were given by Chief Garrity as follows: “Wherever possible
suppress the riot and restore peace”; “the second day I ordered a dead line
on Wentworth Avenue and Twenty-second Street to, I think, Sixty-third
Street”’; “instructions were that ‘you will allow no colored people to go across
to the-'west and no white people to go across to the east.”” Cabarets, saloons,
and public places were ordered closed, and all large gatherings of either whites
~ or Negroes were prohibited from Van Buren to Sixty-ninth streets and from
" Achland Avenue to the lake. The chief added, “Closing clubrooms and
everything in the district west of Wentworth Avenue as well as east of it.”’
A general policy was adopted of search and seizure of persons suspected of
carrying weapons on the street, and of houses from which firing came. Captain
Mullen testified before the coroner’s jury at the Eugene Williams inquest
that on July 29 Chief Deputy Alcock lined up the policemen in front of the’
Stanton Avenue Station and gave them their orders. They were told to
“preserve the peace; that was all.”

Police records of clashes were incomplete and often inaccurate. This
was in part due, and naturally so, to the stress of the moment. In many
cases the station lists of injured were far from complete and in few instances
were the names of witnesses given. Even the dates and hours of clashes were
loosely recorded. Persons arrested were frequently not booked at all, while
on the other hand it was not uncommon to find innocent persons charged
with serious offenses. Henry Scholz, policeman of the T'wenty-sixth Precinct,
threw much light on police records while being examined in connection with
certain automobile arrests:

They were all discharged, booked for “disorderly,” because we couldn’t find
the guns in the mix-up. It was the first or second day down there and they were
bringing them in right and left, and I suppose in the mixz-up they mislaid the guns,
or put them away somewhere, or booked them to someone else. We held them
about a week trying to find the guns and trying to find the officers that got the guns.

It is important to know how the distribution and routing of police affected
the general riot situation. As already shown four-fifths of the police forces
were concentrated in the “Black Belt.” This undoubtedly both weakened
police forces elsewhere and also prevented or delayed reinforcements in outside _
districts. Only 34 per cent of the total number of reported injuries occurred
in the area of concentration. Negro hatred of the police is worth mentioning
again here, especially since many of the deaths and injuries occurred dunng
clashes between w]:ute policemen and Negro mobs.
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That other districts where danger existed were poorly protected is shoy
by the fact that fatal clashes occurred there without interruption by
police. The most conspicuous case is noted in the “Loop” atrocities on Jul
29, where two Negroes, Hardwick and Williams, were killed, several Werh
injured and robbed, and business property of whites was damaged. A poh‘ii
sergeant said that only three officers and one sergeant were in the dlstnct»;
on the mght of July 28-29. In the Stock Yards district, where 41 per cgnty
of the i injiries a; Ties and several deaths occurred, there is no record of an attempt by
“the police to increase the riot forces. In this district gang raids by Whlt%,
, were practically beyond control. On ,Ll 28 B. F. Hardy, a Negro, was
killed at Forty-sixth Street and Céttage Grove Avenue. Sergeant Ciancy-:'
later testified that there were no policemen in this district until after the:
trouble. The foreman of the grand jury investigated the activities of th
Deering Street Station under Police Captain Gallery. He says: “They
didn’t have a sufficient number of policemen to handle the situation. If
remember correctly, he had eight patrolmen covering a district of any IluInbe:
of square miles.”

In spite of the concentration of police in the “Black Belt” some parts of:
that area seem at times not to have been properly guarded. Several serious:
clashes occurred there after the police arrived in force. Theodore Cophng,
Negro, was shot to death at Thirtieth and State streets in the heart of the
“Black Belt” on July 3z0. This had been a riotous corner for three days,
yet no policemen were at hand. - The nearest was a detective sergeant on
Twenty-ninth Street between Federal and State streets. Samudﬁ%
Negro, was shot and killed near the corner of Twenty-seventh and.Dearborn:
streets on July 30 at 1i:00 .M., yet Lieutenant Burns, in charge of this district,

testified at the inquest that twelve to fourteen officers were at Twenty-seventh
and Dearborn streets immediately before the shooting.

It was undoubtedly the relatively large number of clashes which the
police were unable to prevent that led the coroner’s jury to recommend that
“(6) there should be organization of the force for riot work for the purpose
of controlling rioting in its incipient stages.”

The conduct of individual policemen received much adverse criticism from.
the Negroes. This was to be expected in the circumstances, but disregarding:
the general prejudice of which white officers were accused, certain cases of
discrimination, abuse, brutality, indifference, and neglect on the part of
individuals are deserving of examination. ,

Abusive and brutal treatment was complained of by Horace Jennings,
3422 South Aberdeen Street. He reported to the state’s attorney’s office that:
Policeman G—, of the Grand Crossing Station, approached him, as he lay
wounded by a mob attack, with the words, “Where’s your gun, you black
——of a ——7 You damn niggers are raising hell”’; that the officer hit him
on the head, and he did not regain consciousness until some time later in the



THE CHICAGO RIOT 39

side Hospital; and he further charged that Gallagher took a purse contain-
$13 when he searched him.
Three Negroes were rescued by the police from a white mob of twenty-five
rthirty men. Scott, one of the Negroes, was taken from the street car on which
three were riding, by the command of a pohceman to “come out of there’
you big rusty brute, you. I ought to shoot you,” and was given a blow of
“ihe head. According to a witness he was again struck by the pohceman
“as he was pushed into the patrol wagon. He was subjected to rough treatment;
“at the jail and was kept incommunicado from July 28 to August 4, not bemg
ipemntted to notify his wife or an attorney. None of the twenty-five or
ﬂm-ty white rioters was arrested. There was some evidence of fear on thé
part of the police to arrest rioting whites.

Fear by policemen of Negroes is also disclosed. George Crumm, white,
124 East Forty-sixth Street, informed the state’s attorney’s office that he
.was beaten by a Negro mob, got police assistance, and pointed out the rioters,
but the police “didn’t seem to want to interfere any.”

. On several occasions policemen left the scene of riots on questionable
sexcuses while the rioting was in progress. Of the three mounted policemen
.at Thirty-fifth Street and Wabash Avenue who rushed to the spot where a
;mob was attacking Otterson, two accompanied the automobile of Otterson
ito the hospital. The mob was not quelled or dispersed. When the house of
‘William O’Deneal, Negro, 4742 Wells Street, was attacked, the police took
:0'Deneal to the station and left the mob to sack and burn his house. At the’
k:llmg of William Dozier, Negro, all three police officers who responded to/
“potice of an attack by a white mob of 300 or more, left in the same patrol
‘wagon. The names of witnesses were not taken. It was the custom for a]i
‘to accompany the wagon, according to Officer McDonough.

. Political “pull” exercised with the police on behalf of rioters has been
indicated. It was noted that one of “Ragen’s Colts” said an officer of the
Stock Yards Station ““tipped them off’ to stay away from their club because
‘Attorney General Brundage’s office was out investigating them.

Indifference both to extreme lawlessness during the riot and to the procedure
of the inquest marked the examination of Captain of Police Mullen before the
.coroner’s jury. He was in command of twelve mounted men and between
$ixty-three and 100 men on foot at Thirty-fifth Street and Wabash Avenue
when a clash between the police and a Negro mob occurred. While it appears
‘tobe the fact that he left just before the heavy firing to telephone from a saloon
-one block away, yet the building he was in was struck by bullets. The follow-
‘ing excerpt from the inquest speaks for itself:

Q.: What time did the shooting take place at the building known as the
Angelus Building? What time did that occur? Was there any shooting at that
‘building ?

Mullen: Not that T heard.
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Q.: Had there been any shooting done there that evening around . : . bef
you left ? '

Mullen: Not to my knowledge.
Q.: When was the shooting done, and where were you ?
Mullen: What do you mean shooting ?

Three men were killed and many injuréd at Thirty-fifth Street and Wah:
Avenue at this time. Firing broke out near-by almost immediately.
Q.: There were some shots fired at Thirty-fifth and State, Captain, at eight ¢
night, right after the volley was fired, we have absolute evidence.
Mullen: Well, you may have, but I have not.

Yet Captain Mullen was in command of the police who killed two m;
men and inflicted other wounds when the Negroes ran before the po'
advance.

Militia.—The rapid growth of the riot both in violence and territorig
created such alarm among the authorities and the public that the question
its control became a matter of paramount concern to the community. Bef
twenty-four hours had elapsed requests were made to the local authori
for the militia. The representations were based on insufficiency of po
forces and were strongly urged before the chief of police.

Chief Garrity steadily refused to ask for troops, in spite of his repea
;Statement that the police force was insufficient. He gave as his reason
5behef that inexperienced militiamen would add to the deaths and disord
" Mayor Thompson supported the chief’s refusal until outside pressure compel
him to ask the governor for aid. On the other hand the chief deputy of pol
was quoted by State’s Attorney Hoyne as having said at the outbreak of:
riot that the police would not be able to handle the situation, and that tro
were needed. In this he was supported by Mr. Hoyne. From observa
of conditions on the first three days of the riot, the chief of staff of the troo
Colonel Ronayne, concluded that the police were insufficient in numbi
that no improvement was apparent in the general situation, and that theref
; the troops were necessary. He saw no reason, however, for putting theit

i under martial law. Other military men were of the same opinion.
’ During all of this time Governor Lowden kept in close touch wit
situation from his quarters at the Blackstone Hotel. When the riot appeat
to be subsiding he started to keep an appointment out of town but, on heaf
that there was a renewal of violence, returned to the city on a special tr
When the request was made for the active co-operation of the troops he ac
with promptness.

The troops themselves were clearly of high caliber. For the most p
they were in home service during the war and were older men than are ordi
rily found in militia organizations. They “usually came from the hig
type of business men, men of affairs, men that knew how to think,” as on
their commanding officers described them. They were all American-born.



NEGROES UNDER PROTECTION OF POLICE AND MILITIA BUYING PRO-
VISIONS BROUGHT INTO THEIR NEIGHBORHOOD IN WAGONS

THE MILITIA AND NEGROES ON FRIENDLY TERMS
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The militia discipline was of the best. Not a single case of breach of
discipline was reported to the regimental commanders. No guardhouse
was necessary during the riot, a remarkable commentary on troop conduct.

The militia had been given special drills in the suppression of riots and
insurrections for a year and a half previous to this occasion, and were, in the
estimation of their commanding officer, “probably better prepared for riot
drill than any troops ever put on duty in the state.”

The activities of the militia did not begin as early as many citizens wished.
Though troops began to mobilize in the armories on Monday night, July. 28,
they were not called to actual duty on the streets until 10: 30 2.u., Wednesday,
men called to active duty they were distributed in the areas of

ict. Between 5,000 and 6,000 troops were called out. This number was
made up entirely of white troops from the Ninth, Tenth, and Eleventh Infantry,
Ilinois National Guard, and from the First, Second, Third, and Fourth
Reserve Militia regiments of the militia. Colored troops who had composed
the Eighth Regiment were not reorganized at that time, and therefore none
participated.

Distribution of troops was determined not by the militia command but
by the police, because the city was not under martial law, the civil authority
being merely insufficient, not broken. The Third Infantry covered the
territory from Thirty-first to Thirty-eighth streets and from State to Halsted
streets; Eleventh Infantry from Thirty-ninth to Forty-seventh streets, and
from State to Halsted streets; Tenth Infantry from Forty-eighth to Fifty-fifth
streets (later extended to Sixty-third Street by details from the First Infantry),
and from Cottage Grove to Stewart avenues. The First, Fourth, and Ninth
Infantry were held in reserve. Detachments responded to calls from the chief
of police in districts outside these areas. Headquarters for the commanding
general and his chief of staff were in the Congress Hotel at the northern bound-
ary of the riot zone.

The orders under which the militia operated did not have the authority
of martial law. The purpose of the orders was to effect a thorough co-operation
with the police only,and not to take over any duties other than the preservation
of law and order. Except in this respect, civilian routine remained undisturbed.
The method of co-operation put the commanding officer of a regiment in
absolute control, within the limits above described, in his district. The
police reduced their number to normal requirements by removing their reserves
as soon as the militia moved in. The patrolmen then went about on ordinary
duties in the districts. Persons arrested by the militia were turned over to
the police.

Responsibility for the preservation of law and order rested on the regi-
mental commanders. Careful instructions were given troops for preventing
violence: they were to act as soldiers in a gentlemanly manner; they were fur-
nished with arms to enable them to perform their duties; they were to use the
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arms only when necessary; they were to use bayonet and butt in preference
to firing, but if the situation demanded shooting, they were not to hesitate
to deliver an effective fire. Above all,the formation of mobswas tobe preventeq,

The manner in which the militia was received by various elements in the
communities where stationed is illuminating. Police officers were glad that
the troops came to relieve them. Two policemen on duty with a patro]
exclaimed, when they heard the militia had come in force, “Thank God|
?We can’t stand up under this much longer!” The police at Cottage Grove
‘Avenue said, “We are tickled to death to see you fellows come in; you have
never looked so good to us before!” A regimental commander said his organi.
zation was ‘“welcomed into the zone, of course, by everybody, and I'd say
especially by the colored people.” A similar report came from another
regimental commander.

But there was some show of hostility to the troops. Hoodlums fired on
some detachments when they first came in, and Colonel Bolte reported a
hatred for the troops by ‘‘the Hamburg Athletic Club, the Ragen’s, and the
Emeralds, and a whole bunch of them over there who didn’t like to be con-
trolled!” Volunteer ex-service men with no legal status, but who aided the
police at the time, and deputy sheriffs with overseas training ridiculed the
militia with such taunts as, “Tin soldiers!”” The effect of this attitude on
the populace necessitated the arrest of some disturbers and the removal of
unauthorized persons from the streets.

It is a singular fact that militia activities were principally against gangs
of hoodlums, and the majority of these gangs were composed of white youths,
Said one commander, “ Rowdies of the white population tried to get through
the lines and had to be arrested.” ‘At one time a heavy truck or two loaded
with white gangsters attempted to break through the militia but was checked.”
Plenty of trouble “with the Ragen’s and other similar organizations” was
reported by yet another commander.

The militia unquestionably prevented mob formations, raids, and “snip-
ing.” They checked marauders still in search of prey. In many cases they
prevented the initial moves of lawlessness by taking stations at critical points
long before raiders arrived.

There was a marked contrast between the militia and the police. The
troops were under definite orders; commanders had absolute control of their
forces and knew at all times where and how many effectives were available.
Precision and promptness of movement was the rule. Reserves were always
at hand. Discipline was always good. Only one person, a white man, was
killed by the troops. Whatever other restraining causes contributed, it is
certain that the riot was not revived after the troops were posted.

Most of the troops were withdrawn on August 8.

Volunteers—Many Negro ex-service men, formerly members of the old’
Eighth Regiment (Negro) of the Illinois National Guard, donned their uni-
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forms, armed, and offered their services to the pohce and militia. The militia
on duty found that these Negro volunteers had no authority or military status
and consequently ordered them to disband, which they did.

Before the troops were called out, however, a determined effort was made
by one Britton, white police reserve, to organize ex-soldiers for volunteer
service. He said as many as thirty-five joined him. They were denied permits
to carry weapons but are reported to have done so. It was these men who
used an automobile, driven with the mufflers open, to clear the streets. %
~ Evidence of the use of liquor was noticed among these men during their
active period. Some were involved in the kﬂhng of Samuel Banks, Negro;
some in the robbery of a restaurant and in misdeeds of a minor character.
Following the implication of individuals among them in these crimes, numbers
of the ex-soldiers were arrested by the police, but were released by order of
Chief Garrity on account of the assistance many of them had rendered the
department and because of representations of busmess men who felt that
the arrests were unjust.

Deputy sheriffs.—1In addition to police, mlhtlamen and volunteers, another
group composed of specially recruited deputy sheriffs, appeared in the riot
zone as preservers of the peace. They were sworn in by Sheriff Peters, of Cook
County, after citizens had appealed to him, he said, to quell the riot. Inregard
to their formation, numbers, orders, and duties, the sheriff had this to say:

I advertised for ex-service men to serve as deputy sheriffs. A thousand or more
applied. They were all men who had returned from the war and ‘were out of work.
I hired 500 of them, kept them in the army uniforms, and instructed them to shoot
to kill any disturbers or rioters. The presence of these men and the show of authority
thereby made was effective, and the riot was quelled.

Fifteen thousand dollars was spent on this force.

It appears that these deputies came on the scene toward the end of the
riot week and at once fell into disfavor with the militia, whom they ridiculed
as “tin soldiers” in much the same manner as did the volunteers. Two regi-
mental commanders of militia said the special deputies ““did not behave in a
very pleasant manner” and “in the majority of instances were no good.”
The sheriff was notified to call them in and they soon disappeared. There is
no record of organized methods of procedure or of their activities.

Restoration of order—Long before actual hostilities ceased, and even
before the arrival of the militia, various agencies, in addition to the police,
were at work trying to hold lawlessness in check and restore order. Efforts
of citizens of both races helped greatly in bringing about peace. As long as
the rioting was in progress thousands of Negroes were cut off from their employ-
ment. The Stock Yards workers especially were affected, since Negroes
living east of Wentworth Avenue would have been forced to go to work on
foot through the district in which the worst rioting occurred. The hostilities
also cut off the food supply in the main riot areas. The dealers in the “Black
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Belt,” principally Jewish merchants, became alarmed lest temporary lagk
of funds due to the separation from work and wages should lead Negroes ¢
loot their stores.

On August 1, the various packing companies made the unpaid wages ¢
Negro employees available for them by establishing pay stations at the Chicag
Urban League at 3032 Wabash Avenue, the Wabash Avenue Young Men’
Christian Association at 3763 Wabash Avenue, the South Side Communj
Service House at 3201 South Wabash Avenue, and the Binga State Bank
Thirty-eighth and State streets. Approximately 6,000 employees were pajid
in thisway. Banks within the district made small temporary loans to stranded
persons, sometimes without security. The cashier of the Franklin Stat;
Bank at Thirty-fifth Street and Michigan Avenue said that he had m ;
loans of more than $200 to Negroes in sums of $2 and $3 on their simple promis
to pay, and that every dollar had been repaid.

All the local newspapers in their editorial columns took a vigorous stay
against disorder, urged the people to be calm and avoid crowds, and wet
insistent that those responsible for rioting should be brought to justice.
T'ribume, for example, published editorials under the following captio
“Regain Order and Keep It,” “Sane Men and Rioters,” “This Is No Holida:
“The Facts of the Riot,” and ‘““Penalties for Rioters.” All of these arti
were calm appeals for tolerance, sanity, and dispassionate inquiry for th
facts. The Eveming Americon, in an editorial entitled “This Is Chicago’
Crisis; Keep a Cool Head,” said: 3

Chicago is facing its crisis today.

In one great section of the city law and order for the time being seem to have b
flung to the four winds. White men and colored men are shooting one another do
in the streets for no earthly cause except that the color of their faces differs.

These mobs are not representative of whites or blacks. They are the hoodl
of both races. But the law abiding whites and blacks are innocent victims.

Hotheads and smoking gun barrels have almost wrested the rule from the keeper
of the peace.

It is worse than a calamity, this race rioting. It is a deadly, ghastly scourge
dire contagion that is sweeping through a community for no reason except that m
violence is contagious. :

It is up to the cool-headed men of Chicago to settle the great dificulty. Itis:
to the serious-minded business men of the city to get together and find a solution f
problem which has become so serious.

To meet violence with violence is but making matters worse. Gun toting at
time like this only adds fuel to the fire already raging.

Reason is the solution. It is mightier than the six-gun. How it is to be exert
is for the level-headed citizenry to decide, and decide at once.

Hardly an hour passes that more names are not added to the already long
slain in the South Side rioting.

There is no time to be lost. Other matters must be put aside for the mom
and a solution reached for Chicago’s greatest problem.




NEGRO STOCK YARDS WORKERS CUT OFF FROM WORK RECEIVING WAGES
Photograph taken at temporary pay station established at the Y.M.C.A. by packing companies

BUYING ICE FROM FREIGHT CAR SWITCHED INTO NEGRO RESIDENCF. ARFA
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Labor unions also took a hand in the efforts toward peace. Unionists of
§both races were exhorted to co-operate in bringing about harmonious relations,
‘and meetings for this purpose were planned by trade-union leaders, as
“described in the section of this report dealing with the Negro in industry.
‘Probably the most effective effort of union labor was the following article
‘in the New Majority, the organ of the Chicago Federation of Labor, promi-
nently displayed:

AR, .

For WaiTE UNION MEN TO READ

Let any white union worker who has ever been on strike where gunmen or machine
gun have been brought in and turned on him and his fellows search his memory and
recall how he felt. In this critical moment let every union man remember the tactics
of the boss in a strike when be tries by shooting to terronze striking workers into
violence to protect themselves.

Well, that is how the Negroes feel. They are panic-stricken over the prospect of
being killed.

A heavy responsibility rests on the white portion of the community to stop
-assault on Negroes by white men. Violence against them is not the way to solve the
vexed race problem.

This responsibility rests particularly heavy upon the white men and women of
organized labor, not because they had anything to do with starting the present
trouble, but because of their advantageous position to help end it. Right now it is
going to be decided whether the colored workers are to continue to come into the
labor movement or whether they are going to feel that they have been abandoned by
it and lose confidence in it.

It is a critical time for Chicago.

It is a critical time for organized labor.

All the influence of the unions should be exerted on the community to protect
colored fellow-workers from the unreasoning frenzy of race prejudice. Indications
of the past have been that organized labor has gone further in eliminating race hatred
than any other class. It is up against the acid test now to show whether this is so.

Various social agencies took steps to help in the emergency and restore
order. The American Red Cross has a branch at Thirty-fifth Street and
Michigan Avenue. As soon as the rioting became serious a special relief
headquarters was established here, and food was distributed to needy families
cut off from work. The Urban League was used as a headquarters for the
distribution of food.

The Urban League had for several years, through its employment bureau,
handled a large proportion of the city’s Negro labor supply and was conversant
with difficulties likely to result from the rioting. It made food surveys of
the entire Negro area, printed and distributed thousands of circulars and
dodgers urging Negroes to stay off the streets, refrain from dangerous discus-
sions of the riot, and co-operate with the police in every way to maintain order.
The League sent telegrams to the governor and mayor suggesting plans for
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curbing disorder, organized committees of citizens to aid the authorities in re.
storing order, and served as a bureau of information and medium of commy-
nication between the white and Negro groups during the worst hostilities,

The Young Men’s Christian Association was similarly active within the
area of its efforts. Religious bodies, ministers’ associations, and individug]
ministers exerted their influence over their respective groups by advis-
ing the citizens to “keep cool,” “hold their heads,” and generally to let
the authorities settle the riot. Negro business men and one Negro alder-
man sent wagons through the streets bearing large signs which advised
Negroes not to congregate on streets, engage in arguments, or partic-
pate in any way in the disorders. The signs further stated that people would
be advised when it would be safe to return to work. Other persons went about
speaking on street corners urging co-operation with the police and militia,
Appeals by officials and leading citizens were published in the white and Negro
papers, carrying similar advice. During the riot a committee of citizens
representing forty-eight social, civic, commercial, and professional organiza-
tions met at the Union League Club and petitioned the governor to take
steps to quiet the existing disorder and appoint a commission to study the
situation with a view to preventing a repetition of it. As a result of this appeal
{followed by similar urgings by many committees, the present Chicago Commis-
sion on Race Relations was appointed and began its work.

Aftermath of the riot.—After the restoration of order community activities
were superficially the same as before the riot, but under the surface there
remained a deepened bitterness of race feeling which spread far beyond the
time and territorial limits of the riot itself.

All the deep-seated causes of friction which had developed so largely
from the failure to work out an adjustment of the increased Negro population
due to the migration were and are still present, undiminished in influence.
Consciousness of racial difference and more or less unconscious fear and distrust
were increased and spread by the riot. Among the whites this was evidenced
by the general belief that Negroes were gathering stores of arms and ammuni-
tion. Among the Negroes a growing race solidarity has been marked. Thereis
a greater lack of confidence in the white man’s law and machinery of protection.
Continued bombings of Negro houses in mixed areas and failure to apprehend
the culprits no doubt strengthen this attitude.

Reports of various Negro gatherings held soon after the riot show this
to be the case. Many Negroes frankly urged their brothers that they must
arm themselves and fight if attacked. At one meeting a Negro is reported .
to have said:

The recent race riots have done at least one thing for the colored race. In the
past we Negroes bave failed to appreciate what solidarity means. We have, on the
contrary, been much divided. Since the riot we are getting together and devising
ways and means of protecting our interests. The recent race riots have convinced
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us that we must take steps to protect ourselves. Never again will we be found unpre-
pared. Itis the duty of every man here to provide himself with guns and ammunition.
1, myself, have at least one gun and at least enough ammunition to make it useful,
The riot furnished the gang and hoodlum element a chance to indulge in
" lawlessness. Fear of death and injury may help to hold that element in check.
But it cannot be argued that fear of punishment is much of a factor, for very
few convictions of rioters were secured.

Quick justice would have been a salutary means of curbing tendencies to
riot, according to both the coroner’s jury and the grand jury. The coroner’s
jury said: ““‘One remedy for race rioting is a speedy conviction and punishment
of those guilty, regardless of race or color, giving all concerned a fair and
impartial hearing.” Its eighth recommendation reads: *Above all, a strict
enforcement of the law by public officials, fair and impartial, will do more
than any other agency in restoring the good name of Chicago, and prevent
rioting from any cause from again disturbing the peace of our city.”

The August, 1919, grand jury said: ““This jury feels that in order to allay
further race prejudice and to prevent the re-enactment of shameful crimes
committed during the recent riots, efficient, prompt, and fearless justice on
the part of the judiciary be meted out to the guilty ones, whether they be white
or black.”

In a fair consideration of whether swift and impartial justice was meted
out, it must be noted that it was extremely hard to secure evidence sufficient
for successful prosecution. Police attention upon arriving at the scene of a
clash was directed more to removing the injured than apprehending the
guilty. Where attempts were made to search out the offenders, it was next
to impossible to get results on account of the keen race consciousness which
made Negroes disclaim knowledge of Negro culprits and white people deny
seeing specific white men act aggressively. Many of the crowds were neighbor-
hood gatherings and leaders were often the sons of neighbors.

In most of the riot cases brought before the state’s attorney’s office the
same difficulty was experienced. Whole blocks of residents were subpoenaed
and accurately described the assaults, but failed entirely to recognize any of
the assailants. The grand jury found the same obstacle. The foreman,
referring to the kind of testimony brought before that body by Negroes on
complaints against whites, said: *“ . . . . they [the grand jury] usually found
it to be hearsay testimony. Some other individual told them about So-and-So.
That a crime had been committted there was no question, but to get at the
root of it was absolutely impossible.”

In spite of these difficulties, those familiar with the riot situation believe
that more arrests of active rioters might have been made and more convictions
obtained. A study of the riot deaths shows that justice failed to be as swift
and sure as the coroner’s and grand juries recommended. The blame for
this failure is variously placed on the police, state’s attorney, judge, or jury,
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according to the prejudice of the one attempting to fix blame, or his connecti;
with any of these agencies. The fact remains that the punitive results ofi
legal processes were too negligible to furnish a proper deterrent to fuf
rioters.
Of the thirty-eight persons whose death constituted the riot’s prime}
toll—
Fifteen met death at the hands of mobs. The coroners’ jury recommen;
that the members of the unknown mobs be apprehended. None were
found. _
Six were killed under circumstances establishing no criminal responsibilj
three white men were killed by Negroes in self-defense, and three Negz
were shot by pohcemen in the discharge of their duty.
Four Negroes lost their lives in the Angelus riot. The coroner made
recommendations, and the cases were not carried farther.
Four cases—two Negro and two white—led to recommendations from
coroner’s jury for further investigation of certain persoms, but suﬂim
evidence was lacking for indictments.
Nine cases resulted in indictments, four of which led to convictions.
Thus in only four cases was criminal responsibility for death fixe
punishment meted out to the guilty. :
Indictments and convictions are divided according to the race of’
persons criminally involved as follows:

Nzero ‘WaITE
Cases Persons Cases Persons
Indictments*........ 6 17 3 4
Convictions. ........ 2 3 2 2

*For brief description of cases see Appendix.

There is evidence that the riot of 1919 aroused many citizens of both r:
to a quickened sense of the suffering and disgrace which had come and mf
come again to the community, and developed a determination to preven
recurrence of so disastrous an outbreak of race hatred. This was mani
as another section of this report shows, in the courage and control which peg
of both races displayed on at least two occasions in 1920 when confron
suddenly with events out of which serious riots might easily have grown.

This examination of the facts of the riot reveals certain outstand
features, as follows:

1. The riot violence was not continuous, hour by hour, but was int
mittent.

2. The greatest number of injuries occurred in the district west of
worth Avenue, inclusive of Wentworth, and south of the Chicago Rivet

e
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tv-fiftth Street, or, broadly speaking, in the Stock Yards district. The
] greatest number occurred in the so-called “Black Belt,”” Twenty-second
Thirty-ninth streets, inclusive, Wentworth to the lake, exclusive of Went-
prth; Thirty-ninth to Fifty-fifth streets, inclusive, Clark Street to Michigan
enue, exclusive of Michigan.
3. Organized raids occurred only after a period of sporadic clashes and
ntaneous mob outbreaks,
& 4. Main thoroughfares witnessed 76 per cent of the injuries on the South
@de, The streets which suffered most severely were State, Halsted, Thirtyy, -
%ist, Thirty-fifth, and Forty-seventh. Transfer corners were always centers
trouble.
5. Most of the rioting occurred after working hours. This was particularlx,
e after the street-car strike started.
6. Gangs, particularly among the young whites, formed definite nuclei for
wdand mob leadership. “Athletic clubs” supplied the leaders of many gangs.
7. Whites usually employed fists and clubs in their attacks upon Negroes;
Negroes used firearms and knives in their attacks.
8. Crowds and mobs engaged in rioting were usually composed of a small
nucleus of leaders and an acquiescing mass of spectators. The leaders were
oung men, usually between sixteen and twenty-one. Dispersal was most
iffectively accomplished by sudden, unexpected gun fire.
9. Rumor kept the crowds in an excited, potential mob state. The press
gras responsible for wide dissemination of much of the inflammatory matter
in spoken rumors, though editorials calculated to allay race hatred and help
the forces of order were factors in the restoration of peace.
% 10. The police lacked sufficient forces for handling the riot; they were
hampered by the Negroes’ distrust of them; routing orders and records were
fnot handled with proper care; certain officers were undoubtedly unsuited to
police or riot duty.
11. The personnel of the militia employed in this riot was of an unusually
high type. This unquestionably accounts for the confidence placed in them
by both races. Riot training, definite orders, and good staff work contributed
#o their efficiency.
% 12. The machinery of justice was affected by prejudices and political
Tivalries.
‘“ From their reviews of the evidence brought before them, the coroner’s
qury and the grand jury presented analyses of the riot, and each made recom-
;ﬁmdaﬁons of a remedial sort. These recommendations follow:

,é,,CORONER’s JURY RECOMMENDATIONS
| L We believe thdt a representative committee of white and colored people,
Forking together, could suggest and bring about the necessary and advisable changes.
2. In specifically attacking the housing situation: The correction of the evil by
liarging the living quarters and placing them in a better sanitary state would in
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part solve the difficulty, We believe voluntary segregatlon \)Nould follow and tg 3
considerable extent remove one cause of unrest. -

This is a matter that might well be considered by the Real Estate Board and b
improvement clubs and organizations of property owners in the South Division, and‘
by the Health Department.

3. In regard to the “athletic clubs”: Properly governed and controlled they
should be encouraged and fostered and, when necessary, disciplined.

4. Hoodlumism evokes this comment: Citizens of Chicago, make your hoodluy
element amenable to law, break up and destroy hoodlumism as you would a pestilence;
1t is our belief that this element can be brought under control of the law, and it mugt
be done if we are to remove the danger of rioting from any cause. Vicious hoodlum.
ism, entirely aside from race hatred, was present in practically all of the thirty-eight
killings, known as race riots.

5. We earnestly urge that fathers and mothers teach their children the lessoq
of remaining at home when rioting occurs, and furthermore, they should be kept
occupied, as idieness and bad association often cause young people to become bad
men and women.

6. One remedy for race rioting is a speedy conviction and punishment of those
guilty, regardless of race or color, giving all concerned a fair and impartial hearing,

v. Tolerance must be practiced between both white and colored in the discussion
of the race problem, practiced in our everyday intercourse, in public conveyances,
and in meetings of all kinds.

8. Our attention was called strikingly to the fact that at the time of race rioting
the arrests made for rioting by the police of colored rioters were far in excess of the
arrests made of white rioters. The failure of the police to arrest impartially at the
time of rioting, whether from insufficient effort or otherwise, was a mistake and hada
tendency to further incite and aggravate the colored population.

0. In cases of murder it is of the utmost importance that expert criminologists
should arrive on the scene at the earliest possible moment, and that a complete exami-
nation may be made of the scene of the murder before the body is removed or handled,
and while the necessary evidence for conviction may be obtained, which otherwise
may be lost or destroyed. 'We have found in the riot cases many instances where the
removal of bodies by inexperienced men, in some cases police officers, destroyed
valuable evidence.

‘We heartily concur with Coroner Hoffman as to the fact that Chicago badly needs
a permanent murder-investigation squad, which the coroner planned and has so
persistently advocated in the past. We believe that this squad should be equipped
with motor vehicles and subject to call at any hour of the day or night. This squad
should consist of six or more trained policemen, working in relays of eight hours, 3
photographer, a finger-print expert, a coroner’s physician and chemist, the coroner o
deputy coroner, and a state’s attorney. In addition thereto, two trained policemen
from the police department precinct wherein the murder occurred, and a representative
of the City News Bureau. This squad should be available for immediate service, and
it should be the duty of the police at the scene of the murder to allow no one to handle
the body or enter premises where murder occurred until the arrival of the squad.

10. The police force should be enlarged. It is too small to cope with the needs
of Chicago, and under the present living conditions the policeman’s pay is entirely
inadequate and should be substantially increased.
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Superannuated and incapacitated members of the police force should be retired
ander a proper and satisfactory pension system. :

There should be organization of the force for riot work, for the purpose of control-
ling rioting in its 1nc1p1exgt stages.

¥ \ "GRAND JURY RECOMMENDATIONS

1. It is reasonable to believe that the colored people, if provided with proper
housing facilities and an area sufficient in extent, would /voluntarxly segregate them-
gelves. The present neighborhood known as the ““Black Belt” could, by reasonable
public improvement, assisted by our leading public citizens, be made a decent place
to live in for a much larger population than it now accommodates. . . . . This move-
ment should enlist the financial and moral support of the industries employing large
numbers of the black race,

2. Facilities for bathing,playgrounds, police protectlon better-housing and
neighborhood condltlons, are matters deservi attention of the proper
authorities.
+-3. The employment of the colored people is imperative to the welfare of this com-
munity. Discriminating dgainst the Negro, or, in other words, failure to give him an
opportunity to make an honest livelihood after having induced him to migrate to
this section of the country, simply adds to the already far too great number of hood-
lums that infest our city.

4. This jury feels that in order to allay further race prejudice and to prevent
the re-enactment of shameful crimes committed during the recent riots, efficient
prompt, and fearless justice on the part of the law-enforcing officers, as well as on
the part of the judiciary, be meted out to the guilty ones, whether they be white or
black.

Se v wn s There is a lack of co-operation-and harmony among the agencies of law
enforcement, which impairs their efficiency, leads to miscarriages of justice, and wastes
the public funds.

6. The parole law should be amended so that a criminal once paroled and sub-
sequently arrested may not a second time be paroled.

7. The efficiency of the police force would be further greatly increased by the
co-operation of the judiciary in refusing to grant wholesale continuances without
carefully scrutinizing the results thereof when members of the police force are required
to act as witnesses.

8. The police department is in need of a thorough house-cleaning, Ewvery officer,
no matter what his position is, who fails in his full duty should be dismissed. Graft-
ers and those who allow themselves to be dominated by political influences, who are
paid to protect the lives and property of our citizens, should be dismissed and punished
to the fullest extent of the law.

9. It is the opinion of this jury that the police force is also inadequate in numbers,
and at least one thousand (1,000) officers should be added to the existing force.

10. Policemen who have arrived at the age where their usefulness is a matter
of the past should be pensioned, notwithstanding their present number, and not-
withstanding the fact that the pension fund is already taxed to its utmost. The
needed funds for this purpose should be provided.

In .. .. payment of salaries to public officers commensurate with the increased
cost of living.
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12. The authorities employed to enforce the law should thoroughly i mvestxgate
clubs and other organizations posing as athletic and social clubs which really aré
organizations of hoodlums and criminals formed for’ the purpose of furthering the
interest of local politics. 4

13. The jury also finds that vice of all kinds is rampant in the “Black Belt,” and
a thorough cleaning up of that district is absolutely essential to the peace and welfara
of the community.

14. Political influence to a large extent is responsible for the brazenness With;
which the Chicago bum, pickpocket, and gun and hold-up man operates. It is ajg,
the opinion of the jury that the indeterminate-sentence law frequently operates in a
miscarriage of justice, and it is our opinion that the court should fix the sentence of
offenders at the time of their conviction,

15. Because of the large number of young boys involved in the rioting, the j
recommends the resumption of the activities of the Y.M.C.A., the Knights of Colyn.
bus, and Salvation Army, as well as other similar organizations. . . . .




CHAPTER II
OTHER OUTBREAKS IN ILLINOIS

I. Mmor CrasEES IN AND NEAR CHICAGO
I CLASHES IN CHICAGO PRECEDING THE RIOT OF IQIQ

The race riot of 1919 in Chicago was preceded by a long series of more
or less serious clashes between whites and Negroes. Some of these are discussed
in the section of this report dealing with contacts in recreation. Others are
here described to show the development of friction and conflict leading up to
the 1919 riot. Two brutal and unprovoked murders of Negroes by gangs
‘of white hoodlums preceded the riot by only a few weeks.

In many of the antecedent clashes a conspicuous part was played by gangs
or clubs of white boys and young men. These operations frequently showed
‘organization, and the gangsters were often armed with brass knuckles, clubs,
and revolvers.

Some of the earlier clashes, however, did not have their origin in gang
activities. For instance, it may be that the resentment by whites of the
coming of Negroes into their neighborhood inspired the crowd of boys between
twelve and sixteen years of age who, in February, 1917, stoned a four-flat
building at 456 West Forty-sixth Street. Two Negro families moved into
the two second-floor flats of this building. The next afternoon about 100
boys from nearby schools stoned the building. The two Negroes attempted
to remonstrate but were driven back. One of them reached the office of the
agent of the building, who notified the police. A patrol wagon responded,
but the boys had disappeared. After it had gone the boys reappeared and
renewed the stoning. Every window in the upper part of the building was
broken. On a second riot call Captain Caughlin and Lieutenant James
McGann and a squad of police rescued the Negroes, who shortly afterward
sought other quarters.

Detectives learned the identity of thirty of the boys, some of whom con-
fessed. With their parents they were compelled to appear at the Stock
Yards police station and pay for the damage inflicted.

- The death of a white man, wrongly thought to have been murdered by
Negroes, led to rioting on the night of July 3, 1917, in which a party of white
men in an automobile fired upon a group of Negroes at Fifty-third and Federal
Streets. Apparently no one was hit. Earlier in the evening Charles A.
Maronde, a saloon-keeper at 5161 South State Street, had been found dead
following an altercation with Negroes whose passage through his premises
bad irritated him. Two shots were fired, but it was not proved whether by
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Maronde or by the Negroes. A coroner’s jury found that he had died of
heart disease.

In July and August, 1917, there were minor outbreaks of trouble between
Negroes and naval recruits from the Great Lakes Naval Training Station,
In some instances recruits and in others Negroes were reported to be the
aggressors.

When organized gangs took part in clashes the results were more serious,
A typical case started in the Kohler saloon at South State and Fifty-first
streets on May 27, 1919, two months before the riot.

A group of about ten white men entered the saloon together. When 3
Negro came in and called for a drink, one of the whites knocked him down and
kicked him out of the front door. Arming himself with brickbats, the Negro
called on the whites to come out. The gang crossed to another saloon on the
opposite corner, and when they left it shortly afterward, they carried revolvers,
They then beat the Negro, cutting his head. Dr. Homer Cooper, whose
office is above the Kohler saloon, and one of his patients, Michael Pantaliono,
witnessed the affray.

Roscoe C. Johnston, a Negro plain-clothes man who had been on the
police force only four days, was told of the trouble by a citizen and found the
gang in the second saloon. Asheapproached, Mart. Flannigan drew a revolver,
Johnston called two plain-clothes men, who chanced to be outside, to summon
a patrol wagon, then followed the gang back to the Kohler saloon and disarmed
and arrested Flannigan. Johnston found three automatic revolvers behind
the bar in the saloon and arrested three more of the men for carrying concealed
weapons. Later six more of the men were taken when the patrol wagon
returned to Kohler’s, including Patten, the bartender.

The cases of these ten men were dismissed when they came to trial a week
later before Judge Grant; lack of evidence was the reason given. Flannigan
explained that he carried the gun to protect himself while taking money to
thebank. These young men were said by onlookers to be members of Ragen 5
Colts.”

“Ragen’s Colts” were frequently identified with lawlessness and speciﬁc_
clashes before and during the riot. They are typical of the gangs and “ athletic
clubs” which were responsible for much disorder, including attacks upom
Negroes. This organization was sponsored by Frank Ragen, a politician whose,
record and methods have long offended the decent citizenship of Chicago:
As a member of the Board of Cook County Commissioners, he allied himself
with a spoils-seeking majority against which two or three public-spirited.
members waged a courageous struggle. His participation in the Board’s
" deliberations was marked by such conduct as the hurhng of a large recor(f‘
book and inkwells at members who opposed the “ring.” |

As part of his political following he gathered about him the young hoodlums
who make up an important element of the club on which he bestowed his names
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gagen’s influence has often been able to protect the “Colts” from punishment

zgr criminal acts, including the persecution of Negroes.
& Other “athletic” and “social” clubs, though not so notorious, have been
o

2

a like nature. Miss Mary McDowell, head resident of the University of
jcago Social Settlement, told the Commission that she knew of five such
ubs composed of young men between seventeen and twenty-two:

Especially before the war they were always under obligation to some politician -
for renting a store and paying the initial expenses of their clubs. That’s what started
‘them, and it has come to be quite the fashion to get an empty store with big panes of
glaSS on which they like to put theirnames. T am speaking now of “back of the Yards”
nditions.

The Ragen Club is mostly Irish-American. T he others are from the second
géneration of many nationalities. I don’t think they have deliberate criminal desires.

7T think they get into these ways, and then they are used and exploited often by politi-
dans. . - - - 1t is about the most dangerous thing that we have in the city. Whether

e police could not stop them at the time of the riot on the Monday when they went
wn Forty-seventh Street with firearms showing in their hands in autos (a young
“man living with us can give you his affidavit on it) and shouting as they went, “We’ll
get those niggers!” I don’t suppose anybody would want to say, but the fact remains
ihat nobody did stop them. They went across Halsted Street towards State Street.

our policemen were there and they never stopped them at all.

Miss Jane Addams, of Hull-House, also described to the Commission the
way in which the ward politicians are responsible for these clubs. - She said:
The politicians have had a new trick the last few years all over the city. They
pay rent, as Miss McDowell said, for clubs of boys below the voting age. The politi-
“dian used to take care of the young voter and the boy nearly a voter, but now he comes
down to boys of thirteen and fourteen and fifteen and begins to pay their rent and
¢ them special privileges and keeps the police off when they are gambling. The
ole boy problem is very much more mixed up with these—TI won’t call them gangs,
t they are clubs with more or less political affiliations. They are not always loyal
their political boss, but he expects them to be and they are, more or less.

The gangs and “athletic clubs” became more boldly active in the spring
'1919. On the night of June 21, five weeks before the riot, there were two
wanton murders of Negroes by gangs of white hoodlums. One of the Negroes
was Sanford Harris, the other Joseph Robinson. There is no evidence that
glther had been offensive in any way, yet they were deliberately killed by gangs.
There is evidence that the gangs in the neighborhoods of these crimes had
ead such fear among Negro residents that murders of this kind were not
expected. ‘

Harris lived on Dearborn Street between Fifty-sixth and Fifty-seventh
Sreets. About 11:30 P.M. on June 21 he escorted from his home to a street
% at State and Fifty-seventh streets a woman friend who had been calling on
‘Z; wife. A Negro man, woman, and child alighted from this car, and Harris
alked behind them west on Fifty-seventh Street on his way home. A number
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of white youths approached the man, woman, and child, one of the gang saying,
“Let’s get that nigger,” referring to the man. Because of the child’s presence
they were allowed to pass unmolested.

Then the gang caught sight of Harris, who started to run across a vacant Jot
toward his home. A shot was fired and Harris fell after going a short distance,
He died at the Cook County Hospital from peritonitis due to the bullet wound,

A woman living near Fifty-seventh and Dearborn streets caught hold of
one of the gang who had a pistol in his hand. A plain-clothes policeman
appeared, and she called upon him to arrest the gangster who, she said, had
shot Harris. The detective merely asked how she was able to pick out the
man who had fired the shot. Apparently be ignored the fact that the man
held a revolver in his hand, nor does it appear that he even looked to see whether
it had been recently discharged. ’

A Mrs. T—, who lived above the saloon at the northwest corner of State
and Fifty-seventh streets, had witnessed the assault on Harris from her back
porch. When other plain-clothes men came upon the scene, she told them
that the gang had hidden under the viaduct on Fifty-seventh Street west of
Dearborn, but there were no arrests and apparently no attempts to make any.

Earlier the same evening, an altercation had taken place between a number
of white boys from sixteen to twenty years of age and Thomas Johnson,
a Negro who, with a Mrs. Moss, conducted a store next to a saloon at
State and Fifty-seventh streets. The boys had been loafing outside the
door and using foul language. Johnson remonstrated with them and finally
got a stick and started after them. A number of other Negroes aided in
driving off the boys, who, as they left, threatened to “get a gang and come
back and get you.” It is thought that this was the gang that killed Harris,

Joseph Robinson, the other Negro killed that same night, had lived at
514 West Fifty-fourth Place. He was forty-seven years of age, a laborer for
the Union Coal Company, and had a wife and six children, the oldest seventeen
years of age. He was attacked by a gang at Fifty-fifth Street and Princeton
Avenue, apparently without provocation, and received knife wounds in the
back and left leg. He died from shock and hemorrhages on June 23.

A man named Morden, who lived at 5713 Drexel Avenue, testified at the
Robinson inquest that he had met a gang of from fifteen to thirty men at Fifty-
fifth Street and Shields Avenue about a block from Princeton Avenue. He said
the gang was walking rapidly east and divided to pass him. He was not far
away when Robinson was attacked. The Negro had evidently been coming
in the opposite direction, west on Fifty-fifth Street (Garfield Boulevard) and
the assault began the instant he met the gang. Morden heard a shot fired
and saw Robinson stagger across the street to a candy store. He saw several
men rush forward and help Robinson in the door as the gang scattered. Morden
declared that several of the gang carried clubs, and that he saw several of these
during the assault.
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Nicholas Gianakas, who conducted the candy store at 5458 Princeton
Avenue, into which the wounded man had run, testified that he heard the shot
and saw people outside running in all directions. He saw Robinson coming
in the door with blood running off him. Presently Robinson got up and went
outside to sit on the curb. Gianakas called up the police station for an ambu-
lance. He saw no weapons in the hands of any of the crowd outside and
recognized none of them. He heard people saying that a mob had come from
“the Yards.”

Peter Paul Byrne, a patrolman, testified that he had been called from his
beat at Fifty-fifth and State streets by a man in an automobile, who drove him
to the candy store. There he also telephoned for an ambulance, then went
out and rounded up ‘‘some kids” on suspicion. There was a big crowd
around, he said, men, women, and children.

One man testified at the inquest that an acquaintance spoke of having
seen a Greek run out of the candy store and hit Robinson on the head with a
hammer or hatchet. But this acquaintance, when called to testify, denied
the story.

Captain Caughlin, in charge of the police of that precinct, testified that a
number of men had been arrested on suspicion, but all of them had been
discharged because none of them knew anything about the matter. People
had been running in every direction, he said, there had been a good deal of
commotion, and he seemed to think it would have been virtually impossible
for the police to find any of the guilty persons.

C. L. McCutcheon, a Negro railway postal clerk, living at 517 West
Fifty-fourth Place, testified at the inquest that he had been threatened by
mobs, that a gang over on the boulevard had so terrorized the fifteen or twenty
“colored boys” in the neighborhood for a long time that none of them dared
to go about alone; that he himself had two boys who would not go on Halsted
Street for $10 a trip.

Following the killing of Harris and Robinson notices were posted along
Garfield Boulevard and some neighboring streets saying that the authors of
the notices would “get’” all the “niggers” on July 4, 1919. These notices
also called for help from sympathizers. They predicted that there would be
- street-car strike on the appointed day, and that then they expected to run
all Negroes out of the district. Some witnesses at the inquest stated that
the Negroes of the district, who up to that time had done nothing to protect
themselves, were advised by friendly whites to “prepare for the worst,” as
trouble could scarcely be avoided.

2. RACIAL OUTBREAK IN WAUKEGAN
May 31 and June 2, 1920

 Waukegan, Illinois, thirty-six miles north of Chicago and near the Great
Lakes Naval Training Station of the United States Navy, was the scene of



58 THE NEGRO IN CHICAGO

two riotous attacks during the nights of May 31 and June 2, 1920, on a lodging-
house for Negroes, by bands of recruits on leave from the Naval Training
Station. No lives were lost, and only two persons were hurt, neither of them
“seriously.

These outbursts scarcely classify as race riots. The chief motive seems to
have been a desire for excitement on the part of young and active naval recruits,

The Sherman House was a dilapidated place on Genesee Street, the main
street of the town. It had been abandoned by whites and was run as a lodging-
house for thirty or thirty-five unmarried Negroes, chiefly factory workers,
On the first floor was a poolroom and soft-drink “parlor,” which some of the
naval recruits had patronized.

A mischievous Negro boy of ten years, George Taylor, was primarily respon-
sible for the outbreaks. On the afternoon of May 31 he and his little sister had
been throwing stones at passing automobiles in Sheridan Road. One of these
missiles broke the wind shield of an automobile driven by Lieutenant A. F,
Blazier, an officer at the Great Lakes Station, who allowed this fact to become
known to some of the recruitsat thestation. Late that evening an unorganized
mob of recruits assembled at the Sherman House and threw stones, breaking
nearly all the windows. The mob was rushed by all the available police in
Waukegan, who took six prisoners. One reported incident was the chasing of
a Negro by half a dozen bluejackets and marines and his rescue by the police.

Provost guards from the Naval Station rounded up the rioters and took
them back to Great Lakes, thus ending the outbreak.

Two nights later, or June 2, 150 boys on leave from the Naval Training
Station renewed the attack. They gathered in a ravine near the hotel and
at ten o’clock they poured forth, led by a sailor carrying an American flag.
The police had been warned and were ready with reinforcements.

About seventy-five feet from the lodging-house the police ordered the
attackers to halt; no attention was paid to the command, and they fired
their riot guns in the air, wounding two marines who were some distance
away. Hand-to-hand fighting ensued, during which the police seized the
flag and arrested two marines. The Great Lakes boys gathered about the
police station and demanded their comrades.

Commander M. M. Frucht, executive officer of the Naval Station, who
had already been sent to Waukegan by Commandant Bassett, appeared at
the door and quieted the crowd with a promise that all concerned would have
a square deal. He also advised them to return at once to the Naval Station.

The police released the two prisoners and gave back the flag. Two hundred
provost guards from the Naval Station arrived in motor trucks while the crowd
was at the police station.

Waukegan youths, evidently banded together for the purpose, searched
the house of Edward Dorsey, Negro, at go5 Market Street, on the night of
June 5. Ten of them, ranging from seventeen to twenty-two years, were
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arrested.  They said they had heard that five white persons were held prisoners
in Dorsey’s home and that it was their intention to effect a rescue. It was
gsserted that a number of provost guards accompanied the crowd to the
Dorsey house.
~ The general spirit of the people of Waukegan regarding Negroes may be
judged from a proclamation by Mayor J. F. Bidinger, in which he disclaimed
Jor the people of the city any intention to harass the Negro. Referring to
reports that some of the white people of the town had participated in the
disturbances, the mayor said: “In the first they did not, and in the second
in no great numbers. Hoodlums generally run true to form and seldom
overlook ready-made opportunity to manifest their peculiar taste in deviltry.
Hence the mixing of a few of them into these fracases signifies nothing in so
far as our general public is concerned.” ,

Observers agreed with the mayor that the disturbances were not race
riots. In this connection his proclamation said:

Now it is a definitely ascertained fact that no adult Negro was even remotely
connected with the first stone-throwing; that the colored people did not then retaliate
and have not since sought to retaliate in even the smallest measure; and that all
the episodes have consisted simply of an attack upon people who have been as inof-
fensive throughout the entire affair as they could well be. All of which I submit
stamps this affair as an example of disorderly conduct indeed, but not as a race riot.

3. THE ‘“‘ABYSSINIAN’’ AFFAIR

Sunday afternoon, June 20, 1920, a small group of Negroes styling them-
selves “Abyssinians” ended a parade of their “order” in front of a café at
209 East Thirty-fifth Street frequented by both whites and Negroes. After
a brief ceremony one of the leaders produced an American flag and deliberately
burned it. He then began to destroy a second flag in the same manner.
Two white policemen remonstrated with the men but were intimidated by
threats and a brandishing of revolvers. They left immediately to notify
police headquarters. Patrolman Owens, Negro, arrived as a second flag was
lighted. Rushing up to the leader who held the burning flagin his hands
and remonstrating with the group for their disloyalty, he was immediately
shot and wounded. Robert Lawson Rose, a sailor on leave from the Great
Lakes Naval Training Station, protested against the destruction of the flag
and he too was shot; he staggered into the doorway of a cigar store at
207 East Thirty-fifth Street. Some of the parade leaders got rifles from a
closed automobile which had followed the parade and was standing near by,
and fired into the cigar store. One of these bullets killed Joseph Hoyt, a clerk
in the store. The sailor, Rose, also died from his wound. In all about twenty-
five shots were fired during the fracas, and several persons were injured.

The men who did the shooting escaped but were arrested later. Crowds
attracted by the demonstration quickly dispersed when the shooting began,
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and from then on there was virtually no disorder except for attacks at a railreag
station on three Negro ministers who were returning to the city and ki
nothing of the shooting. Nine Negroes were arrested and held to the gr:
jury. One of them was Grover Cleveland Redding, thirty-seven or thirty!
eight years of age, who was the “prophet” of the “ Abyssinian® order
Chicago. Redding, who had admitted the shooting of Rose, was held :
Oscar McGavick for murder, and the others as accessories after the fact.”

The exact reason for this flag-burning has not been disclosed, althoyj
it was apparently intended to symbolize the feeling of the ““Abyssini
followers that it was time to forswear allegiance to the American governmep
and consider themselves under allegiance to the Abyssinian government.

The guns used in the shooting were found by the police in a garage, togeths
with the regalia of the “Aby351mans,” and much of their printed matter a;naé
other effects.? ' -

The “Abyssinian” affair might easily have been turned into anotherj
great outbreak such as that of July, 1919. But the police, profiting by their
experience of the previous year, were vigilant. They bad organized an emer.:
gency force which was quickly mobilized and put in service in the distri
Moreover, there was evident such a feeling of restraint on the part of beﬁh’-‘
whites and Negroes that they combined to hunt down the offenders. =

Indicative of this spirit of co-operation to prevent racial conflict, and helpful:
to it, was the careful handling of the matter by the press. Practically evelyi,
newspaper gave prominence to the way in which the two races worked together.j
to this end, and all dwelt on the courageous action of the Negro policemar,
A picture printed in the Herald-Examiner the following morning shows
people of the two races fraternizing after the shooting. The Daily News:
reporting the affray said that only the co-operation of the white and Negn
merchants of the district stopped the disturbance; that rowdies in the neighbo
hood were ready for a fight, but that “the better class of whites and Negro
worked directly with the police to stop any such trouble as a recurrenc
the rioting last summer, which occurred in the same neighborhood.”

To understand the “Abyssinian” affair an acquaintance with oth
characters, certain group propaganda and movements, is Decessary.
“Back to Africa’” movement, which lent fervor and enthusiasm to the develo
ment of lawlessness and wanton killing by this group of unlettered Negro
has been in progress for more than two years. The Black Star Steamshi
Line and the Universal Improvement Association, headed by a Negro, Mar¢
Garvey, a British subject, were organized to establish commercial relatio

 Redding had admitted having shot Rose, and evidence against others for their partlc;
tion in the killing, while not conclusive, was rather convincing.

2 At the trial of these men six months later, Grover Cleveland Redding and

trial were released. Redding has since been hanged.
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PROPAGANDA LITERATURE USED BY “ABYSSINIANS” IN RECRUITING
FOLLOWERS
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Wlth Africa. To arouse interest and secure funds for the enterprise, sentiment
%lms been created among Negroes for the developing of sections of Africa where
ithey may govern themselves and build up their own institutions and commerce.
“The movement has gained thousands of adherents; although the language of
its appeals has frequently been extreme, it has engaged in no dangerous or
unpatriotic activities. Its connection with the tragic incident lies in the
‘mplication that “Back to Africa” means away from the land of unfair treat-
‘ment, and thus suggests contempt for the United States.

The “Star Order of Ethiopia and Ethiopian Missionaries to Abyssinia”
appears to be an illegitimate offspring of the Universal Improvement Associa-
tion and the Black Star Steamship Line. The visit of the Abyssinian Mission
to this country a year ago to renew a treaty between their country and the
United States probably served as an added suggestion. The leaders of the
movement were Redding, secretary of the order; Joseph Fernon, called
the “ Great Abyssinian,” and his son, “The Prince.”  Together with a “Dr.”
R.D. Jonas, a white man who for several years has engaged in sundry activities
among Negroes, they organized this movement among a class of Negroes too
ignorant to exercise restraint over their racial resentments.

Emotionalism was aroused and a semi-religious twist was given through
their appeals, which played more or less injudiciously on the desire of Negroes
to improve their economic status and to escape from what some of them
regard as oppression, either in this or in other countries. One or two other
similar organizations are making such an appeal, not only to Negroes in this
country, but to other dark-skinned races throughout the world. It is sought
to weld them all together into a great nation. Glittering promises are set
before the illiterate element of the Negro race, which has responded sufficiently
to fatten the purses of some, at least, of the *“prophets.”

Redding was one of these “prophets.” He was influenced by the white
man, “Dr.” R. D. Jonas, and had purchased from him the robe or toga
which he wore during the parade of June 20. According to those who knew
both men, he had first “stolen Jonas’ thunder” and the following out of which
the “Star Order of Ethiopia” had been manufactured. Having lost this,
Jonas was willing to sell the regalia.

Jonas, it appears, had been promoting one movement after another among
illiterate Negroes for six or seven years. At one time he conducted a
co-operative store on State Street, in which he sold shares. He was often
an orator at street gatherings and had been arrested a number of times. When
Alexander Dowie of Zion City died, Jonas is said to have attempted to put
himself into the vacant position. After the East St. Louis riots he appeared
in Chicago in an express wagon with signs indicating that he was collecting
funds for the Negroes of East St. Louis.

During the afternoon of the shooting, Jonas had been the principal speaker
at a small, orderly meeting of Negroes in Johnson’s Hall, 3516 South State
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Street, at which he had launched a campaign for Mayor Thompson as 5
third-party candidate for president of the United States. The Mayor, he
said, was the only man who could be trusted ““to carry out Roosevelt’s work”
and put through the treaty with Abyssinia which expired in 1917. He alg
referred to the efforts of the Jews to return to Palestine and of the Irish to
free themselves from British domination, and suggested the desirability of 4
coalition of the Negro, Jewish, and Irish races. Redding’s hold on many cf
the Negroes was partly due to the fact that he is a Negro and claims to be
native of Abyssinia, whereas Jonas is a white man.

_Quite evidently the “Back to Abyssinia” movement was used as a meang
for exploiting credulous Negroes. For one dollar they could purchase an
Abyssinian flag, a small pamphlet containing a prophecy relating to the return
of the black-skinned people to Africa, a copy of a so-called treaty between the
United States and Abyssinia, and a picture of the “Prince of the Abyssinians.”
Likewise when the propaganda had begun to take root, one might sign a blank
form which would commit him to return to “my motherland of Ethiopia” in
order that he might fill any one of forty-four positions,such as electrical engineer,
mechanical draftsman, civil engineer, architect, chemist, sign-painter, cartoon-
ist, illustrator, traffic manager, teacher, auto-repairing, agriculture, and
poultry-raising. The blank itself was headed:

STAR ORDER OF ETHIOPIA
AND
THE ETHIOPIAN MISSIONARY TO ABYSSINIA
“ A Prince shall come out of Egypt. Ethiopia shall soon stretch
out her hands to God.”—Ps. 68:31.
This is to certify that my name was given to Elder Grover Redding, Missionary

to Abyssinia, to show to my brothers in my motherland that I am with them, heart
and soul.

Oh, Wonderful Land, God remembers Thee. He shall deliver Thee from under
the heels of Thy Oppressors. He remembers when Asia condemned Him, and Europe
put Him to death, and it was Africa who haven him until King Herod was dead. It
was Africa’s son who helped Bare his Cross up to Calvary. There was Africa’s son
the Apostle Phillip met, and he carried the Gospel to Thy land. It was Thee whose
Queen came to King Solomon to prove him with hard questions. Ethiopia, Thou
was first on Earth; Thou shall be last, for Jehova has spoken it. (See Scrip: Zeph.
3:8, g, 10; Isa. 18 Chap.; Ps. 68:30, 31.)

STAR ORDER OF ETHIOPIA
AND
ETHIOPIAN MISSIONARY TO ABYSSINIA

This is to certify that I have signed my name as an Ethiopian in America in
sympathy with our motherland Ethiopia. I henceforth denounce the name of Negro
which was given me by another race.

At this point the applicant declares himself ready at any time needed to:
fill any of the positions in a list below, which he has checked and which he is
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‘qualiﬁed to fill. Blank space appears then for name, address, present occupa-
tion, city, state, and county. At the bottom appears the name of George
(Gabriel, described as “Abyssinian” linguist and native of Abyssinia, together
with that of Grover C. Redding, secretary and missionary. The applicant
s requested to majl the blank to 1812 Thirteenth Street, Washington, D.C.,
in care of Mrs. Dabney, or 115 W. 138th Street, New York City, care of Charles
‘Manson, or Joseph Goldberg, Jaffa, Palestine.

' The immediate inspiration of the Abyssinians, as previously suggested,
‘was 2 Visit to this country, more than a year before, of a delegation from
Abyssinia, which had concerned itself with a renewal of the old treaty. Itis
pointed out that the chief reason why Negroes should be interested in this
treaty is that they might use it to overthrow “Jim Crow” laws in certain
states. Under this treaty Abyssinians had been guaranteed the right to
travel at will in the United States under the protection of the federal govern-
ment. Men like Redding had evidently interpreted this to mean that under
such a treaty the United States would be bound to interfere in behalf of Abys-
sinians, if they should be discriminated against under a “Jim Crow” law.

Redding, however, had some sort of biblical interpretation for his move-
ment. He maintained that his mission was indicated in the Bible. He
quoted from the Scriptures these words: “So shall the King of Assyria lead
away the Egyptian prisoners, the Ethiopian captives, young and old, to the
shame of Egypt.” Asserting that the Ethiopians do not belong here, and that
they should be taken back to their own country, he construed a biblical passage
as meaning that the time of their bondage in a foreign country should be the
expiration of a 3oo-year period. This period, he said, began in 1619, when
Negroes were first taken for purposes of slavery from Africa to America. He
said that the burning of the flag was the symbol indicated to him through these
biblical passages, and the sign that Abyssinians should no longer stay in this
country.

As to the flag of Abyssinia, he had interpreted it thus: ‘“The red means
the blood of Christ; the green, the grass on which he knelt for you and me;
the yellow for the clay. The Ethiopian flag is better known as ‘Calvary’s
ﬂag" »”

Jonas, from whom Redding had obtained these ideas of a Negro Utopia
in Africa, claimed that he had introduced to President Wilson the Abyssinian
delegation which had come to this country. He claimed the credit for having
taken Redding into his home and cared for him several years ago at the behest
of Mrs. Jonas, who had told him that he was a “smart young fellow.”

The ceremonies and manifestations of the “ Abyssinians’ were marked by
such fanaticism that responsible Negroes repudiated them and condemned
the leaders along with other criminals and exploiters of the ignorant Negroes.
The Negro World, organ of the Universal Improvement Association and Black
Star Line, carried the following article.



ATFTER THE “ABYSSINIAN MURDERS”
s
Photograph taken at Thirty-Gfth Street and Indiana Avénue,yhere both races co-operated to maintain order
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Appalled by the violence aroused on Sunday night, when an American flag wag
burned and two men were killed by the Abyssinian zealots, colored leaders of thé“
Middle West have begun a systematic campaign to eliminate white exploitation amongz;
the Negroes and to bring about better racial co-operation.

The Chicago police announced today that all the men wanted in the case, except‘
two, are under arrest. They also promised that the career of Grover Cleveland}
Redding, self-styled “Prince of Abyssinia,” and identified as a ringleader in the
affair, will enter a new phase tomorrow when the frock-coated suspect is formally
charged with murder, accessory to murder and rioting.

Oscar McGavick, one of the men sought, was arrested in Pittsburgh today.
«Bill” Briggs and Frank Heans were taken into custody here. This leaves the police
list with only two names, the Fernons, father and son. “Dr.” R.D. Jonas, known.on
the South Side as a professional agitator, was released today, no evidence having been;
found of his direct connection with the shooting. Federal officials are investigating

According to the opinions of some of the leaders among Chicago Negroes
“ Abyssinian movement,” from which Sunday night’s trouble indirectly resulted,
legitimate and valid enterprise. It is but one of the manifestations of that bubb
activity which today characterizes the colored people of America in their struggle fo
race progression.

The trouble lies, they claim, in a group of exploiters and mountebanks, who
unauthorized by real leaders in the movement, have seized upon it as a medium for ‘
sonal gain. In Chicago two of these were Jonas and Redding, it is claimed.

Pertinent on this point also is the stand taken by the Chicago Defend
among the most influential of the Negro publications, concerning the Ab
sinians, which said editorially:

We warn all agitators, whether they be white or black, that this paper, standin
it does for law and order, for justice to all men, for that brotherhood without which
country can long prosper, and for the better element of our twelve millions, that
condemn their disloyalty and will do all in our power to aid the constituted authon
in crushing them.

The burning of the American flag by a group of self-styled Abyssinians at 3 sth
and Indiana Avenue last Sunday evening, as a means of showing their contemp
for the United States, and the resultant murders that followed in the wake of
demonstration, instead of accomplishing the end desired by these malcontents, a
as a boomerang. Every black face portrayed indignation. Every black arm
lifted to strike a blow at these law-breakers. This is our home, our country, our:
for whose honor and protection we will give our last drop of blood. With all
shortcomings it can never truthfully be said that we are disloyal or unpatriotic

The real problem indicated by the “Abyssinian’ affair is how to prew
self-seekers from playing upon the superstitions and emotions of igno
Negroes, to the harm of others and the disturbance of the peace.

4. THE BARRETT MURDER

The murder of a white man, Thomas J. Barrett, by a Negro on Septen
20, 1920, is not particularly significant in itself. But it was committ
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the heart of the district where some of the worst rioting took place in 1919,
it created a situation which might easily have developed into another serious
iot, and it affords an example of prompt and effective police handling.

~ Forty-seventh and Halsted streets is the intersection of two main thorough-
fares used by Negroes returning home from work in the Stock Yards. The
neighborhood is one where gangs of hoodlums have attacked Negroes, and is
+thickly settled with people who have shown considerable antagonism toward
Negroes.

Barrett, who was a motorman on the Chicago. surface lines, was killed
shortly after seven o’clock in the evening. He had had his shoes shined at
the stand of William Sianis, 4720 South Halsted Street, and had purchased
a newspaper at Halsted and Forty-seventh streets at about 7:00 .M. About
the same time three Negroes came out of the yards of Ready & Callaghan
on Halsted Street between Forty-sixth and Forty-seventh, and one of these
Negroes went to the news stand seeking a newspaper in which to roll up his
overalls. In an encounter with these Negroes, Barrett was fatally stabbed,
dying before he reached a hospital. His head was nearly severed from his
body.

The Negroes, pursued by a rapidly increasing crowd of whites, ran north
nearly a block on Halsted Street. They turned into a vacant lot and went
through alleys until they emerged on Forty-fifth Street near Emerald Avenue,
evidently trying to work their way east to the main Negro neighborhood.
The crowd, however, had thickened so rapidly that they took refuge in St.
‘Gabriel’s Catholic Church, just east of Lowe Avenue.

The mob was checked by the appearance and quieting remarks of Father
Thomas M. Burke, pastor of the church. He told them that the Negroes had
sought sanctuary, that there were laws to punish them, and that it was not
the province of a mob to wreak summary vengeance.

Meanwhile the police were already arriving. A patrol wagon had left
the Stock Vards station about seven o’clock, and followed the pursuing crowd.
Acting Lieutenant Bullard telephoned at once to Chief Garrity, and extra
police were quickly thrown into the neighborhood to control the crowd.

Samuel C. Rank, lieutenant of police at the Thirteenth Precinct station,
Forty-seventh Place and Halsted Street, had received the alarm about seven
o'clock. He sent five detectives and followed shortly after to the scene of
the disturbance. He went into the church with Sergeant Brown and three
detectives. Lieutenant Rank forced a number of the mob to leave the church
and locked the doors. Captain Hogan, of the Tenth Police Precinct, and
Chief Garrity arrived about this time. The three Negroes were taken through
2 rear entrance to a patrol wagon in the alley and removed to the Hyde Park
police station, a considerable distance away.

. The crowd in front of the church had grown by this time to 3,000 or 4,000.
In order to quiet them they were again addressed by Father Burke, who told
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them the Negroes had been removed from the church. They disperseq
about 10:30 .M.

Profiting by the experience of 1919 Chief Garrity made prompt use of
prearranged plans to check all such disorders in their incipiency. He immedj.
ately closed saloons and “clubs” in which young hoodlums were accustomeq
to gather. He had the police patrol the streets by twos. He drew a “deag
line” to prevent Negroes from entering the district. With his forces we]l
organized and distributed, he set up headquarters at the Stock Yards Precinct
station and spent the might there, with Captain Westbrook, commander of
the second battalion of police, Captain Hogan, and Lieutenant Ira McDonnell,
of the Desplaines Street station. Street cars and automobiles approaching
the police “dead line” were stopped and all Negro passengers warned off.
Street gatherings were broken up and people were searched for weapons,
People were also kept moving in the streets. This display of force undoubtedly
had its quieting effect. Nevertheless, a stray Negro was here and there
attacked despite the vigilance of the police.

-~ During the five or six hours following the murder, racial street fights
occurred at Forty-fifth Street and Wabash Avenue. A mob stormed a house
at 229 East Forty-fifth Street, attempted to burn it and did considerable
damage. Frank Gavin, a white man, 1509 Marquette Road, was shot in the
back during the mobbing of a Negro at Fifty-third Street and Racine Avenue.
Hoodlums pulled Negroes from street cars and beat them. A Negro who had
been dragged from a car at Thirty-ninth and Emerald Avenue, was rescued by
several white women after he had been severely beaten with clubs. A man
and a small boy, Negroes, were attacked by a gang at Fuller Park, Forty-fifth
Street and Shields Avenue. At Forty-seventh and Halsted streets three
Negroes were taken from a car and slugged, and two others had a similar
experience at Forty-seventh Street and Union Avenue. Frank Stevens, a
white man, 3738 Langley Avenue, was badly injured by a crowd of Negroes
at Thirty-ninth Street and Normal Avenue.

Precautions were continued next day for the protection of Negroes working
in the Stock Yards, and frequenting the district where the disorders had
occurred. This district ran as far west as Racine Avenue and as far east as
Prairie; as far north as Thirty-second Street and as far south as Fifty-third
Street. Negroes working at the Stock Yards had police escorts to and from
their work, and the car lines on Halsted and Forty-seventh and Thirty-fifth
streets, and on Racine Avenue, which are much used by the Negroes, were
especially guarded. Only one clash was recorded the following day. By,
six o’clock Wednesday morning, thirty-seven hours after the murder, the
special police concentration was discontinued.

Nine persons in all were reported injured during this disturbance. Nine
men were arrested, including the three Negroes whom Barrett had encountered.
These three were: Samuel Hayes, forty years old, 519 East Thirty-fifth-
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Street; Henry Snow, thirty-two years old, 517 East Thirty-fifth Street;
and Frank Gatewood, forty-three years old, 3446 Prairie Avenue.

Witnesses at the inquest differed as to whether there was any provocation
for the stabbing of Barrett. Only one of them testified that he heard any of
the four persons say anything. This was Carl Duwell, a printer, 466 West
Twenty-fourth Place, who had just alighted from a Halsted Street car. He
said that Barrett was following the three colored men and seemed to be threat-
ening them, saying “You want to fight ?”” One of the Negroes suddenly turned
and struck at Barrett, slashing his throat. The Negroes had been walking fast,

with Barrett following a few feet behind them. After he was struck, Barrett
staggered a few feet to the curb and fell.

Barrett’s widow said he was not in the habit of carrying weapons, but it
was current talk that he had been arrested a number of times for street fights
with Negroes. He had been a policeman in the service of the South Park
Commission, and was an ex-soldier. William Sianis, at whose stand Barrett
had his shoes shined just before the murder, said that Barrett was apparently
sober. Neighborhood gossip was to the effect that Barrett had been drinking
at McNally’s saloon at Forty-seventh and Halsted streets. Also Duwell’s
testimony indicated that Barrett had been drinking.

According to Police Captain Hogan, when the Negroes were arrested in
the church, knives were found on the persons of two of them. One of these,
Sam Hayes, admitted to the police at that time that he had stabbed a white
man at Forty-seventh and Halsted streets. His story was that when he asked
the newsboy at the corner for a newspaper in which to wrap his overalls,
Barrett threatened him and then struck him, and the stabbing followed.

During the night following the murder, Chief of Police Garrity issued a
statement which was published conspicuously in the morning newspapers,
and was most effectively worded to prevent misunderstanding of the incident
and avert use of it to inflame racial hostility. The statement began:

There has been no race riot. The killing at Forty-seventh and Halsted streets
was merely a street-corner fight. There was grave danger that it would be followed
by serious trouble. Precautionary measures were taken at once to forestall the recur-
rence of the riots, with the destruction of life and property, of last summer.

This was followed by a detailed account of the special measures and
distribution of police to handle the situation.

II. Tre Serverierp Rior
August 14-15, 1908
The race riot at Springfield, Hllinois, in August, 1908, which cost the lives
of two Negroes and four white men, is an outstanding example of the racial
bitterness and brutality that can be provoked by unsubstantiated rumor or,
-as in this case, by deliberate falsehood. The two Negro victims were innocent
and unoffending. They were lynched under the shadow of the capitol of
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about the jail. They seemed good-natured rather than blood-thirsty. It
was also known that James, accused of the Ballard murder, occupied a cell in
the jail. The sheriff preserved order through the afternoon, no effort being
made to disperse the crowd of 300 or 400 persons. About five o’clock Richardson
and James were taken in an automobile to Sherman, north of Springfield, and
-there they were transferred by train to Bloomington.

About 7:00 p.M. leadership began to develop in the mob about the jail.
The leaders demanded the two Negroes, but were finally convinced by the
sheriff that they were not in the jail. Then the story spread that Harry
Loper, a restaurant keeper, had provided the automobile in which the men had
been removed. The crowd rushed to the restaurant five blocks away. In
response to the mob’s hootings Loper appeared in the doorway with a firearm
in his hand. About 8:30 P.M. someone threw a brick through a plate-glass
window and in a few minutes the front of the restaurant had been smashed
out. Then followed the complete wrecking of the restaurant, as well as the
owner’s automobile, which had been standing in front.

When the mob began to surge through the town the Fire Department was
called to disperse it, but the mob cut the hose. Control having been lost
by the sheriff and police, Governor Deneen called out the militia. The mob,
by this time very much excited, started for the Negro district through Washing-
ton Street, along which a large number of Negroes lived on upper floors.
Raiding second-hand stores which belonged to white men, the mob secured
guns, axes, and other weapons with which it destroyed places of business
operated by Negroes and drove out all of the Negro residents from Washington
Street. Then it turned north into Ninth Street.

At the northeast corner of Ninth and Jefferson streets was the frame
barber shop of Scott Burton, a Negro. The mob set fire to this building.
From that point it went a block farther north to Madison Street and then turned
east and began firing all the shacks in which Negroes and whites lived in that
street.

Burton, the first victim of the mob’s violence, was lynched in the yard
back of his shop. The mob tied a rope around his neck and dragged him
through the streets. An effort was then made to burn the body, which had
been hung to a tree. This was at two o’clock in the morning.

About this time a company of militia arrived from Decatur, Illinois,
and proceeded through Madison Street to Twelfth Street, where the mob was
engaged in mutilating Burton’s body, riddling it with bullets. The mob was
twice ordered to disperse, and the militia fired in the air twice. The third
time the troops fired into the ankles and legs of the mob. At least two of the
men in the mob were wounded and the mob quickly gave way.

By this time the Negroes were badly frightened and began leaving town.
Meanwhile, Governor Deneen had sent for more troops, including two regi-
ments from Chicago. Before the rioting ended 5,000 militiamen were patrolling
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Lincoln’s state, within half a mile of the only home he ever owned, and two
miles from the monument which marks the grave of the great emancipator,

A second fundamental factor in the Springfield riot situation was the
fertile field prepared by admittedly lax law enforcement and by tolerance in
the community of vicious conditions, the worst of which were permitted to
surround the Negro areas.

The spark which touched off the explosion was the old story of the violation
of a white woman by a Negro, and not until the damage had been done was
its falsity confessed by the woman who had told it.

On the night of Friday, August 14, 1908, according to her story, Mrs,
H—, wife of a street-railway conductor, was asleep in her room. She was
alone in the house. She declared that a Negro entered, dragged her from her
bed to the back yard, and there committed the crime. She said she had
attempted to scream but was choked by her assailant, who left her lying uncon-
scious in the garden.

A Negro, George Richardson, who had been at work on a neighboring
lawn the day before the attack, was accused by Mrs. H— and was arrested
when he returned to work the next morning. He was placed in the county
jail and on August 19 he was indicted.

During inquiry by a special grand jury certain facts were disclosed concern-
ing Mrs. H—'s character, and she admitted that, though she had been
brutally beaten by a white man on the night indicated, Richardson was not
present and had no connection with the affair. She admitted that she had
not been raped. For reasons known only to herself, she wished to keep the
name of the real assailant a secret, and therefore she had accused Richardson.
She signed an affidavit exonerating him. Richardson had no criminal record.
He and two of his family were property owners in Springfield.

While Richardson was in custody and before he was exonerated, feeling
against him was intensified because of the murder, three or four weeks before,
of Clergy A. Ballard, a white man, by Joe James, a Negro tramp, who was a
drug and whiskey addict. James had been taken from a freight train and placed
in jail for thirty days and had been released on the night of the crime. He
was charged with entering the room of Ballard’s daughter, Blanche, at
night. Ballard grappled with him, but James broke away and ran. In the
struggle Ballard was mortally injured. James was found asleep in a park
near the Ballard home about noon the next day, under the influence of a
drug. He was tried and hanged, and his body was taken back to Mississippi
by his mother for interment. Rev. Mr. Dawson, spiritual adviser of James,
stated that James declared he had no knowledge of the crime.

Springfield was, therefore, in a receptive mood when, on the morning of
Friday, August 135, it got the first rumors concerning the attack on Mrs, H—.
Richardson had been taken before her and partially identified. In the after-
noon, when it became known that he had been arrested, crowds gathered
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the streets of Springfield. On Saturday morning the militia began to arrive
in force, including detachments from Chicago. This was a comparatively
quiet day, but that night another Negro was lynched within a block of the
State House. The mob gathered on the Cowrt House Square and marched
south on Fifth Street to Monroe, west on Monroe to Spring, and south on
Spring to Edwards. At the southeast corner of Spring and Edwards streets
a Negro named Donegan and his family had lived for many years. Donegan
was eighty-four years old and owned the hali-block of ground where he lived.
He was found sleeping in his own yard and was quickly strung up to a tree
across the street. Then his throat was cut and his body mutilated. The
troops interfered at this point and cut down the man, taking him in an ambu-
lance to the hospital, where he died the following morning. Donegan’s only
offense seems to have been that he had had a white wife for more than thirty
years. He bore a good reputation, and the mob had found no reason for Iynch-
ing him.

Abe Raymer, who was supposed to have been the leader of the mob,
was charged with the murder of Donegan, but was released.

As an example of the disorder which occurred Friday evening, it is narrated
that Eugene W. Chafin, Prohibition candidate for the presidency, was delivering
an address on the east side of the public square. A Negro pursued by the mob -
ran toward the speaker’s stand from Fifth and Washington streets, where he
had been pulled from a street car. Two men helped him to the speaker’s
stand, while Chafin at the front of the platform threatened to shoot into the
crowd. Although he had no revolver he made a motion toward his hip pocket.
During the mélée before gaining the platform the Negro drew a knife from his
pocket and slashed several white men. When he had escaped from the rear
of the platform, missiles flew in the direction of Mr. Chafin, one of them hitting
him on the head.

Four men were rounded up who had been blacked up to resemble Negroes
and had been firing on soldiers during the night in an effort to substantiate
the assertion that the Negroes did not welcome the soldiers.

Sunday was quiet. No effort was made to reorganize the mob. The
whole city was as if under martial law. The saloons were shut and every place
of business was closed at g:00 P.M.

The people who took part in the mob violence had no grievances against
the Negroes. They were hoodlums and underworld folk. Many of the
hoodlums, according to one observer, were less than twenty years old.

During the rioting four white men were killed. They were: Louis Johnson,
of 1208 East Reynolds Street, whose body was found at the foot of the stairs
leading to the barroom in Loper’s restaurant. He was shot through the
abdomen; John Colwell, of 1519 Matheny Street, who died at St. John's
Hospital; J. W. Scott, of 125 East Adams Street, who was shot in the lungs;
Frank Delmore, who was killed by a stray bullet.
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Seventy-nine persons were injured. The property destroyed included
Loper’s restaurant and automobile, Scott Burton’s barber shop, the Delmonico
saloon, and one block of houses between Tenth and Eleventh streets, which were
‘burned, with all their contents. Scores of families were left destitute. Many
Negroes were severely beaten before they were able to escape from the district.
Numbers of these homeless colored people swarmed to neighboring towns and
to Chicago. Three thousand of them were concentrated at Camp Lincoln,
the National Guard camp grounds. Some of the refugees were cared for at
the arsenal.

Current comment concerning the riots suggested political corruption and
laxity of law enforcement as important underlying causes of the riots. An as-
sistant state’s attorney in Springfield charged that saloons had long been vio-
lating the law, and that the law was not generally enforced as it ought to be. He
cited these conditions as responsible in Jarge measure for the rioting and mur-
ders. Pastors in their sermons on the riot focused attention on the way in which
vicious elements were permitted to flout the law with impunity. This comment
came so generally and insistently from those conversant with the situation
that the Chicago Daily News was led to remark editorially upon the responsi-
bility of the public authorities of Springfield. It said:

Vice and other forms of law breaking have been given wide latitude here. The
notoriety of Springfield’s evil resorts has been widespread.

A mob which murders, burns and loots, is a highly undesirable substitute even
for a complacent city administration. It isa logical result, however, of long temporiz-
ing with vice and harboring of the vicious. When a mob begins to shoot and hang,

to destroy and pillage, there is instant recognition on the part of responsible persons
of the beauty of law enforcement and of general orderliness,

On the Sunday following the riots some Springfield saloon-keepers took
advantage of the fact that large crowds of sight-seers had come to town to
open their places, in violation of the order by Mayor Reece to remain closed.
Some of them were arrested for defiance of the mayor’s proclamation to remain
closed until order had been restored.

By Monday or Tuesday order was pretty well restored in Springfield.
Some of the National Guard troops were kept on duty for several days. Almost

Ioo arrests were made, and a special grand jury returned more than fifty
indictments.

III. East St. Louts Riors
May 28 and July 2, 1919
Following a period of bitter racial feeling, frequently marked by open
friction, a clash between whites and N egroes in East St. Louis, Illinois, occurred
on May 28, 1917, in which, following rumors that a white man had been killed

by Negroes, a number of Negroes were beaten by a mob of white men. This
outbreak was the forerunner of a much more serious riot on July 2, in which
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at least thirty-nine Negroes and eight white people were killed, much property
was destroyed by fire, and the local authorities proved so ineffective and
demoralized that the state militia was required to restore order. A Congres.
sional Committee investigated the facts of the riot and the underlying condi-
tions, which included industrial disturbances and shameful corruption in
local government.*

The coroner of St. Clair County in which East St. Louis is situated, held
thirty-eight inquests, as a result of which it was found that twenty-six of these
deaths had been due to gun-shot wounds, four to drowning, four to burns,
two to fractured skulls, one to hemorrhage of the brain, and one to pneumonia
after a fracture of the thyroid cartilage. Hundreds of persons were estimated
to have been more or less seriously injured, seventy having been treated in St,
Mary’s Hospital. Ithasbeen impossible to get an accurate accounting of the
deaths and injuries. One man who had taken a deep interest in the situation es-
timated that from 200 to 300 Negroes were killed.

About 200 people were arrested. Some of these were released, some were
charged with rioting and conspiracy, and others with arson. Two white women
were tried for conspiracy and rioting, and fined $50.00. Ten Negroes were
convicted of rioting and murder. Indictments of 104 white persons grew out
of the immediate activities of the rioters. Three policemen were among those
indicted for murder in connection with firing upon Negro bystanders. In
this same group of assailants were seven soldiers who were court-martialed.
No finding in their cases has been announced. Three white men were indicted
for murder in connection with a raid upon a street-car load of Negro passengers
in which a father and son were killed, a mother was wounded severely, and a
little daughter escaped. Twenty-six men, two of them Negroes, were indicted
for arson.

The effort to bring the guilty to justice was commented upon and sum-
marized by this Congressional Committee as follows:

Assistant Attorney General Middlekauf had active charge of the prosecutions
growing out of the riot, and he showed neither fear nor favor. Capable, determined,
and courageous, he allowed neither political influence nor personal appeals to swerve
him from the strict line of duty.

As a result of these prosecutions by the attorney general’s office 11 Negroes and
8§ white men are in the State penitentiary, 2 additional white men have been sentenced
to prison terms, 14 white men have been given jail sentences, 27 white men, including
the former night chief of police and three policemen, have pleaded guilty to rioting
and have been punished.

* This statement is based mainly upon the report of this special committee appointed
by Congress to investigate the East St. Louis riots and upon the stenographic report of the
testimony taken by it. This testimony, comprising 6,000 typewritten pages, was placed at
the disposal of the Commission through the courtesy of the chairman of the Comumittee,
Representative Ben Johnson, of Kentucky, and the interest and co-operation of Representative
James R. Mann, of llinois. :
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These convictions were obtained in the face of organized, determined effort,
packed with abundant funds, to head off the prosecutions and convictions. In the
case of Mayor Mollman there seems to have been an open, paid advertising campaign
to slander and intimidate the attorney general.

The burned area of the city was on Fifth Street, Broadway, Walnut Street,
Eighth Street, Eleventh Street and Bond Avenue, as well as “the Flats” on
Seventh Street, between Division and Missouri avenues. This latter area
was that occupied by Negroes. There were 312 buildings and forty-four
railroad cars totally or partially destroyed, with a total loss of $393,600.

The riots in East St. Louis may be traced, more or less directly, to a
number of causes, the influence of each being apparent.

Without doubt conditions resulting from the migration of a large number
of Negroes from the South, a movement which was more or less general at
that time, account in large measure for the riots, but also involved in it all
are the facts that there had been industrial friction, and that the city was
flagrantly misgoverned.

The Congressional Committee observed an effort to shift the blame from
one element to another. The labor interests sought to place responsibility
for the riots upon the employers, who, they said, had brought great numbers
of Negroes to East St. Louis in order that they might more readily dominate
the employment situation. The employers, on the other hand, thought the
blame rested upon the city and county administration because of laxity in law
enforcement, exploitation of Negroes for political purposes, and all sorts of
political corruption, including the “protection” of vice and crime. The
political ring sought to dodge responsibility by emphasizing economic and
industrial causes of the outbreak.

Whatever may have been the conditions resulting from the influx of
Negroes, they were undoubtedly actuated by a desire to improve their condi-
tion. Some 10,000 or 12,000 Negroes had come to St. Clair County from the
South during the winter of 1916~17. During the year and a half preceding
the riot, the number of such migrants was estimated at 18,000, although it
was reported that many had returned during the winter of 1916-17, because
of the unaccustomed cold climate. It is certain that this influx severely
taxed the housing accommodations of East St. Louis, which were of the insani-
tary and inadequate nature that so often characterizes urban districts in which
the Negroes find that they must live. The report of the Congressional Com-
mittee on this point says:

It is a lamentable fact that the employers of labor paid too little heed to the com-
fort or welfare of their men. They saw them crowded into wretched cabins without
water or any of the conveniences of life, their wives and children condemned to live in
the disreputable quarters of the town, and made no effort to lift them out of the mire.
The Negroes gravitated to the insanitary sections, existed in the squalor of filthy
cabins and made no complaint, but the white workmen had a higher outlook, and
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failure to provide them with better homes added to their bitter dissatisfaction with
the burdens placed upon them by having to compete with black labor.

It is likewise in evidence that special inducements were offered to the
southern Negroes to come to East St. Louis, as well as to other industrial
centers in the North. Advertisements were placed in southern newspapers,
offering employment at wages far in excess of those paid in the South. Low
railroad rates were offered, and in some instances during this general migration
the railroads are said to have transported Negroes free in order that they might
be employed by the railroads. Failures of crops in the South, floods and ill
treatment of Negroes there, coupled with the hope that they would find
fairer treatment in the North, as well as better wages and living conditions,
were the direct causes of migration. After this had become fairly general
it was further stimulated by Negroes who had come North, and who wrote
home painting northern conditions in glowing colors.

From the industrial point of view it should be noted that in the summer
of 1916 there had been a strike of 4,000 white men in the packing-plants of
East St. Louis. It was asserted that Negroes were used in these plants as
strike breakers. A report on the Negro migration by the United States
Department of Labor states that when the strike was ended Negroes were still
employed, and some of the white men lost their positions. It says further:
“The white leaders undoubtedly realized that the effectiveness of striking was
materially lessened by this importation of black workers.”

Furthermore, it is stated in the report of the Congressional Committee
that the Aluminum Ore Company, during a strike, brought hundreds of Negroes
to the city as strike breakers in order to defeat organized labor, “a precedent
which aroused intense hatred and antagonism, and caused countless tragedies
as its aftermath. The feeling of resentment grew with each succeeding day.
White men walked the streets in idleness and their families suffered for food
and warmth and clothes, while their places as laborers were taken by strange
Negroes who were compelled to live in hovels and who were used to keep
down wages.” '

In May, 1917, a strike followed demands which had been made upon the
Aluminum Ore Company by the “Aluminum Ore Employees’ Protective
Association.” These related to alleged injustices and discriminations said
to have been practiced against the employees. The company failed to comply
with these demands, and a thousand white workers struck.

Closely related to this situation was a notice sent to the delegates of the
Central Trades Labor Union by the secretary of the Union, dated May 23,
which declared that the immigration of the southern Negro had reached a
point where “drastic action must be taken if we intend to work and to live
peaceably in this community.” This notice declared that these men were
being used “to the detriment of our white citizens by some of the capitalists
and a few real estate owners.” It called a meeting to present to the mayor
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«and city council a demand for action to “‘retard this growing menace, and also
devlse a way to get rid of a certain portion of those who are already here.”
The notice read further: “This is not a protest against the Negro who has
1ong been a resident of East St. Louis, and is a law abiding citizen.”

" This meeting was held on May 28 in the auditorium of the city hall and
was attended not only by the labor men but also by a large number of other
persons The Congressional Committee refers to one of the speakers at this
meeting as “an attorney of some ability and no character.” The report of
4he Committee says that he virtually advised the killing of Negroes and
purning of their homes. The report says further:

He was not authorized to speak for those who went there to protest against the
fawlessness which disgraced the city and the presence of thousands of Negroes who it
15 claimed were taking the places of the white workmen, but his inflammatory speech
caused many of his hearers to rush into the street and to resort to acts of violence. . .. .
‘He was in full sympathy with the action of the mob. They followed his advice and
the scenes of murder and arson that ensued were the logical result of his utterances.

That night, May 28, following the meeting, a crowd of white people
‘assembled in front of the police station and clamored for Negro prisoners.
A rumor circulated through the crowd that a white man had just been killed
by Negroes, and parts of the crowd left, forming a mob which severely beat
anumber of Negroes whom it met. The situation was so serious that the mayor
«alled for troops. The trouble subsided, however. It is important to note
that from this time until the riot of July 1—2, no effort was made to strengthen
the police force nor were any other steps taken to control the situation.

In connection with the industrial phase of the situation, it should be
remembered that the war had cut off the normal supply of foreign labor, and
that not a few white workers had left East St. Louis for other industrial centers.
Most of the Negro migrants were unskilled workers, and their competition
was, therefore, with the unskilled white workers. One witness before the
Congressional Committee expressed the view that the labor shortage in East
$t. Louis prior to the riot certainly did not justify the great influx of Negroes,
but it is of record that most of the newcomers got profitable employment in
unskilled occupations.

The employers were fighting unions of any sort, whether of whites or
Negroes. Unions were seeking membership of Negroes as well as whites in
the hope that the use of Negroes as strike breakers might be prevented.
Whether union men or not, the white workers resented the influx of Negro
-workers who might take their jobs. The inevitable consequence was friction
‘between whites and Negroes.

The Congressional Committee laid great stress upon corrupt politics as
the leading cause of the riots of July 2. It disclosed an almost unbelievable
combination of shameless corruption, tolerance of vice and crime, maladminis-
itration, and debauchery of the courts. The report says that East St. Louis
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for many years was a plague spot, harboring within its borders “every offenge
in the calendar of crime” and committing openly “every lapse in morals anq
public decency.” Politicians looted its treasury, gave away valuable fray.
chises, and elected plunderers to high office. Graft, collusion with crime anq
vice, and desecration of office were openly and deliberately practiced. Crimj.
nals were attracted and welcomed, and the good people of the community
were powerless. Owners of large corporations and manufacturers pitted white
against black labor, giving no thought to their thousands of workmen living
in hovels, the victims of “poverty and disease, of long hours and incessant
labor.”

The mayor, continues the report, was a tool of dishonest politicians, the
electorate was “debauched,” the police were a conscienceless bunch of grafters,
and the revenue of the city was largely derived from saloons and dens of vice,

Several officials and politicians of high ‘standing were singled out by the
Committee for especial condemnation as the “brains of the city’s corruption,”

A great deal of the city’s crime and vice was concentrated in what is known
as “Black Valley.” This was the section in which the Negroes lived, but
much of the vice and crime was promoted and practiced by vicious whites,
There was much mixing of whites and Negroes in the vilest practices.

Similar conditions existed in the town of Brooklyn near by, with about
3,000 people, of whom only about fifty were white., Its dens of iniquity were
notorious and were the resort of many white people. So openly operated
were these resorts that the Congressional Committee reported that in the
Brooklyn high school “24 out of 25 girls who were in the graduating class
went to the bad in the saloons and dance halls and failed to receive their
diplomas.”

Not only were conditions of this sort demoralizing and degrading for the
decent Negroes, but the sanitary conditions were likewise extremely bad.
Some of the houses in the Negro districts had not been painted for fifteen
years and were in a state of great disrepair. Their setting consisted largely
of pools of stagnant water and beds of weeds. At one period during the
migration Negroes were coming in so fast that even these miserable housing
conditions were inadequate, and some of them were forced to live in sheds.
In one instance sixty-nine newcomers were found living in one small house.
Whenever houses were vacated by white people and rented to Negroes, the
rental price was largely increased, sometimes doubled.

After reviewing the corruption in East St. Louis, the report of the Congres-
sional Committee discussed the riot. It described the condition of affairs
on the night of July 1, 1917, when the second and most serious outbreak
occurred. An automobile (some witnesses said two) went through the Negro
section of the city, its occupants firing promiscuously into homes. This aroused
fierce resentment among the Negroes, who organized for defense and armed
themselves with guns. The ringing of the church bell, a prearranged signal
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for assembling, drew a crowd of them, and they marched through the streets
ready to avenge the attack. A second automobile filled with white men
‘crossed their path. The Negroes cursed them, commanded them 'to drive on,
‘and fired a volley into the machine. The occupants, however, were not the
_rioters but policemen and reporters. One policeman was killed and another
-was so seriously wounded that he died later.

. Thousands viewed the riddled car standing before police headquarters.
‘The early editions of the newspapers gave full accounts of the tragedy, and
on July 2 the rioting began. Negro mobs shot white men, and white men
and boys, girls and women, began to attack every Negro in sight. News
spread rapidly and, as excitement increased, unimaginable depredations and
horrible tortures were committed and viewed with “placid unconcern” by
hundreds. Negro men were stabbed, clubbed, and hanged from telephone
poles. Their homes were burned. Women and children were not spared.
An instance is given of a Negro child two years old which was shot and thrown
into a doorway of a burning building.

On the night of July 1, Mayor Mollman telephoned to the Adjutant
General of Illinois saying that the police were no longer able to handle the
situation and requesting that the militia be sent. Both the police and the
militia are severely censured by the Congressional report for gross failure to
do their duty. The police, says the report, could have quelled the riot instantly,
but instead they either “fled into the safety of cowardly seclusion or listlessly
watched the depredations of the mob, passively and in many instances actively
sharing in the work.”

In all, five companies of the Illinois National Guard were sent to East
St. Louis. Some of them arrived on the morning of July 2, the first at
8:40 A.M. These forces were in command of Colonel S. O. Tripp. Concern-
ing the conduct of the militia, the Congressional Committee reported in strong
terms, singling out Colonel Tripp for especial condemnation. It said that he
was a hindrance instead of a help to the troops; that “he was ignorant of
his duties, blind to his responsibilities and deaf to every intelligent appeal
that was made to him.”

The troops, in the estimation of the Committee, were poorly officered
and in only a few cases did their duty. The report states that “they seemed
moved by the same spirit of indifference or cowardice that marked the conduct
of the police force. As a rule they fraternized with the mob, joked with them
and made no serious effort to restrain them.”

Many instances are given of active participation and encouragement of
the mob in its murders, arson, and general destruction.

The only redeeming feature of the activities of the militia, according to
the Congressional Committee, was “ the conduct, bravery, and skill of the officer
second in command, whose promptness and determination prevented the mob
from committing many more atrocities.”
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By eight o’clock of the evening of July 2 there were seventeen officers ang
270 men on duty, and by July 4 the force had increased to thirty-seven officerg
and 1,411 men. On the evening of July 2 the fury of the mob had spent itself,

and the riot subsided.

' The behavior of the troops was condemned not only by the Congressiona]
Committee but by citizens generally, and a special inquiry was made into thejr
conduct by the Military and Naval Department of the State of Illinojs,
Witnesses to dereliction on duty on the part of the soldiers were examineq
and commanding officers of troops were asked to testify and explain specific
acts of violence and neglect of duty. Inall seventy-nine persons were examined,
Although the charges against the soldiers in a large number of cases were serious
and sufficient to warrant the criticism which they received, identification of
individuals guilty of these acts was difficult. This probably accounts for
the fact that only seven court-martials resulted from the inquiry. The com.
manding officer, though severely censured by the Congressional Committee,
was exonerated by this inquiry.



CHAPTER III
THE MIGRATION OF NEGROES FROM THE SOUTH

I. INTRODUCTION

During the period 1916-18 approximately a half-million Negroes suddenly
moved from southern to northern states. This movement, however, was not
without a precedent. A similar migration occurred in 1879, when Negroes
moved from Mississippi, Louisiana, Texas, Alabama, Tennessee, and North
Carolina to Kansas. The origin of this earlier movement, its causes, and
manner resemble in many respects the one which has so recently attracted
public attention.

The migration of 1916-18 cannot be separated completely from the steady,
though inconspicuous, exodus from southern to northern states that has been in
progress since 1860, or, in fact, since the operation of the““ underground railway.”
In 1900 there were 911,025 Negroes living in the North, 10.3 per cent of the
total Negro population, which was then 8,883,994. Census figures for the
period 1g9oo-1910 show a net loss for southern states east of the Mississippi
of 505,703 Negroes. Of this number 366,880 are found in northern states.
Reliable estimates for the last decade place the increase of northern Negro
population around 500,000.

The 1910-20 increase of the Negro population of Chicago was from 44,103
to 109,504, or 148.5 per cent, with a corresponding increase in the white
population of 21 per cent, including foreign immigration. According to the
Census Bureau method of estimating natural increase of population, the Negro
population of Chicago unaffected by the migration would be 58,056 in 1920,
and the increase by migration alone would be 51,538.

The relative 1910-20 increases in white and Negro population in typical
industrial cities of the Middle West, given in Table II, illustrate the effect of
the migration of southern Negroes.

The migration to Chicago.—Within a period of eighteen months in 1917-18
more than 50,000 Negroes came to Chicago according to an estimate based
on averages taken from actual count of daily arrivals. All of those who came,
however, did not stay. Chicago was a re-routing point, and many immi-
grants went on to nearby cities and towns. During the heaviest period,
for example, a Detroit social agency reported that hundreds of Negroes applying
there for work stated that they were from Chicago. The tendency appears
to have been to reach those fields offering the highest present ‘wages and
permanent prospects,

79
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TABLE II
Negroes P eans” | Tof b
. Increase, Increase,
1910 1920 1510~20 1910—20
Cincinnati, Ohio. .. .. 19,630 29,636 50.9 8.0
Dayton, Ohio. ...... 4,842 9,029 86.5 28.0
Toledo, Ohio........ 1,877 5,600 203.1 42.5
Fort Wayne, Ind. ... 572 1,476 158.0 34.3
Canton, Ohio........ 201 1,349 363.6 71.7
Gary,Ind........... 383 5,200 | 1,283.6 205.1
Detroit, Mich....... 5,741 41,532 623.4 | 106.9
Chicago, Il. ........ 44,103 | 109,504 148.5 21.0

II. CAUSES OF THE MIGRATION

A series of circumstances acting together in an unusual combination both
provoked and made possible the migration of Negroes from the South on a’
large scale. The causes of the movement fall into definite divisions, even
as stated by the migrants themselves. For example, one of the most frequent
causes mentioned by southern Negroes for their change of home is the treatment:
accorded them in the South. Vet this treatment of which they complain
has been practiced since their emancipation, and fifty years afterward more
than nine-tenths of the Negro population of the United States still remained
in the South. *“Higher wages” was also commonly stated as a cause of the
movement, yet thousands came to the North and to Chicago who in the South
had been earning more in their professions and even in skilled occupations
than they expected to receive in the North. These causes then divide into
two main classes: (1) economic causes, (2) sentimental causes. Each has a
bearing on both North and South. The following statements are based on
reports prepared by trustworthy agencies during the migration, on letters and
statements from migrants, Negroes and whites living in the South and the
North, and on family history obtained by the Commission’s investigators.

1. ECONOMIC CAUSES OF THE MIGRATION
A, THE SOUTH ,

Low wages.—Wages of Negroes in the South varied from 75 cents a day

on the farms to $1.75 a day in certain city jobs, in the period just preceding
1914. The rise in living costs which followed the outbreak of the war out-
stripped the rise in wages. In Alabama the price paid for day labor in the
twenty-one “black belt” counties averaged 50 and 6o cents a day. It ra.ngéi;i’
from 4o cents, as a minimum, to 75 cents, and, in a few instances, $1.00
was a maximuni for able-bodied male farm hands.
A Negro minister, writing in the Montgomery (Alabama) Advertiser, sai

The Negro farm hand gets for his compensation hardly more than the mule he
plows; that is, his board and shelter. Some mules fare better than Negroes, Thiss

* Negro migration in 1916~17, U.S. Department of Labor Report, p- 67.
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o0, in spite of the fact that the money received for farm products has advanced
.morethan 100 per cent. The laborer has not shared correspondingly in this advance.
°  High rents and low wages have driven the Negro off the farms. They have no
:;encouragement to work. Only here and there you will find a tenant who is getting
Ea square deal and the proper encouragement.

A white man, writing in the same paper, said:

There is an article in today’s Adverisser headed “Exodus of the Negroes to Be
‘Probed. ?” Why hunt for a cause when it’s plain as the noonday sun the Negro is
Jeaving this country for higher wages? He doesn’t want to leave here but he knows
:if he stays here he will starve. They have made no crops, they have nothing to eat,
no clothes, no shoes, and they can’t get any work to do, and they are leaving just as
{ast as they can get away. . . . . If the Negro race could get work at 5o cents per
day he would stay here. He don’t want to go. He is easily satisfied and will live
on half rations and will never complain. :

The Atlanta Independent, white, said:

If our white neighbors will treat the Negro kindly, recognizing his rights as a
man, advance his wages in proportion as the cost of living advances, he will need
no ordinance nor legislation to keep the Negro here. The South is his natural home,
He prefers to be here, he loves its traditions, its ideals and its people. But he cannot
stay here and starve. . . . .

When meat was 15 cents a pound and flour $8 a barrel, the Negro received from
$1to $8 a week. Now meat is 30 cents a pound and flour $16 a barrel, and the Negro
is receiving the same wages. He cannot live on this and the white man cannot expect
him to live in the South and live on the starvation wages he is paying him, when the
fields and the factories in the North are offering him living wages.

The boll weevil.—In 1915 and 1916 the boll weevil cotton pest so ravaged
sections of the South that thousands of farmers were almost ruined. Cotton
crops were lost, and the farmers were forced to change from cotton to food
products. The growing of cotton requires about thirty times as many ‘“hands”
as food products. As a result many Negroes were thrown out of employment.
The damage wrought by the boll weevil was augmented by destructive storms
and floods, which not only affected crops but made the living conditions of
Negroes more miserable.

Lack of capital.—The “credit system” is a very convenient and common
practice in many parts of the South. Money is borrowed for upkeep until
the selling season, when it is repaid in one lump sum. The succession of short
crops and the destruction due to the boll weevil and storms occasioned heavy
demands for capital to carry labor through the fall and early winter until a
‘new crop could be started. There was a shortage of capital, and as a result
there was little opportunity for work. During this period many white persons
migrated from sections of the South most seriously affected.

“Unsatisfactory” living conditions.—The plantation cabins and segregated
sections in cities where municipal laxity made home surroundings undesirable
have been stated as another contributing cause of the movement.
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Lack of school facilities—The desire to place their children in good schoolg
was a reason often given by migrants with families for leaving the South,
School facilities are described as lamentably poor even by southern Wwhites,
Perhaps the most thorough statement of these conditions is given in a Study
of Negro Education by Thomas Jesse Jones, made under the direction of the
federal Bureau of Education, and comparing provisions for white and Negro
children in fifteen southern states and the District of Columbia. He states:

In the South they [Negroes] form 29.8 per cent of the total population, the
proportion in Mississippi and South Carolina being over 55 per cent and ranging in
the “black belt” counties from 50 to go per cent of the total population. Almost
3,000,000 are engaged in agricultural pursuits. They form 40.4 per cent of all persons
engaged in these pursuits in the Southern States.

Though the United States census shows a decrease in illiteracy, there are stil]
about 2,225,000 Negroes illiterate in the South, or over 33 per cent of the Negro
population ten years of age and over.

TABLE 111

White Colored
Total population.......c.o.ooiiiiiin . 23,682,352 8,900,879
Population six to fourteen yearsofage................ 4,889,762 2,023,108
Population six to fourteen®........................... 3,552,431 1,852,181
Teachers’ salaries in public schools.................... $36,649,827 $5,860,876
Teachers’ salaries per child six to fourteen............. $10.32 $2.89
Per centof illiteracy. ... ..., 7.7 33.3
Percentrural. . ... ... 76.9 78.8

*1In 1,055 counties,

In the fifteen states and the District of Columbia for which salaries by race
could be obtained, the public school teachers received $42,510,431 in salaries. Of
this sum $36,649,827 was for the teachers of 3,552,431 white children and $5,860,876
for teachers of 1,852,181 colored children. On a per capita basis, this is $10.32 for
each white child and $2.89 for each colored child.

TABLE 1V

County Groups, Percentage of Negroes White School [Negro School] Per Capita | Per Capita

in the Population Population Population for White for Negro
Counties under ropercent.............. 974,289 45,039 | % 7.06 $7.23
Counties 1o to 25 percent.............. 1,008,372 215,744 9.55 5.55
Counties 25 to sopercent. ............. 1,132,009 | 709,259 11.11 3.I9
Counties 50 to 75 percent. ............. 364,090 | 661,320 12.53 1.77
Counties 75 per cent and over........... 40,003 | 207,900 22.22 1.78

The supervisor of white elementary rural schools in one of the states recently
wrote concerning the Negro schools:

“I never visit one of these [Negro] schools without feeling that we are wasting
a large part of this money and are neglecting a great opportunity. The Negro school-
houses are miserable beyond all description. They are usually without comfort,
equipment, proper lighting, or sanitation. Nearly all of the Negroes of school age
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in the district are crowded into these miserable structures during the short term
which the school runs. Most of the teachers are absolutely untrained and have been
given certificates by the county board, not because they have passed the examination,
but because it is necessary to have some kind of a Negro teacher. Among the Negro
rural schools which I have visited, I have found only one in which the highest class
knew the multiplication table.”

A state superintendent writes:

“There has never been any serious attempt in this state to offer adequate educa-
tional facilities for the colored race. The average length of the term for the state
is only four months; practically all of the schools are taught in dilapidated churches,
which, of course, are not equipped with suitable desks, blackboards, and the other
essentials of a school; practically all of the teachers are incompetent, possessing
little or no education and having had no professional training whatever, except a few
weeks obtained in the summer schools; the schools are generally overcrowded,
some of them having as many as roo students to the teacher; no attempt is made to
do more than teach the children to read, write, and figure, and these subjects are
learned very imperfectly. There are six or eight industrial supervisors financed in
whole or in part by the Jeanes Fund; most of these teachers are stimulating the
Negro schools to do very good work upon the practical things of life. A few wide-
awake Negro teachers not connected with the Jeanes Fund are doing the same thing.
1t can probably be truthfully said that the Negro schools are gradually improving,
but they are still just about as poor and inadequate as they can be.”

Commenting on the cause of the migration, the Aflanta Constitution, a
prominent southern white paper, says:

While mob violence and the falsehood which has been built upon that foundation
constitutes, perhaps, a strong factor in the migration of the Negroes, there is scarcely
a doubt that the educational feature enters into it. Negroes induced to go to the
North undoubtedly believe they can secure better educational facilities there for their
children, whether they really succeed in getting them or not.

Georgia, as well as other southern states, is undoubtedly behind in the matter
of Negro education, unfair in the matter of facilities, in the quality of teachers and
instructors, and in the pay of those expected to impart proper instruction to N egro
children,

We have proceeded upon the theory that education would, in his own mind, at
least, carry the Negro beyond his sphere; that it would give him higher ideas of himself
and make of him a poorer and less satisfactory workman. That is nonsense

B. 'THE NORTH

The cessation of immigration.—Prior to the war the yearly immigration to
the United States equaled approximately the total Negro population of the
North. Foreign labor filled the unskilled labor field, and N egroes were held
closely in domestic and personal-service work. The cessation of immigration
and the return of thousands of aliens to their mother-country, together with
the opening of new industries and the extension of old ones, created a much
greater demand for American labor. Employers looked to the South for
Negroes and advertised for them.
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High wages.—Wages for unskilled work in the North in 1916 and 191y
ranged from $3.00 to $8.00 a day. There were shorter hours of work and
opportunity for overtime and bonuses.

Living conditions.—Houses available for Negroes in the North, though
by northern standards classed as unsanitary and unfit for habitation, afforded
greater comforts than the rude cabins of the plantation. For those who had
owned homes in the South there was the opportunity of selling them and
applying the money to payment for a good home in the North.

Identical school privileges—Co-education of whites and Negroes in northern
schools made possible a higher grade of instruction for the children of migrants:

2. SENTIMENTAL CAUSES OF THE MIGRATION

The causes classed as sentimental include those which have reference to
the feelings of Negroes concerning their surroundings in the South and their
reactions to the social systems and practices of certain sections of the South.
Frequently these causes were given as the source of an old discontent among
Negroes concerning the South. Frequently they took prominence over
economic causes, and they were held for the most part by a fairly high class
of Negroes. These causes are in part as follows:

Lack of protection from mob wviolence—Between 1885 and 1918, 2,881
Negroes were lynched in the United States, more than 85 per cent of these
lynchings occurring in the South. In 1917, 2,500 Negroes were driven by
force out of Dawson and Forsythe counties, Georgia.?

The Chicago Urban League reported that numbers of migrants from towns
where lynchings had occurred registered for jobs in Chicago very shortly
after lynchings. Concerning mob violence and general insecurity both whites
and Negroes living in the South have had much to say. Their statements
at the time of the migration are here quoted.

From the Atlenta Constitution (white), November 24, 1916:

Current dispatches from Albany, Georgia, in the center of the section apparently
most affected, and where efforts are being made to stop the exodus by spreading
correct information among the Negroes, say:

The heaviest migration of Negroes has been from those counties in which there
have been the worst outbreaks against Negroes. 1t is developed by investigation that
where there have been lynchings, the Negroes have been most eager to believe what
the emigration agents have told them of plots for the removal or extermination of the
race. Comparatively few Negroes have left Dougherty County, which is considered
significant in view of the fact that this is one of the counties in southwest Georgia
in which a lynching has never occurred.

These statements are most significant. Mob law as we have known in Georgia
has furnished emigration agents with all the leverage they want; it is a foundation
upon which it is easy to build with a well concocted lie or two, and they have not
been slow to take advantage of it.

1 See “Contacts in Public Schools.” 2 Colored Missions, January, 1g21.
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This loss of her best labor is another penalty Georgia is paying for her indifference
and inactivity in suppressing mob law.

From the Southwestern Christian Advocate (Negro), April 26, 1917:

But why do they [the Negroes] go? We give a concrete answer: some months

ago Anthony Crawford, a highly respectable, honest and industrious N egro, with a
- good farm and holdings estimated to be worth $300,000, was lynched in’ Abbeville,
South Carolina. He was guilty of no crime. He would not be cheated out of his
cotton. That was insolence. He must be taught a lesson. When the mob went
for him he defended himself. They overpowered him and brutally lynched him.
This murder was without excuse and was condemned in no uncertain words by the
Governor, other high officials and the press in general of South Carolina. Officials
pledged that the lynchers would be punished. The case went to the grand jury.
Mr. Crawford was lynched in the daytime and dragged through the streets by
- unmasked men. The names of the leaders were supposed to have been known, and
yet the grand jury, under oath, says that it could not find sufficient evidence to warrant
an indictment. . . . .

Is any one surprised that Negroes are leaving South Carolina by the thousands ?
The wonder is that any of them remain. They will suffer in the North. Some of
them will die. But Anthony Crawford did not get a chance to die in Abbeville,
South Carolina. He was shamefully murdered. Any place would be paradise

compared with some sections of the South where the Negroes receive such maltreat-
* ment.

From the Savannak (Georgia) Morning News (white), January 3, 1917:

Another cause is the feeling of insecurity. The lack of legal protection in the
country is a constant nightmare to the colored people who are trying to accumulate
a comfortable little home and farm. There is scarcely a Negro mother in the country
who does not live in dread and fear that her husband or son may come in unfriendly
contact with some white person as to bring the lynchers or the arresting officers to
her door which may result in the wiping out of her entire family. It must beacknowl-
edged that this is a sad condition. . . . .

The Southern white man ought to be willing to give the Ni egro a man’s chance
without regard to his race or color, give him at least the same protection of law given
to anyone else. If he will not do this, the Negro must seek those Ni orth or West,

who will give him better wages and better treatment. I hope, however, that this
will not be necessary.

Injustice in the courts—An excerpt from one of the newspapers of that
period illustrates the basis of this cause:

While our very solvency is being sucked out from underneath we go out about
affairs as usual—our police officers raid poolrooms for “loafing Negroes,”

bring in
twelve, keep them in the barracks all night, and next morning find that many of them

have steady, regular jobs, valuable assets to their white employers, suddenly left and
gone to Cleveland, “where they don’t arrest fifty niggers for what three of ’em done”
[Montgomery (Alabama) Advertiser (white), September 21, 1916].

Inferior transporation facilities—This refers to “Jim Crow cars,”

. . - a par-
titioned section of one railway car, usually the baggage car, and part

itioned
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sections of railway waiting-rooms, poorly kept, bearing signs, “For colored
only.” This dissatisfaction is expressed in part in the following comment
of a Negro presiding elder, writing in the Macon (Georgia) Ledger, a white
paper:

The petty offenses, which you mention, are far more numerous than you are
aware of, besides other unjust treatments enacted daily on the streets, street cars
and trains. Our women are inhumanly treated by some conductors, both on the street
cars and trains. White men are often found in compartments for Negroes smoking,
and if anything is said against it they who speak are insulted, or the car is purposely
filled with big puffs of smoke and the conductor’s reply is, “He’ll quit to-rectly,”
Recently a white man entered a trailer for Negroes with two little dogs. One of the
dogs went between the seats and crouched by a woman; she pushed him from her
and the white man took both dogs and set them aside her and she was forced to ride
with them. This is one of the many, many acts of injustice which often result in a
row for which the Negro has to pay the penalty. These things are driving the Negro
from the South.

Other causes stated are (¢) the deprivation of the right to vote, (&) the
“rough-handed’ and unfair competition of ““poor whites,” (c) persecution by
petty officers of the law, and (d) the “persecution of the Press.”

III. BEGINNING AND SPREAD OF MIGRATION

The enormous proportions to which the exodus grew obscure its beginning,
Several experiments had been tried with southern labor in the Northeast,
particularly in the Connecticut tobacco fields and in Pennsylvania. In
Connecticut, Negro students from the southern schools had been employed
during summers with great success. Early in 1916, industries in Pennsylvania
imported many Negroes from Georgia and Florida. During July one railroad
company stated that it had brought to Pennsylvania more than 13,000 Negroes.
They wrote back for their friends and families, and from the points to which
they had been brought they spread out into new and ““labor slack” territories,
Once begun, this means of recruiting labor was used by hard-pressed
industries in other sections of the North. The reports of high wages, of the
unexpected welcome of the North, and of unusually good treatment accorded
Negroes spread throughout the South from Georgia and Florida to Texas.

The stimuli of suggestion and hysteria gave the migration an almost
religious significance, and it became a mass movement. Letters, rumors,
Negro newspapers, gossip, and other forms of social control operated to add
volume and enthusiasm to the exodus. Songs and poems of the period charac-
terized the migration as the “Flight Out of Egypt,” “Bound for the Promised
Land,” “Going into Canaan,” “The Escape from Slavery,” etc.

The first movement was from Southeast to Northeast, following main
lines of transportation. Soon, however, it became known that the Middle
West was similarly in need of men. Many industries advertised for southern
Negroes in Negro papers. The federal Department of Labor for a period was
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instrumental in transporting Negroes from the South to relieve the labor
shortage in other sections of the country, but discontinued such efforts when
southern congressmen pointed out that the South’s labor supply was being
depleted. It was brought out in the East St. Louis riot inquiry that plants
there had advertised in Texas newspapers for Negro laborers.

Chicago was the logical destination of Negroes from Mississippi, Arkansas,
Alabama, Louisiana, and Texas, because of the more direct railway lines, the
way in which the city had become known in these sections through its two
great mail-order houses, the Stock Yards, and the packing-plants with their
numerous storage houses scattered in various towns and cities of the South.
It was rumored in these sections that the Stock Vards needed 50,000 men;
it was said that temporary housing was being provided by these hard-pressed
industries. Many Negroes came to the city on free transportation, but by far
the greater numbers paid their own fare. Club rates offered by the railroads
brought the fare within reach of many who ordinarily could not have brought
their families or even come themselves. The organization into clubs composed
of from ten to fifty persons from the same community had the effect, on the
one hand, of adding the stimulus of intimate persuasion to the movement, and,
on the other hand, of concentrating solid groups in congested spots in Chicago.

A study of certain Negro periodicals shows a powerful influence on southern
Negroes already in a state of unsettlement over news of the “opening up of
the North.”

The Chicago Defender became a “herald of glad tidings” to southern

Negroes. Several cities attempted to prevent its circulation among their
Negro population and confiscated the street- and store-sales supplies as fast
as they came. Negroes then relied upon subscription copies delivered through
the mails. There are reports of the clandestine circulation of copies of the
paper in bundles of merchandise. A correspondent.of the Defender wrote:
“White people are paying more attention to the race in order to keep them in
‘the South, but the Chicago Defender has emblazoned upon their minds ‘Bound
for the Promised Land.””’
. In Guliport, Mississippi, it was stated, a man was regarded “intelligent”
if he read the Defender, and in Laurel, Mississippi, it was said that old men
‘who had never known how to read, bought the paper simply because it was
‘regarded as precious.

~ Articles and headlines carrying this special appeal which appeared in the
Defender are quoted:
' Wuy SHourp TEE NEGRO STAY IN THE SouTH?

WEST INDIANS LIVE NORTH

It is true the South is nice and warm, and may I add, so is China, and we find

mamen living in the North, East, and West. So is Japan, but the Japanese are
diving everywhere.

* Johnson, Migration to Chicago.
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SCHOOL BOARDS BAD

‘While in Arkansas a member of the school board in one of the cities of that state
(and it is said it is the rule throughout the South that a Race woman teacher to holg
her school must be on friendly terms with some one of them) lived openly with 5
Race woman, and the entire Race, men and women, were afraid to protest or stop
their children from going to school, because this school board member would get up
a mob and run them out of the state. They must stomach this treatment.

FROZEN DEATH BETTER

To die from the bite of frost is far more glorious than that of the mob. I beg
of you, my brothers, to leave that benighted land. You are free men. Show the world
that you will not let false leaders lead you. Your neck has been in the yoke. Wil
you continue to keep it there because some ‘white folks Nigger” wants you to?
Leave to all quarters of the globe. Get out of the South. Your being there in the
numbers you are gives the southern politician too strong a hold on your progress,

TURN DEAF EAR

Turn a deaf ear to everybody. You see they are not lifting their laws to help
you, are they? Have they stopped their Jim Crow cars? Can you buy a Pullman
sleeper where you wish? Will they give you a square deal in court yet? When 3
girl is sent to prison, she becomes the mistress of the guards and others in authority,
and women prisoners are put on the streets to work, something they don’t do to a
white woman. And your leaders will tell you the South is the best place for you,
Turn a deaf ear to the scoundrel, and let him stay. Above all, see to it that that
jumping-jack preacher is left at the South, for he means you no good here at the North,

GOOD-BYE, DIXIE LAND

One of our dear southern friends informs an anxious public that *“the Negroes of
the North seem to fit very well into their occupations and locations, but the southern
Negro will never make a success in the North. He doesn’t understand the methods
there, the people and the work are wholly unsuited to him. Give him a home in
the South where climatic conditions blend into his peculiar physical makeup, where
he is understood and can understand, and let him have a master and you have given
him the ideal home.” There is the solution of the problem in a nutshell, This dear
friend thinks that under a master back of the sugar cane and cotton fields, we might
really be worth something to the world. How thoughtful to point out the way for
our stumbling feet.

Those who live in the North presumably always lived there, and, like Topsy,
they “just growed” in that section, so naturally fit well into their occupations.
There is such a difference between the white man and the black man of the South;
the former can travel to the North Pole if he chooses without being affected, the latter,
“they say ” will die of a million dread diseases if he dares to leave Dixie land, and yet
the thousands who have migrated North in the past year look as well and hearty
as they ever did. Something is wrong in our friend’s calculations.

We hear again and again of our ““peculiar physical makeup.” Is there something
radically different about us that is not found in other people? Why the constant
fear of Negro supremacy if the white brain is more active and intelligent than the
brain found in the colored man? A good lawyer never fears a poor one in a court



THE MIGRATION OF NEGROES FROM THE SOUTH 89

battle—he knows that he has him bested from the start. The fact that we have
made good wherever and whenever given an opportunity, we admit, is a little dis-
quieting, but it is a way we have, and is hard to get out of. Once upon a time we
permitted other people to think for us—today we are thinking and acting for ourselves,
with the result that our ‘‘friends” are getting alarmed at our progress. We'd like
to oblige these unselfish ( ?) souls and remain slaves in the South, but to other sections
of the country we have said, as the song goes: “I hear you calling me,”” and boarded
the train singing, “Good-by to Dixie-Land.”

News articles in the Defender kept alive the enthusiasm and fervor of the
exodus:
LEAVING FOR THE NORTH

Tampa, Fla., Jan. 19.—J. T. King, supposed to be a race leader, is using his
wits to get on the good side of the white people by calling a meeting to urge our
people not to migrate North. King has been termed a “ good nigger” by his pernicious
activity on the emigration question. Reports have been received here that all who
have gone North are at work and pleased with the splendid conditions in the North.
It is known here that in the North there is a scarcity of labor, mills and factories
are open to them. People are not paying any attention to King and are packing
and ready to travel North to the “promised land.”

DETERMINED TO GO NORTH

Jackson, Miss., March 23.—Although the white police and sheriff and others
are using every effort to intimidate the citizens from going North, even Dr. Redmond’s
speech was circulated around, this has not deterred our people from leaving. Many
have walked miles to take the train for the North. There is a determination to leave
and there is no hand save death to keep them from it.

THOMAS LIKES THE NORTH

J. H. Thomas, Birmingham, Ala., Brownsville Colony, has been here several
weeks and is very much pleased with the North. He is working at the Pullman
shops, making twice as much as he did at bome. Mr. Thomas says the “exodus”
will be greater later on in the year, that he did not find four feet of snow or would
freeze to death. He lives at 346 East Thirty-ifth St.

LEAVING FOR THE EAST

Huntsville, Ala., Jan. 19.—Fifteen families, all members of the Race, left here
today for Pittsburgh, Pa., where they will take positions as butlers, and maids,
getting sixty to seventy-five dollars per month, against fifteen and twenty paid here,
Most of them claim that they have letters from their friends who went early and made
good, saying that there was plenty of work, and this field of labor is short, owing to
the vast amount of men having gone to Europe and not returned.

THEY'RE LEAVING MEMPHIS IN DROVES

Some are coming on the passenger,
Some are coming on the freight,
Others will be found walking,

For none have time to wait.
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Other headlines read: “Thousands Leave Memphis”; “Still Planning
to Come North”; “Northbound Their Cry.” These articles are especially
interesting for the impelling power of the suggestion of a great mass move-
ment.

Denunciation of the South.—The idea that the South is a bad place, unfit
for the habitation of Negroes, was “played up”’ and emphasized by the Defender.
Conditions most distasteful to Negroes were given first prominence. In this
it had a clear field, for the local southern Negro papers dared not make such
unrestrained utterances. Articles of this type appeared:

EXODUS TO START

Forest City, Ark., Feb. 16.—David B. Smith (white) is on trial for life for the
brutal murder of a member of the Race, W. H. Winford, who refused to be whipped
like others. This white man had the habit of making his “slave” submit to this
sort of punishment and when Winford refused to stand for it, he was whipped to
death with a “black snake” whip. The trial of Smith is attracting very little atten-
tion. As a matter of fact, the white people here think nothing of it as the dead man
is a ““nigger.”

This very act, coupled with other recent outrages that have been heaped upon
our people, are causing thousands to leave, not waiting for the great spring movement
in May.

The Defender had a favorite columnist, W. Allison Sweeney. His specialty
was “breaking southerners and ‘white folks’ niggers on the wheel.” One of
his articles in the issue of June 23, 1917, was captioned: ‘A Chicago ‘Nigger’
Preacher, a ‘Feeder,’ of The ‘Little Hells,” Springs up to Hinder Our Brethren
Coming North.”

A passage from this article will illustrate the temper of his writings. Aroused
by what be calls a “white folks nigger,”” he remarks:

Such a creature has recently been called to my attention, and for the same

reason that an unchecked rat has been known to jeopardize the life of a great ship,
a mouse’s nibble of a match to set a mansion aflame, I’ve concluded to carve a

“Slice of liver or two”

from that bellowing ass, who, at this very moment no doubt, somewhere in the South,
is going up and down the land, telling the natives why they should be content, as the
Tribune, puts it, to become “Russianized,” to remain in that land—to them—of
blight; of murdered kin, deflowered womanhood, wrecked homes, strangled ambitions,
make-believe schools, roving *‘gun parties,” midnight arrests, rifled virginity, trumped
up charges, lonely graves, where owls hoot, and where friends dare not go! Do you
wonder at the thousands leaving the land where every foot of ground marks a tragedy,
leaving the grave of their fathers and all that is dear, to seek their fortunes in the
North? And you who say that their going is to seek better wages are insulting
truth, dethroning reason, and consoling yourself with a groundless allegation.

Retaliation.—In answer to the warnings of the South against the rigors of
the northern winters, articles of this nature appeared:
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FREEZING TO DEATH IN THE SOUTH

So much has been said through the white papers in the South about the members

of the race freezing to death in the North. They freeze to death down South when
" they don’t take care of themselves. There is no reason for any human staying in
the Southland on this bugaboo handed out by the white press, when the following
clippings are taken from the same journals:

AGED NEGRO FROZEN TO DEATH

Albany, Ga., Feb. 8. —Yesterday the dead body of Peter Crowder, an old Negro,
was found in an out-of-the-way spot where he had been frozen to death during the
recent cold snap [from the Macon (Georgia) Telegraph].

DIES FROM EXPOSURE

Spartanburg, Feb. 6.—Marshall Jackson, 2 Negro man, who lived on the farm of

J. T. Harris near Campobello Sunday night froze to death [from the South Carolina
State).

NEGRO FROZEN TO DEATH IN FIRELESS GRETNA HUT

Coldest weather of the last four years claimed a victim Friday night, when
Archie Williams, a Negro, was frozen to death in his bed in a little hut in the outskirts
of Gretna, [from the New Orleans Iiem, dated Feb. 4th].

NEGRO WOMAN FROZEN TO DEATH MONDAY

Harriet Tolbert, an aged Negro woman, was frozen to death in her home at 18
Garibaldi Street early Monday morning during the severe cold {Atlanta (Ga.) Consti-
tution, dated Feb. 6].

If you can freeze to death in the North and be free, why freeze to death in the
South and be a slave, where your mother, sister, and daughter are raped and burned
at stake, where your father, brother and son are treated with contempt and hung to
apole, riddled with bullets at the least mention that he does not like the way he has
been treated ?

Come North then, all of you folks, both good and bad. If you don’t behave
yourself up here, the jails will certainly make you wish youhad. For the hard working
man there is plenty of work—if you really want it. The Defender says come.

Still in another mood:
DIED, BUT TOOK ONE WITH HIM

Alexandria, La., Sept. 29.—Joe Pace (white) a southern workman, who had a
way of bulldozing members of the Race employed by the Elizabeth Lumber Company,
met his match here last Saturday night.

Pace got into one of his moods and kicked a fellow named Israel, Israel deter-
mined to get justice some way and knowing that the courts were only for white men

tin this part of the country, he took a shot at Pace and his aim was good.

Another type of article appeared. In keeping with the concept of the
South as a bad place for Negroes, their escape from it under exceptional

circumstances was given unique attention. Thus, there were reported the
following kind of cases.
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SAVED FROM THE SOUTH
Lawyers Save Another from Being Taken South

SAVED FROM THE SOUTH
Charged with Murder, but His Release Is Secured by Habeas Corpus

New SceeMe 1o KEEP RACE MEN IN Dixie LanD

A piece of poetry which received widespread popularity appeared in the
Defender under the title “Bound for the Promise Land.” Other published
poems expressing the same sentiment were: “Farewell, We're Good and Gone”;
“Northward Bound’’; “The Land of Hope.”

Five young men were arraigned before Judge E. Schwartz for reading poetry
The police claim they were inciting riot in the city and over Georgia. Two of the men
were sent to Brown farm for thirty days, a place not fit for human beings. Tom
Amaca was arrested for having “Bound for the Promise Land,” a poem published i
the Defender several months ago. J. N. Chislom and A. A. Walker were arrested
because they were said to be the instigators of the movement of the race to the Noi'th,

where work is plentiful and better treatment is given,

The “Great Northern Drive.”—The setting of definite dates was another
stimulus. The “Great Northern Drive” was scheduled to begin May 13,
1917. This date, or the week following, corresponds with the date of the
heaviest arrivals in the North, the period of greatest temporary congestion
and awakening of the North to the presence of the new arrivals. Letters to
the Chicago Defender and to social agencies in the North informed them of
many Negroes who were preparing to come in the *“ Great Drive.” The follow-
ing letter tells its own story:

April 24th, 1917
Mr. R. S. Abbot .

Smr: I have been reading the Defender for one year or more and last February
I read about the Great Northern Drive to take place May 15th on Thursday and
now I can hear so many people speaking of an excursion to the North on the 15th
of May for $3.00. My husband is in the North already working, and he wants us:
to come up in May, so I want to know if it is true about the excursion. I am getting:
ready and oh so many others also, and we want to know is that true so we can bein"
the Drive. So please answer at once. We are getting ready.

Yours,

Usually the dates set were for Wednesday and Saturday nights, following
pay days. :
It is probably no exaggerauon to say that the Defender’s policy prompted
thousands of restless Negroes to venture North, where they were assured of
its protection and championship of their cause. Many migrants in Chicago.
attribute their presence in the North to the Defender’s encouraging pictures.
of relief from conditions at home with which they became increasingly dis
satisfied as they read. '
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IV. THE ARRIVAL IN CHICAGO

At the time of the migration the great majority of Negroes in Chicago

glved in a limited area on the South Side, principally between Twenty-second

snd Thirty-ninth streets, Wentworth Avenue and State Street, and in scattered
;groups to Cottage Grove Avenue on the east. State Street was thé main
ghoroughfare Prior to the influx of southern Negroes, many houses stood
g;aca.nt in the section west of State Street, from which Negroes had moved
When better houses became available east of State Street. Into these old and
ﬁequenﬂy almost uninhabitable houses the first newcomers moved. Because
mf its proximity to the old vice area this district had an added undesirability
for old Chicagoans. The newcomers, however, were unacquainted with its
geputatlon and had no hesitancy about moving in until better homes could
%be secured. As the number of arrivals increased, a scarcity of houses followed,
@eatmg a problem of acute congestion.
! During the summer of 1917 the Chicago Urban League made a canvass
of real estate dealers supplying houses for Negroes, and found that in a single
day there were 664 Negro applicants for houses, and only fifty houses avail-
gble. In some instances as many as ten persons were listed for a single house.
This condition did not continue long. There were counted thirty-six new neigh-
borhoods formerly white, opening up to Negroes within three months.
: At the same time rents increased from 5 to 3o and sometimes as much as
?so percent. Amore detailed study of living conditions among the early migrants
in Chicago was made by the Chicago School of Civics and Philanthropy.
The inquiry included seventy-five families of less than a year’s residence.
In the group were sixty married couples, 128 children, eight women, nine
mamed men with families in the South. Of these migrants forty-five families
wame from rural and thirty-two from urban localities. The greatest number,
iwenty-nine, came from Alabama; twenty-five were from Mississippi, eleven
drom Louisiana, five from Georgia, four from Arkansas, two from Tennessee,
,and one from Florida. Forty-one of these seventy-five families were each
ihvmg inoneroom. These rooms were rented by the week, thus making possible
ian easy change of home at the first opportunity.
f_\ It was at this period that the greatest excitement over the
*hordes of Negroes”” prevailed.
¢ A significant feature was the large number of young children found. The
%age distribution of 128 children in these seventy-five families was forty-seven
Q\mder seven years, forty-one between seven and fourteen years, and forty
@ver fourteen years.
Most of these children were of school age and had come from districts in
%ﬂle South which provided few school facilities. The parents were unaccustomed
gio the requirements of northern schools in matters of discipline, attendance,
%ﬁﬂd scholarship. Considerable difficulty was experienced by teachers, parents,
#nd children in these first stages of adjustment.

“incoming
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V. ADJUSTMENTS TO CHICAGO LIFE

Meeting actual conditions of life in Chicago brought its exaltations and
disillusionments to the migrants. These were reflected in the schools, public
amusement places, industry, and the street cars. The Chicago Urban League,
- Negro churches, and Negro newspapers assumed the task of making the
migrants into “city folk.” The increase in church membership indicateg
prompt efforts to re-engage in community life and establish agreeable and
helpful associations. It also reflects the persistence of religious life among
the migrants. This increase is shown in Table V.

Adjustment to new conditions was taken up by the Urban League as its
principal work. Co-operating with the Travelers Aid Society, United Charities,
and other agencies of the city, it met the migrants at stations and, as far ag
its facilities permitted, secured living quarters and jobsfor them. The churches
took them into membership and attempted to make them feel at home. N egro

TABLE V
INCREASE IN MEMBERSHIP DUR~
ING MIGRATION PERIOD
Namz or CaURCE
Number Percentage
Salem........... ... .. ... ... 700 51
Olivet. .......................... 5,543 8o
SouthPark....................... 2,428 1,872
St.Mark’s....................... 1,800 100
HydePark....................... 95 131
Bethel........................... 650 8oo
Walters. ..., 351 338

newspapers published instructions on dress and conduct and had great influence
in smoothing down improprieties of manner which were likely to provoke
criticism and intolerance in the city.

Individual experiences of the migrants in this period of adjustment were
often interesting. The Commission made a special effort to note these experi-
ences for the light they throw upon the general process. Much of the adjust-
ment was a double process, including the adjustment of rural southern Negroes
to northern urban conditions. It is to be remembered that over 70 per cent
of the Negro population of the South is rural. This means familiarity with
rural methods, simple machinery, and plain habits of living. Farmers and
plantation workers coming to Chicago had to learn new tasks. Skilled crafts-
men had to relearn their trades when they were thrown amid the highly
specialized processes of northern industries. Domestic servants went into
industry. Professional men who followed their clientéle had to re-establish
themselves in a new community. The small business men could not compete
with the Jewish merchants, who practically monopolized the trade of Negroes
near their residential areas, or with the “Loop” stores.
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Many Negroes sold their homes and brought their furniture with them.
Reinvesting in property frequently meant a loss; the furniture brought was
often found to be unsuited to the tiny apartments or large, abandoned dwelling-
houses they were able to rent or buy.

The change of home carried with it in many cases a change of status. The
leader in a small southern community, when he came to Chicago, was immedi-
ately absorbed into the struggling mass of unnoticed workers. School teachers,
male and female, whose positions in the South carried considerable prestige,
had to go to work in factories and plants because the disparity in educational
standards would not permit continuance of their profession in Chicago.

These illustrations in Table VI, taken from family histories, show how
adjustment led to inferior occupation.

TABLE VI
Occupation in South Occupation on First Arrival | Occupation One or More

Display man on furniture Laborer : Laborer in factory
Stone mason Laborer in coal yard Laborer in Stock Yards
Proprietor of café Laborer Elevator man

Farmer Laborer in Stock Yards Laborer in Stock Yards
Coal miner Porter in tailoring shop Janitor

Proprietor of boarding-house Laborer Laborer in Stock Yards
k Farmer Factory worker Factory worker

Barber Painter Janitor

Hotel waiter Waiter Porter in factory
Plasterer Laborer in Stock Yards Laborer in steel mill
Farmer Hostler Laborer in livery stable
‘Clergyman Stationary fireman Laborer in Stock Yards
Tinsmith Waiter Laborer

Farmer Laborer in cement factory | Laborer in Stock YVards
Blacksmith Barber Janitor

Office boy Porter Laborer in Stock Yards

The following experiences of one or two families from the many histories
gathered, while not entirely typical of all the migrants, contain features
common to all: )

The Thomas family.~—Mr. Thomas, his wife and two children, a girl nineteen
and a boy seventeen, came to Chicago from Seals, Alabama, in the spring of 1917.



96 THE NEGRO IN CHICAGO

After a futile search, the family rented rooms for the first week. This was expensive
and inconvenient, and between working hours all sought a house into which they
could take their furniture. They finally found a five-room flat on Federal Street,
The building had been considered uninhabitable and dangerous. Three of the five
rooms were almost totally dark. The plumbing was out of order. There was no
bath, and the toilet was outside of the house. There was neither electricity nor gas,
and the family used oil lamps. The rent was $15 per month. Although the combined
income of the family could easily have made possible a better house, they could find
none,

Mr. and Mrs. Thomas were farmers in the South. On the farm Mrs. Thomas
did the work of a man along with her husband. Both are illiterate. The daughter
had reached the fourth grade and the boy the fifth grade in school. At home they
belonged to a church and various fraternal orders and took part in rural community life,

On their arrival in Chicago they were short of funds. Father and son went to
work at the Stock Yards. Although they had good jobs they found their income
insufficient; the girl went to work in a laundry, and the mother worked as a laundress
through the first winter for $1 a day. She later discovered that she was working for
half the regular rate for laundry work. Soon she went back to housekeeping to reduce
the food bill.

All the family were timid and self-conscious and for a long time avoided contacts,
thus depriving themselves of helpful suggestions. The children became ashamed of
the manners of their parents and worked diligently to correct their manner of speech.
The children attended Wendell Phillips night school in the hope of improving their
community status.

‘The freedom and independence of Negroes in the North have been a constant
novelty to them and many times they have been surprised that they were “not
noticed enough to be mistreated.” They have tried out various amusement plages,
parks, ice-cream parlors, and theaters near their home on the South Side and have
enjoyed them because they were denied these opportunities in their former home,

The combined income of this family is $65 a week, and their rent is now low.
Many of their old habits have been preserved because of the isolation in which they
have lived and because they have not been able to move into better housing.

The Jomes family.—Mr. Jones, his wife, a six-year-old son, and a nephew aged
twenty-one, came from Texas early in 1919. Although they arrived after the heaviest
migration, they experienced the same difficulties as earlier comers.

They searched for weeks for a suitable house. At first they secured one room
on the South Side in a rooming-house, where they were obliged to provide gas, coal,
linen, bedding, and part of the furniture. After a few weeks they got two rooms for
light housekeeping, for $10 a month. The associations as well as the physical condi-
tion of the house were intolerable. They then rented a flat on Carroll Avenue in
another section. The building was old and run down. The agent for the property,
to induce tenants to occupy it, had promised to clean and decorate it, but failed
tokeep hisword. When the Jones family asked the owner to make repairs, he refused
flatly and was exceedingly abusive.

Finally Jones located a house on the West Side that was much too large for his
family, and the rent too high. They were forced to take lodgers to aid in paying the
rent. This was against the desire of Mrs. Jones, who did not like to have strangers
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in her house. The house has six rooms and bath and is in a state of dilapidation.
Mr. Jones has been forced to cover the holes in the floor with tin to keep out the rats.
The plumbing is bad. During the winter there is no running water, and the agent
for the building refuses to clean more than three rooms or to furnish screens or storm
* doors or to pay for any plumbing. In the back yard under the house is an accumula-
tion of ashes, tin cans, and garbage left by a long series of previous tenants. There
isno alley back of the house, and all of the garbage from the back yard must be carried
out through the front. Jones made a complaint about insanitary conditions to the
Health Department, and the house was inspected, but so far nothing has been done,
It was difficult to induce the agent to supply garbage cans,

Jones had reached the eighth grade, and Mrs. Jones had completed the first
. year of high school. The nephew had finished public-school grades provided in his
home town and had been taught the boiler trade. He is now pursuing this trade
in hope of securing sufficient funds to complete his course in Conroe College, where
* he has already finished the first year. The boy of six was placed in a West Side
school. He was removed from this school, however, and sent back south to Live
with Mrs. Jones’s mother and attend school there, Mrs. Jones thought that the
influence of the school children of Chicago was not good for him. He had been almost
blinded by a blow from a baseball bat in the hands of one of several older boys who
continually annoyed him. The child had also learned vulgar language from his
school associates.

The Jones family were leading citizens in their southern home. They were
members of a Baptist church, local clubs, and a missionary society, while Jones was
a member and officer in the Knights of Tabor, Masons, and Odd Fellows. They
owned their home and two other pieces of property in the same town, one of which
brought in $20 a month. As a boiler-maker, he earned about $ 50 a week, which is
about the same as his present income. Their motive in coming to Chicago was to
escape from the undesirable practices and customs of the South.

They had been told that no discrimination was practiced against Negroes in
Chicago; that they could go where they pleased without the embarrassment or hin-
drance because of their color. Accordingly, when they first came to Chicago, they
went into drug-stores and restaurants. They were refused service in numbers of
restaurants-and at the refreshment counters in some drug-stores. The family has
begun the re-establishment of its community life, having joined a West Side Baptist
church and taking an active interest in local organizations, particularly the Wendell
Phillips Social Settlement. The greatest satisfaction of the Joneses comes from the
“escape from Jim Crow conditions and segregation” and the securing of improved
conditions of work, although there is no difference in the wages.

VI. MIGRANTS IN CHICAGO

Migrants have been visited in their homes, and met in industry, in the
schools, and in contacts on street cars and in parks. Efforts have been made

to learn why they came to Chicago and with what success they were adjusting
themselves to their new surroundings.

Some of the replies to questions asked are given:
Question: Why did you come to Chicago ?
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Answers:

I

~ O bR

8.

0.
10.
11,
12,
13.
14.
15.
16.
17,
18.
10.
20.

. Looking for better wages.

. So I could support my family.

. Tired of being a flunky,

. I just happened to drift here.

. Some of my people were here.

. Persuaded by friends.

. Wanted to make more money so I could go into business; couldn’t do it in

the South.

To earn more money.

For better wages.

‘Wanted to change and come to the North.
Came to get more money for work,

To better my conditions.

Better conditions.

Better conditions.

Better living,

More work; came on visit and stayed.
Wife persuaded me.

To establish a church.

Tired of the South,

To get away from the South, and to earn more money.

Question: Do you feel greater freedom and independence in Chicago? In what ways?
Answers:

I.
2,

3.
4.
5.

oo~y

I0.
Ii.

12.
13.
14.

15.

Yes. Working conditions and the places of amusement.

Yes. The chance to make a living; conditions on the street cars and in
movies.

Going into places of amusement and living in good neighborhoods.
Yes. Educationally, and in the home conditions.

Yes. Go anywhere you want to go; voting; don’t have to look up to the
white man, get off the street for him, and go to the buzzard roost at shows.

. Yes. Just seem to feel a general feeling of good-fellowship.
. On the street cars and the way you are treated where you work.
. Yes, Can go any place I like here. At home I was segregated and not

treated like T had any rights.

. Yes. Privilege to mingle with people; can go to the parks and places of

amusement, not being segregated.

Yes. Feel free to do anything I please. Not dictated to by white people.
Yes. Had to take any treatment white people offered me there, compelled
to say “yes ma’am” or “yes sir” to white people, whether you desired to
or not, If you went to an ice cream parlor for anything you came outside
to eat it. Got off sidewalk for white people.

Yes. Can vote; feel free; haven’t any fear; make more money.

Yes. Voting; better opportunity for work; more respect from white people.
Yes. Canvote; no lynching; no fear of mobs; can express my opinion and
defend myself.

Yes. Voting, more privileges; white people treat me better, not as much
prejudice,
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16. Yes. Feel more like 2 man. Same as slavery, in a way, at home, I don’t
have to give up the sidewalk here for white people as in my former home,
17. Yes. No restrictions as to shows, schools, etc. More protection of law.
18. Yes. Have more privileges and more money.
19. Yes. More able to express views on all questions. No segregation or
discrimination.
20. Sure. Feel more freedom. Was not counted in the South; colored people
allowed no freedom at all in the South.
21. Find things quite different to what they are at home. Haven’t become
accustomed to the place yet.
Question: What were your first impressions of Chicago?
Answers:

1. X liked the air of doing things here.

2. A place of real opportunity if you would work.

3. Place just full of life. Went to see the sights every night for a month.

4. I thought it was some great place but found out it wasn’t. Uncle told me
he was living on Portland Avenue, that it was some great avenue; found
nothing but a mud hole. I sure wished I was back home.

5. When I got here and got on the street cars and saw colored people sitting
by white people all over the car I just held my breath, for I thought any
minute they would start something, then I saw nobody noticed it, and I just
thought this was a real place for colored people. No, indeed, I’ll never
work in anybody’s kitchen but my own, any more, that’s the one thing that
makes me stick to this job.

6. Was completely lost, friend was to meet me but didn’t and I was afraid to
ask anyone where to go; finally my friend came; was afraid to sleep first
night—so much noise; thought the cars would finally stop running so I
could rest.

. Liked the place.
. Always liked Chicago, even the name before I came.
. Liked it fine.
10. Good city for colored people.
11. Fine city.
12. Thought it the best place for colored people.
13. Thought it a good place for colored people to live in.
14. Very favorable, thought it the place to be for myself and family.
15. Didn’t like it; lonesome, until I went out. Then liked the places of amuse-
ment which have no restrictions.
16. Liked it fine, like it even better now.
17. Liked Chicago from the first visit made two years ago; was not satisfied
until I was able to get back.
18. Think I will like it later on.
Question: In what respects is life harder or easier here than in the South?
Answers:

1. Easier. I don’t have to work so hard and get more money.

2. Easier in that here my wife doesn’t have to work. I just couldn’t make it
by myself in the South.

3. Living is much easier; chance tolearn a trade. Imakeand save more money.

O 0o~
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. Easier, you can make more money and it means more to you.

. Easier to make a living here.

. Easier, I get more money for my work and have some spare time.

. Have better home, but have to work harder. I make more money, but

spend it all to live.

. Have more time to rest here and don’t work as hard.
. Find it easier to live because I have more to live on.

Earn more money; the strain is not so great wondering from day to day
how to make a little money do.

Work harder here than at home.

Fasier. Work is hard, but hours are short. I make more money and can
live better.

More money for work, though work is harder. Better able to buy the neces-
sities of life. )

Easier; more work and more money and shorter hours.

Living higher, but would rather be here than in South. I have shorter
hours here.

Don’t have to work as hard here as at home. Have more time for rest and
to spend with family.

Fasier to live in St. Louis. More work here and better wages. Living
higher here. Saved more there.

Must work very hard here, much harder than at home.

Harder because of increased cost of living.

The entire family feels that life is much easier here than at home. Do not
find work as hard anywhere.

Question: What do you like about the North?
Answers:

1,
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10.
1I.
12,
13,
14.

Freedom in voting and conditions of colored people here. I mean you can
live in good houses; men here get a chance to go with the best-looking girls
in the race; some may do it in Memphis, but it ain’t always safe.

. Freedom and chance to make a living; privileges.

. Freedom and opportunity to acquire something.

. Freedom allowed in every way.

. More money and more pleasure to be gotten from it; personal freedom

Chicago affords, and voting.

. Freedom and working conditions.
. Work, can work any place, freedom.
. The schools for the children, the better wages, and the privileges for colored

people.

. The chance colored people have to live; privileges allowed them and better

homes.

The friendliness of the people, the climate which makes health better.

Like the privileges, the climate; have better health.

No discrimination; can express opinion and vote.

Freedom of speech, right to liveand work asother races. Higher pay forlabor.
Freedom; privileges; treatment of whites; ability to live in peace; not
held down.
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Freedom of speech and action. Can live without fear, no Jim Crow.

‘More enjoyment; more places of attraction; better treatment; better

schools for children.

Liberty, better schools.

I like the North for wages earned and better homes colored people can live
in and go more places than at home.

Privileges, freedom, industrial and educational facilities.

The people, the freedom and liberty colored people enjoy here that they never
before experienced. Even the ways of the people are better than at home.
Haven’t found anything yet to like, except wife thinks she will like the
opportunity of earning more money than ever before.

Question: What difficulties do you think a person from the South meets in coming to

Chicago ?

Answers:

1.
2.

3.

[ 3, )

II.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.

17.
18.

19.
20.

21.

Getting used to climate and houses.

Getting accustomed to cold weather and flats.

Getting used to living conditions and make more money; not letting the
life here run away with you.

. Adjusting myself to the weather and flat life: rooming and “closeness”

of the houses.

. Getting used to flat conditions and crowded houses.
. Getting used to living in flats, and growing accustomed to being treated like

people.

. Getting used to the ways of the people; not speaking or being friendly;

colder weather, hard on people from the South.

. Just the treatment some of the white people give you on the trains. Some-

times treat you like dogs.

. Know of no difficulties a person from the South meets coming to Chicago.
. I didn’t meet any difficulties coming from the South. Know of none persons

would likely meet.

Can think of no difficulties persons meet coming from the South to Chicago.
Adjustment to working conditions and climate.

Climatic changes.

Change in climate, crowded living conditions, lack of space for gardens, etc.
Change in climate, crowded housing conditions.

Coming without knowing where they are going to stop usually causes some
difficulty. Get in with wrong people who seek to take advantage of the
ignorance of newcomers.

Becoming adjusted to climate.

If they know where they are going, when they come here. The danger lies
in getting among the wrong class of people.

Adjustment to city customs, etc.

If persons know where they are going and what they are going to do, will
not have any trouble. Must come with the intention of working or else
expect many difficulties.

Know of no difficulties.

Question: Do you get more comforts and pleasures from your higher wages?
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Answers:

I.

I0.

11,

12.
13.

14.

15.

16.

17.

18,

10.
20.

21.

Yes. Better homes, places of amusement, and the buying of your clotheg
here. You can try on things; you can do that in some stores in Memphig
but not in all. !

. Ves. Living in better houses, can go into almost any place if you have the

money, and then the schools are so much better here.

. Yes. I live better, save more, and feel more like a man.
. Ves. I can buy more, my wife can have her clothes fitted here, she cap

try on a hat, and if she doesn’t want it she doesn’t have to keep it; go
anywhere I please on the cars after I pay my fare; I can do any sort of
work I know how to do.

. Yes. Go anywhere I please, buy what I please; ain’t afraid to get on cars

and sit where I please.
Well, T make more money. I can’t save anything from it. There are 5o

many places to go here, but down South you work, work, work, and yoy
have to save, for you haven’t any place to spend it.

. Yes. Better homes. Spend money anywhere you want to, go anywhere

you have money enough to go; don’t go out very much but like to know
T can where and when I want to.

. Have chance to make more money, but it is all spent to keep family up.
. At home did not earn much money and did not have any left to go what

few places colored people were allowed to go. Here, Negroes can have
whatever they want.

Don’t have to worry about how you are going to live. More money earned
affords anything wanted.

Have more comforts in the home that could not have at home; more con-
veniences here. Wages sons earn make it possible to have all that is wanted,
Yes. Better houses and more enjoyment.

Yes. I live in larger house and have more conveniences. Can take more
pleasure; have more leisure time.

Yes. Better houses and more amusement. More time of my own, better
furniture and food.

Yes. Better houses and furniture. More pleasures because of shorter
hours of work, giving me more time.

What little was earned at home was used for food and clothing. Here,
earn more, have more to spend; now and then put some in the bank, and
can spend some for pleasure without strain or inconvenience.

Yes. More places to go, parks and playgrounds for children, and no differ-
ence made between white and colored. Houses more convenient here.
Have more money to spend but when you have to live in houses where
landlord won’t fix up you can’t have much comfort. Go no place for pleasure,
but enjoy the chance of earning more money.

No comment.

Have money to get whatever is desired. Live in a better house and can go
places denied at home. All the family are perfectly satisfied and are happier
than they have ever been.

Live in better house than ever lived in. Never had the comforts furnished
here. Some houses there had no water closets; only had cistern and wells
out in the yard.
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Question: Are you advising friends to come to Chicago?
Answers?
1. Yes. People down there don’t really believe the things we write back,
I didn’t believe myself until I got here.
2. No. I am not going to encourage them to come, for they might not make it,
then I would be blamed.

. Yes. If I think they will work.

. Some of them, those who I think would appreciate the advantages here.

. No. Not right now, come here and get to work, strikes come along, they’re

out of work. Come if they want to, though.

6. Yes. I have two sisters still in Lexington. I am trying to get them to
come up here. They can’t understand why I stay here, but they’ll see if
they come.

7. Yes. People here don’t realize how some parts of the South treat colored
folks; poor white trash were awful mean where we came from; wish all the
colored folks would come up here where you ain’t afraid to breathe.

8. Yes. Want friend and husband to come; also sister and family who want
her to come back that they may see how she looks before they break up and
come. Youngest son begs mother never to think of going back South.

Oldest son not so well satisfied when first came, but since he is working.
likes it a little better.

o W»W

Only a few migrants were found who came on free transportation, and many
of these had friends in Chicago before they came. Few expressed a desire to
return.

VIii. EFFORTS TO CHECK MIGRATION

The withdrawal of great numbers of Negroes, both because of the migration
and because of military service, left large gaps in the industries of the South
dependent upon Negro labor. Thousands of acres of rice and sugar cane
went to waste. The turpentine industry of the Carolinas and the milling
interests of Tennessee were hard pressed for labor. Cotton-growing was
much affected, especially in the delta region of Mississippi. The situation
became crifical, presenting a real economic problem. Organized efforts were
made, and at times extreme measures were taken, to start a return movement.
A report was circulated that on one day in the winter of 1919 in Chicago,
17,000 Negroes were counted in a bread line. The “horrors of northern
winters”” were played up as they had been during the migration.

The press throughout the country was used to spread broadcast the
South’s needs, its kind treatment of Negroes, its opportunities, and its growing
change of heart on the question of race relations. Newspaper articles from
sections of the North and South carried about the same story. The Chicago
Tribune said in a conspicuous headline: “Louisiana Wants Negroes to Return.”
Other such headlines were: Washington Post—South Needs Negroes. Try
to Get Labor for Their Cotton Fields. Tell of Kind Treatment”; New York
Evening Sun—“To Aid Negro Return”; Philadelphic Press—South Is
Urging Negroes to Return. Many Districts Willing to Pay Fare of Those
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Who Come Back”; Memphis Commercial Appeal—*South Is Best for Negro,
Say Mississippians. Colored People Found Prosperous and Happy.”

Though such reports were widely circulated throughout the North, the
actual efforts of agencies from the South seeking the return of Negro labor
centered around Chicago. This was due largely to the fact that from the
southern states most acutely in need the drift during the migration had been
to Chicago, and because the increase of Chicago’s Negro population had been
so great.

Immediately following the riots in Chicago and Washington, rumors
gained wide currency that hundreds of migrants were leaving for sections of
the South. So strong was the belief in the truth of this report that a Chicago
newspaper telegraphed the governors of southern states inquiring the number
of Negroes they needed. Agents of the South, including representatives of
the Tennessee Association of Commerce, the Department of Immigration of
Louisiana, the Mississippi Welfare League, and the Southern Alluvial Land
Association, visited northern cities with a view to providing means for the
return of Negroes. Although free transportation was offered, together with
promises of increased wages and better living conditions, the various commis-
sions were disappointed.

Their interviews with Negroes living in Chicago revealed a determi-
nation not to return to conditions they had left two years before. To offset
this objection, two Chicago Negroes and one white man were taken to
Mississippi by a representative of the Mississippi Welfare League to make an
investigation. They visited several delta towns, traveling for the most part
in automobiles and interviewing farmers and laborers. They reported in
substance as follows:

Railroad accommodations for Negroes were adequate and uniform, irrespective
of locality; treatment accorded Negro passengers by railroad officials was courteous
throughout. Public-school terms were nine months in the city and eight months
in the country for white and colored alike, and the strongest possible human ties
between planter and worker exist. . . . . In no instance were Negroes not given the
freest use of sidewalks, streets, and thoroughfares and we were unable to find any
trace of friction of any kind between the races.

An effort was then made by the Chicago Urban League to ascertain the
precise state of affairs. Its southern representative questioned hundreds of
Negroes living in the South, regarding improved relationships. Answers to
this query were all about the same. Some of them are quoted:

There has been no change. Lincoln League organized in this city has been
denounced by the white newspapers as a movement that will cause trouble, and the
National Association for the Advancement of Colored People, and the Urban Leagues
of various cities have been called “strife breeders and meddlers in southern affairs”;
Jim Crow accommodations are just the same as ever. If thereisany change for the
better, I can’t see it.
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It is ridiculous for any Negro to say he finds conditions better here. Don’t
you remember that Negroes answering an invitation to meet the Welfare Committee
of white men not long ago were told as soon as they got into the meeting place that
the Committee was ready to hear what Negroes wanted, but that the question of the
Negro’s right to exercise the right of voting would not be allowed to be discussed at
all, and that that must be agreed to before any discussion whatever would be enter-
‘tained, and that the Negroes left the meeting place without a chance to demand the
one thing they wished to enjoy ?

Some deceitful, lying Negro may say that times are better, but he would, at the
same time, know that he was not telling the truth., Haven’t you been hearing more
reports of Iynching of Negroes than you ever did in your life, since the war? Where,
then, is there any improvement? Ain’t all the judges, all the police and constables,
all the juries as white man as ever? Does the word of a Negro count for more now
than it did before the war? Don’t white men insult our wives and daughters and
sisters and get off at it, unless we take the law into our own hand and punish them
for it ourselves, and get lynched for protecting our own, just as often as ever? How
much more schooling from public funds do our children get now than they got before
the war? How much more do we have to say now than we had to say before the war

. about the way the taxes we pay shall be spent for schools, or for salaries, or for anything
connected with administration and government? Why, even the colored man in
Caddo parish who subscribed for $100,000 in Liberty bonds and bought lots of War

‘Savings stamps, and others who bought less, but in the hundreds, and thousands of
the bonds and War Saving stamps, have no more to say about affairs now than they
ever had. Where is the improvement ?

The Urban League also made an inquiry into the numbers of Negroes leav-
ing and arriving in the week following the riot, and when the strongest efforts
were being made to induce a return of migrants. During this period 261
Negroes came to Chicago and 219 left the city. Of the 219 leaving, eighty-
three gave some southern state as their destination. For the most part, they
were persons returning from vacations in the North, and Chicago Negroes
going South to visit or on business. Some were rejoining their families.
Fourteen were leaving because of the riot. None, however, indicated any
intention of going South to work.

It is clear that migrant Negroes are not returning South. On the contrary,
there is a small but continuous stream of migration to the industrial centers
of the North. No great number of Negroes returned to the South even during
the trying unemployment period in the early part of 1921. Census figures
for Chicago for 1920 show a number much smaller than the usual estimates
of the size of the Negro population during the period of the heaviest migration.
This may be accounted for by the fact that Chicago has been used as a
‘te-routing point to other northern cities. The decrease from 1918 undoubtedly
means that some returned to the South, but it is apparent that the great

‘majority of the migrants remain, despite the hardships attending shortage of
work.



